### Louisiana State University LSU Digital Commons

LSU Master's Theses

Graduate School

2008

# Molecular determinants of Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus tumorigenicity

Haixia Kong Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College, haixia.kong@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.lsu.edu/gradschool\_theses Part of the <u>Veterinary Pathology and Pathobiology Commons</u>

#### **Recommended** Citation

Kong, Haixia, "Molecular determinants of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus tumorigenicity" (2008). *LSU Master's Theses*. 2933. https://digitalcommons.lsu.edu/gradschool\_theses/2933

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at LSU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in LSU Master's Theses by an authorized graduate school editor of LSU Digital Commons. For more information, please contact gradetd@lsu.edu.

### MOLECULAR DETERMINANTS OF KAPOSI'S SARCOMA-ASSOCIATED HERPESVIRUS TUMORIGENICITY

A Thesis

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Master of Science

In

The Interdepartmental Program in Veterinary Medical Sciences through the Department of Pathobiological Sciences

By Haixia Kong DVM, Nanjing Agricultural University, 2004 August, 2008

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I certainly could not have accomplished my goals without the infinite encouragement of my family, who have provided endless support for me across the Pacific Ocean; I am eternally in their debt and can only offer the humble thanks of a grateful child. My husband as well has been incredibly supportive, and I thank him for all of his patience and love.

I can only begin to thank my mentor Dr. Kousoulas. He has been a strong teacher and unwaivering guide in my journey here. I thank him for everything he has taught me, and the tremendous opportunities that he has created for me are invaluable. I would also like to thank my graduate committee members, Dr. Nobuko Wakamatsu and Dr. Inder Sehgal for their invaluable recommendations and advice that have aided tremendously in my research. In addition, I want to thank my graduate advisor Dr. James Miller for his support and help.

I would like to thank the members of the Kousoulas laboratory for their constant support and constructive criticism. Especially, I thank Dr. Ramesh Subramanian, Arun Iyer, and Dr. Abolghasem Baghian.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ii
LIST OF TABLES	v
LIST OF FIGURES	vi
ABSTRACT	vii
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
STATEMENT OF RESEARCH PROBLEMS AND HYPOTHESIS	1
STATEMENT OF RESEARCH OBJECTIVES	2
LITERATURE REVIEW	3
Historical Perspective of Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Herpesvirus	3
Clinical Significance of Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Viruses	4
Kaposi's Sarcoma (KS)	4
Pleural Effusion Lymphoma (PEL)	9
Multicentric Castleman's Disease (MCD)	10
KSHV Genome Structure and Organization	12
The Core and Organization of the Viral Genome	13
The Capsid	15
The Tegument	17
The Envelope	19
The Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Herpesvirus Lifecycle	19
Viral Attachment and Entry	19
Binding Receptors	19
Entry Receptors	20
KSHV Latentcy	22
Viral Gene Transcription and Expression	27
Reactivation	30
Regulation of Transcriptional Activation	
Viral DNA Replication	36
KSHV Glycoproteins and Their Putative Functions	39
Glycoprotein B (gB)	
KSHV K8.1	43
Glycoprotein H (gH) and Glycoprotein L (gL)	44
Glycoprotein M (gM) and Glycoprotein N (gN)	46
Glycoprotein OX2 (vOX2)	47
REFERENCES	48
CHAPTER II: MOLECULAR DETERMINANTS OF KSHV TUMORIGENICITY.	83
INTRODUCTION	83
MATERIALS AND METHODS	85
Cells and Viruses Propagation	85
Antibodies	86
Vectors Construction	86

Codon Optimization	
Transient Transfection of BCBL-1 Cells	
Tumor Formation	
In Vivo Imaging	
Viral DNA Preparation	
Immunofluorescence Assav	
BCBL-1 Cells Proliferation Rate Assay	90
Statistical Analysis	
RESULTS.	92
Construction and Characteristics of Expression Plasmids	
Transient Expression of gB in 293 Cells	92
Transient Expression of gB in BCBL-1 Cells	94
Quantification of KSHV by TaqMan PCR	95
Characteristics of PELs in Nude Mice	
In vivo Imaging of PEL Tumors	
Proliferation of BCBL-1 cells <i>In Vitro</i> with Matrigel	
PEL Tumor Growth	
Pathobiological Examination of Tumors	102
Characterization of KSHV Infected PEL Tumors	103
DISCUSSION	105
REFERENCES	109
CHAPTER III: CONCLUDING REMARKS	
FUTURE CHALLENGES	
SUMMARY	115
REFERENCES	116
APPENDIX: GENERATION OF STABLE KSHV GB-NULL CELL LINES	118
REFERENCES	123

VITA	12	2	5
	• • •	- '	-

### LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1: Synthetic Oligonucleotide Primers    9	1
---	---

## **LIST OF FIGURES**

Figure 1.1: KSHV Fusion and Entry
Figure 1.2: KSHV Gene Map
Figure 2.1: Small Interfering RNAs (siRNAs) Selectively Block Expression of Genes
Figure 2.2: Strategy Used to Construct the Codon-Optimized KSHV gB93
Figure 2.3: siRNAs 18 and siRNAs 22 Specifically Inhibit KSHV gB Expression in 293 Cells
Figure 2.4: siRNAs 18 and siRNAs 22 Specifically Inhibit KSHV gB Expression in BCBL-1 Cells
Figure 2.5: Reduced KSHV Genomes in Supernatants from BCBL-1 Cells Transfected with siRNAs Determined by Quantitative Real-time PCR
Figure 2.6: A Representative Subcutaneous Mass before and after Dissection
Figure 2.7: X-ray and Fluorescent Image of Nude Mouse
Figure 2.8: In Vitro GFP+ BCBL-1 Cells Proliferation Rate with Matrigel100
Figure 2.9: Effect of Transfected BCBL-1 Cells in Nude Mice101
Figure 2.10: Subcutaneous Masses Stained with Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E)103
Figure 2.11: KSHV Lytic and Latent Gene Expression of in Matrigel-Supported BCBL-1 Tumors

#### ABSTRACT

A conditional silencing system using anti-gB siRNAs was devised to investigate the structure and function of the KSHV gB. Transient co-transfection of plasmids constitutively expressing gB and anti-gB siRNAs in 293 cells substantially inhibited gB mRNA levels and protein production. Similarly, transient expression of siRNAs into the basal cavity-based lymphoma cells (BCBL-1) caused substantial reduction of gB transcription and protein synthesis. TaqMan real-time PCR and infectivity assays showed that gB was essential for virion egress and infectivity. Transfection of a codon-optimized gB not recognized by the anti-gB siRNAs, efficiently rescued virion egress and infectivity in BCBL-1 cells in the presence of siRNAs inhibiting wild-type gB expression. Virion egress experiments with truncated gBs revealed that removal of the entire predicted cytoplasmic domain of gB increased virion egress suggesting the presence of a egress-regulation domain located proximal to the intramembrane sequence within the cytoplasmic domain of gB. All supernatant virions were infectious on 293 cells indicating that the carboxyl terminus of gB is not essential for either virion egress or virus infectivity. To investigate the potential role of gB in tumorigenesis, BCBL-1 cells transiently transfected with anti-gB siRNAs and codon optimized gB were mixed with Matrigel and injected subcutaneously in nude mice. Direct measurement of tumors revealed that BCBL-1 cells transfected with antigB siRNAs produced tumors significantly smaller than mock-transfected BCBL-1 cells. Cotransfection of codon optimized gB appeared to abrogate the inhibition of tumor formation by siRNAs. These results show that gB is important for infectivity, virion egress and pleural effusion lymphoma (PEL) formation in mice. Current work focuses on the use of a lentiviral expression system to generate BCBL-1 cells that constitutively express anti-gB siRNAs to improve inhibition of endogenous gB expression.

#### **CHAPTER I**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

#### STATEMENT OF RESEARCH PROBLEMS AND HYPOTHESIS

Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV), or human herpesvirus 8 (HHV-8) is a member of the gamma-2-herpesvirus family (genus Rhadinovirus). In 1994, the virus was first discovered in Kaposi's sarcoma (KS) tumors of AIDS patients. KSHV is associated with Kaposi's sarcoma, primary effusion lymphoma (PEL) or body cavity-based lymphoma (BCBL), and multicentric Castleman's disease. To date, KSHV has shown to be required for disease manifestation, yet certain basic mechanisms by which KSHV promotes oncogenesis and tumorigenicity have not been clearly understood, including the roles of KSHV glycoproteins in PEL.

PEL cell lines represent the most consistent model for the study of KSHV. Most PEL cells are latently infected, and only a very small percentage of infected cells undergo random lytic infection. KSHV encodes a number of glycoproteins, some of which are conserved within the Herpesviridae Family. Glycoprotein B mediates the initial virion binding to glycosaminoglycans, e.g., adherent target cell surface heparan sulfate molecules (Akula et al., 2001b). KSHV gB also binds to  $\alpha$ 5 $\beta$ 3 integrin through the RGD (Arg-Gly-Asp) motif and its associated signaling pathways that are important for KSHV entry into target cells (Akula et al., 2001a; Birkmann et al., 2001; Garrigues et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2001a). Previous studies from our laboratory showed that the carboxyl terminus of herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) gB is associated with virus-induced and virus-free cell fusion (Baghian et al., 1993; Foster et al., 2001). Truncation of the carboxyl terminus of pseudorabies virus gB has shown that internalization of gB is not required for gB incorporation into virions nor for its function in either

entry or cell-to-cell spread (Nixdorf et al., 2000; Pertel et al., 2002). It has been reported that gB activates the vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 3 (VEGFR-3) indicating the importance of KSHV in PEL pathogenesis (Zhang et al., 2005).

The overall experimental approach focused on the role of KSHV gB in viral egress and tumorigenicity. Two gB carboxyl terminal truncations having 25 and 56 amino acids deleted were generated. In addition, two other gB deletions lacked the entire cytoplasmic domain of gB and the cytoplasmic domain with part of the carboxyl terminal-most intramembrane sequence. These gB truncations were tested for their ability to rescue siRNA-inhibited gB synthesis with regard to virion egress and infectivity. It was found that the carboxyl terminus of gB was not important for either virion infectivity or egress. To investigate the role of gB in tumorigenicity, we injected nude mice subcutaneously with BCBL-1 cells transfected with anti-gB siRNA, codon-optimized gB and p3xFlag in the presence of Matrigel. BCBL-1 cells transfected with anti-gB siRNA in nude mice produced significantly smaller tumors than the mice transfected with codon-optimized gB and p3xFlag vector. These results provide new insights into the roles of KSHV gB in virion egress, infectivity and tumorigenicity.

#### STATEMENT OF RESEARCH OBJECTIVES

The overall goal of this research is to gain a better understanding of the role that major viral glycoproteins play in the KSHV lifecycle and pathogenesis. The specific objectives are:

1.) Evaluate the role of gB carboxyl terminus domains in infectivity and viral egress from infected cells by generating several site carboxyl terminal truncations of gB.

2.) Investigate the role of gB in tumorigenesis.

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### Historical Perspective of Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Herpesvirus

Kaposi's sarcoma was first described by Moritz Kaposi in 1872. It has been known as a rare disorder of older men usually of Eastern European, Mediterranean, and/or Jewish origin. Subsequently, three additional forms of Kaposi's sarcoma have also been classified: African-endemic, iatrogenic (in organ and tissue transplant recipients receiving immunosuppressive therapy) and AIDS-KS or (Aluigi et al., 1996; Ambroziak, 1995) Foreman et al., 1997a; (Gao et al., 1996a; Kedes et al., 1996; Lennette, Blackbourn, and Levy, 1996; Miller et al., 1996; Parravicini et al., 1997b; Qunibi et al., 1998; Regamey et al., 1998; Schalling et al., 1995; Simpson et al., 1996). It is now established that KSHV infection of the host is common among all four epidemiological forms despite their numerous clinical differences.

In 1994, an innovative technique of representational difference analysis (RDA) was used to identify unique herpesvirus-like DNA sequences. This study led to the discovery of a new human herpesvirus (named Kaposi's Sarcoma-associated Herpesvirus or human herpesvirus 8) from patients infected with both AIDS and KS but not from patients with AIDS who are without KS (Chang et al., 1994). In 1995, primary effusion lymphoma was first described in AIDS patients. Since then, Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV) has also been associated with multicentric Castleman's disease (MCD), primary pulmonary hypertension and solid/extracavitary lymphomas with similar morphological and immunophenotypical characteristics to those of PEL. The PEL cells are able to support continuous KSHV infection and conditional productive virus replication leading to the study of KSHV.

Herpesviruses are double-stranded DNA viruses and highly disseminated in nature. KSHV and Epstein Barr virus (EBV) are human gamma-herpesviruses known for their involvement in cancers and cellular proliferation. KSHV can infect lymphocytes, endothelial cells, keratinocytes, human foreskin fibroblast, Vero, 293, HeLa cells, etc. KSHV has aroused substantial scientific interest as a new human DNA tumor virus. Sequence analysis shows that KSHV genome encodes many cellular homologous genes involved in cell cycle regulation, cell proliferation, apoptosis, and immune modulation.

#### **Clinical Significance of Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Viruses**

#### Kaposi's Sarcoma (KS)

Kaposi's sarcoma (KS) is the most common AIDS-defining malignancy characterized by multifocal tumor lesions, neo-angiogenesis, proliferation of spindle cells, and infiltration with inflammatory cells and erythrocytes. KS tumors are most commonly found in the dermis but also occur in viscera including liver, lungs and intestines (Hengge et al., 2002). Visceral dissemination results in organ failure and eventual death. The majority of the cells are latently infected with a small subpopulation of lytically infected cells. Both latent and lytic infections make important contributions to KS pathogenesis.

Overall, KSHV infects approximately 40% of gay men and over 60% of Sub-Saharan Africans in many countries. KSHV is necessary for all clinical forms of Kaposi's sarcoma, but it is not sufficient to cause KS. It is now believed that AIDS is very important in KS pathogenesis by causing immunosuppression. Therefore, KS is now the dominant malignancy in many African countries with a high prevalence of AIDS (Dedicoat and Newton, 2003).

KSHV seroconversion could be used to predict the development of the disease (Cesarman et al., 1996b; Gao et al., 1996a; Kedes et al., 1996; Martin et al., 1998; Renwick et al., 1998). These investigations reveal a substantial role for cofactors in KS pathogenesis (Dourmishev et al., 2003). Recent studies suggest that cigarette smoking decreases KSHV risk while drinking is

associated with a higher risk of AIDS-associated KS (Hoover et al., 1993; Mbulaiteye et al., 2006; Nawar et al., 2005).

Classical KS primarily occurs in elderly men of Eastern European, Mediterranean, or Jewish descent (Ablashi et al., 2002; Dourmishev et al., 2003; Moore and Chang, 2003). In the late 1800s, Moritz Kaposi first described the clinical condition of "classical" KS as multifocal pigmented sarcomas (Kaposi, 1872). Classical KS tumors confined themselves to the lower extremities for ten or more years with a benign course (Hengge et al., 2002). The first signs of KS are often the bluish-red macules or papules on the distal lower extremities resulting in multifocal patches and nodules. Those initial patients died of KS, and the clinical presentation of the disease grossly resembles what we currently find in KS patients (Knipe and Philadelphia, 2001). Unlike AIDS-associated KS, HIV-1 co-infection is rare but has been strongly suggested as a cofactor (Vitale et al., 2001). Extensive epidemiological studies demonstrated a high prevalence of KSHV in the Mediterranean contrasted with non-Mediterranean countries. Both sexual and nonsexual modes are probably the two transmission routes of KSHV in classic KS. Saliva has also been suggested as a predominant route in classic KS (Cattani et al., 1999).

AIDS-associated or Epidemic AIDS KS is the most common AIDS-associated neoplasm in homosexual and bisexual men (Feigal, Cheson, and Nelson, 1997). The epidemic AIDS KS, much more so than in the other epidemiologic forms, is an extremely aggressive mucosal progression in the AIDS-infected homosexual and bisexual population (Schwartz, 1996). The prevalence of epidemic KS is approximately 20-fold higher in homosexual AIDS patients than in other HIV infected patients (Goedert, 2000). However, the incidence of AIDS-related KS has been decreased due to the highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) available in western countries (Cattelan et al., 2001). The HIV-1 specific protease inhibitors (PIs) are anti-angiogenic and can inhibit the development of angiogenic lesions.

This disease is most commonly found multifocally and frequently on the upper body, head and neck (Hengge et al., 2002). It quickly evolves to tumors from local lesions and in visceral dissemination resulting in organ dysfunction and high mortality rates. Similar to classic KS, the relative seroprevalence of KSHV is consistent with the KS incidence in HIV-infected populations. It is now well established that a direct correlation exists between HIV-1-infected AIDS pathogenesis and KS progression (Borkovic, 1981; Gottlieb, 1981; Hymes, 1981). The co-infection of KSHV and AIDS contributes to KSHV pathogenesis at multiple levels, including immunosuppression, enhancement of KSHV infection and viral DNA replication, as well as direct effects on KSHV gene expression (Dourmishev et al., 2003).

Recent studies have suggested that sexual transmission of KSHV is the most significant risk factor for HIV-infected populations (Martin et al., 1998). Evidence from a cohort study of seropositivity and seroconversion demonstrated that orogenital rather than anogenital sex is a stronger risk factor for KSHV infection (Dukers et al., 2000). The primary mode of KSHV transmission has not be completely understood, but recent studies have postulated that KSHV transmission via the oral route may also occur among healthy immunocompetent individuals (Cook et al., 2002a; Cook et al., 2002b; Duus and Grose, 2007; Duus et al., 2004). A retrospective study, analyzing the prevalence of KSHV infection among homosexual men at the beginning and during the AIDS epidemic, showed that unprotected oral sex posed the highest behavioral risk factor (Osmond et al., 2002). KSHV has also been detected in the saliva of seropositive individuals (Blackbourn et al., 2000; Koelle et al., 1997; Pauk et al., 2000; Vieira et al., 1997), but it is extremely difficult to detect KSHV in semen, with very low reproducibility.

- 6 -

In addition, many other routes of transmission have been studied for KSHV and HIV pathogenesis. A very recent study has inplicated that salivary and possible nosocomial HHV-8 transmission may exist in rural Egypt (Mbulaiteye et al., 2008).

Endemic (African) KS has been found for many decades in Africa, particularly the equatorial region, prior to the worldwide spread of HIV (Oettle, 1962). The highest prevalence of African KS patients have been observed in Zaire, Uganda, and Tanzania (Ablashi et al., 2002). Before the emergence of HIV, African KS primarily affected children of approximately three years of age and young men around age thirty-five (Wabinga, 1993).

Microparticles of silica dust in volcanic soils have been suggested as environmental contributors in children infected with African KS (Ziegler, Simonart, and Snoeck, 2001). Mircroparticles penetrate the skin of the barefoot and then migrate into the lymphatics, leading to inflammation and lymphedema. Aluminosilicates from animal models associated with the direct intralymphatic injection of fine silica particles cause cytotoxic effects on macrophages, leading to subsequent fibrosis within lympho-vessels (Fyfe et al., 1985). Thus, children who walk barefoot could risk the penetration of silica microparticles into their feet, likely resulting in localized immune suppression. This localized immune suppression would provide the proper environment for the development of African KS in KSHV-infected individuals (Ablashi et al., 2002). However, clinical epidemiologic studies of KS in Africa suggest that African KS is most likely dependent on the spread of AIDS, which in turn facilitates the prevalence of endemic KS.

Clinically, KS in Africa is more frequently found in children and women than anywhere else worldwide (Kasolo, Mpabalwani, and Gompels, 1997; Wawer et al., 2001; Ziegler and Katongole-Mbidde, 1996). African KS is typically more aggressive than classic KS but similar to the progression of AIDS-related KS. The endemic KS in Africa with high prevalence in

childhood indicates that KSHV transmission patterns are primarily nonsexual and horizontal, with a few vertical instances. Other evidence also points out that population-delimited routes occur in Africa (Enbom, Linde, and Evengard, 2000; Enbom et al., 2000).

Iatrogenic (transplant) KS with a prevalence of 0.5-5% depending on the patient's country of origin and the type of organ received is becoming a growing concern for solid-organ transplant patients, (Tan and Goh, 2006). It is now well established that KSHV is epidemiologically associated with KS in post-transplant patients, predominantly after renal transplantation (Luppi, Barozzi, and Torelli, 2003). Unlike lymphomas or different epithelial malignancies, iatrogenic KS represents an earlier manifestation of post-transplantation malignancy in recipients (Penn et al., 1993). KSHV infection in transplant KS patients progresses either chronically or rapidly. In general, transplant patients with KS present the manifestation of visceral dissemination of KS with occasional skin lesions (Singh, 2000).

The incidence of iatrogenic KS is 500 times greater than in the general population and its occurrence is introduced by immunosuppressive therapy. However, the remission of KS has been observed in all variants of KS when immunosuppression is removed. More than fifty percent of transplant associated KS patients have had tissue rejection when immunosuppression is reduced or withdrawn (Singh et al., 2000). Extreme ethnogeographic associations have been shown in iatrogenic KS (Penn, 1993). The route of transmission among iatrogenic KS patients has not been fully understood. However, three separate routes have been suggested: donor organ, blood transfusions, and caregivers (Jenkins, Hoffman, and Liegey-Dougall, 2002). Two possible mechanisms of post-transplant KS have also been suggested: KSHV reactivation in patients who were infected before the graft, and KSHV primary infection through infected organ-donor tissues. It has been reported that KSHV reactivation of latent viral infection plays a

greater role in iatrogenic KS in areas of endemic KS, in contrast to nonendemic KS areas, where it is believed that KSHV primary infection is the major cause of post-transplantation KS (Rabkin, Shepherd, and Wade, 1999). Many studies have suggested that KSHV primary infection is significantly higher than previously expected (Andreoni et al., 2001; Cattani et al., 2001; Emond et al., 2002; Farge et al., 1999; Kapelushnik et al., 2001; Luppi et al., 2000a; Luppi et al., 2000b; Munoz et al., 2002; Sarid, Klepfish, and Schattner, 2002). To date, there is no precise estimate of KSHV seroprevalence in organ donors, and recipients in different countries. Thus, it is still debated whether or not to screen donors/recipients for KSHV due to the potential risk for KSHV-related disease development.

#### **Pleural Effusion Lymphoma (PEL)**

Pleural effusion lymphomas (PELs) or body cavity-based lymphomas (BCBL) were first described in AIDS patients (Cesarman et al., 1995). Compared to KS, PELs manifest the more common neoplasm characterized by irregular cellular expansion of transformed cells (Knipe et al., 2001). PELs are very rare; they are predominately but not exclusively found in HIV infected patients with extremely poor prognosis (Kaplan et al., 1997; Levine et al., 1991). PEL exhibits malignant effusions in the peritoneal, pericardial, pleural, or abdominal cavity, typically without an identifiable tumor mass (Aoki, Jones, and Tosato, 2000; Leao et al., 2002). In rare cases, the solid tumor masses of PELs were also found outside the body cavities (Aoki and Tosato, 2003).

PELs are monoclonal non-Hodgkin's B cell lymphomas derived from late-stage differentiated pre- and post-germinal center B cells. Therefore, any stage of B cell maturation can be found in PELs (Carbone et al., 1998; Matolcsy, 1999). In addition, another study has shown that KSHV was also detected in circulating B cells (Blackbourn and Levy, 1997). PEL tumor cells lack B cell specific surface markers and are commonly dually infected with Epstein-

Barr virus (EBV), which also transforms cells and lead to lymphopreliferative disorders in infected patients (Ablashi et al., 2002).

PEL cell lines derived from PEL have been demonstrated to be the best source for infectious virus production (Moore and Chang, 2003). Unlike KS tumor explants, PEL cell lines stably maintain viral episomes at high copy numbers (50–150 copies per cell). Typically, the majority of PEL cells are latently infected by KSHV; a small percentage (<3%) of cell populations spontaneously undergo lytic reactivation (Renne et al., 1996b). Lytically infected cells can be induced by a phorbol ester, tetradecanoyl-13-myristate acid or TPA (Renne et al., 1996a; Renne et al., 1996b; Sarid et al., 1998; Zhong et al., 1996).

#### Multicentric Castleman's Disease (MCD)

Multicentric Castleman's disease (MCD), also known as multicentric angiofollicular lymphoid hyperplasia, is a rare lymphoproliferative disorder. MCD exhibits a systemic proliferation, including lymphadenopathy and splenomegaly, in part due to raised serum concentration of interleukin 6 (Mikala et al., 1999). Clinically, MCD is classified into two forms: single mediastinal angiofollicular lymph-node hyperplasia localized Castleman's disease and multifocal or multicentric Castleman's disease with multisystem involvement accompanied by generalized lymphadenopathy. Similar to KS, MCD is also characterized by vascular proliferation in the germinal centers (Ablashi et al., 2002). Morphologically, the cells containing KSHV genomes in multicentric Castleman's disease are similar to immunoblasts, with prominent central or marginal nuclei (Judde et al., 2000; Parravicini et al., 2000).

MCD has been reported in close association with KSHV in both HIV-seropositive and HIV-seronegative patients. The precise incidence of MCD is unknown; although, MCD is more common in HIV-positive than HIV-negative individuals. KSHV has been found mostly (greater

than 90%) in HIV-related MCD in AIDS patients (Aoki and Tosato, 2003; Leao et al., 2002). This feature of MCD strongly suggests an important role of KSHV in the pathogenesis of MCD, particularly in AIDS patients (Grandadam et al., 1997). Furthermore, in AIDS related MCD, an increased KSHV viral load is correlated with the exacerbation of MCD symptoms even though no manifest MCD foci were found within the lymph nodes of the infected patient (Parravicini et al., 1997a). In HIV-negative healthy individuals, fifty percent of all individuals with MCD are infected with KSHV. However, unlike KS and PEL, not all Castleman's disease has been found to contain KSHV genomes indicating more than one etiologic factor contributing to the disease (Moore and Chang, 2003). In patients co-infected with HIV and KSHV, MCD presents itself in a significantly more aggressive form. The prognosis of MCD in HIV-positive patients generally remains poor with a median survival of 48 months from diagnosis and a 15-fold increased risk of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (Oksenhendler et al., 2000; Parravicini et al., 1997a; Zietz et al., 1999).

MCD is a polyclonal tumor. In MCD, the majority of the cell mass is composed of uninfected lymphocytes which are recruited to the site of infection by cytokines released from KSHV infected B cells (Dupin et al., 1999; Katano et al., 2000; Parravicini et al., 1997a). In contrast to PELs in which the majority cells are dually infected with KSHV and EBV, MCD usually is negative for EBV (Aoki, Jones, and Tosato, 2000; Little et al., 2001). There is higher number of lytic KSHV genomes in MCD than in PEL implying different KSHV pathogenetic mechanisms between MCD PEL. The different mechanisms of MCD and PEL may be due to different cellular and viral gene expression profiles in both of these lymphoproliferative disorders (Rivas et al., 2001; Staskus et al., 1999; Teruya-Feldstein et al., 1998).

#### **KSHV Genome Structure and Organization**

Many studies of KSHV viral structure have shown that KSHV shares similar structure features with other members of the Herpesviridae family. Typically, the observed size of KSHV virion particles is approximately 100-150nm (Renne et al., 1996b). Like other herpesviruses, KSHV is comprised of four structural elements: 1.) a large linear double-stranded DNA in a cylindrical core; 2.) an icosahedral capsid composed of 162 hexagonal capsomeres; 3.) an amorphous tegument surrounding the capsid, and 4.) a lipid bilayer envelope derived from the host cell (Knipe et al., 2001).

The KSHV genome was determined by sequencing of viral DNA isolated from both a PEL cell line and biopsy specimens of KS. Virion DNA released from BCBL-1 cells treated with phorbol ester (12-O-tetradacanoyl-13-acetate; TPA) revealed that the KSHV genome is comprised of approximately 165kb to 170kb (Renne et al., 1996a; Zhong et al., 1996). Compared to the prototypical herpesvirus HSV-1 genome which is 135 kb, the KSHV genome size is a bit larger. However, the KSHV genome is substantially smaller in size than the viral genome of the human cytomegalovirus (HCMV). Although numerous published results have thoroughly investigated molecular aspects of the KSHV lifecycle further, virion structure and morphology is still unclear due to the difficulty ofcultivating KSHV in either tissue culture or animal systems. Negative stained images of thin sections revealed that KSHV and HCMV capsids are similar. The KSHV nucleocapsid was observed to be approximately 120-150nm, while HCMV nucleocapsid was shown to be 150-200nm (Sarid et al., 1997). It has been shown that the capsid size and structure are consistent with other members of the herpesvirus family by using electron cryomicroscopy (Trus et al., 2001; Wu et al., 2000).

#### The Core and Organization of the Viral Genome

Like all other herpesviruses, the innermost core of the KSHV particle consists of wound viral DNA genome (Knipe et al., 2001). Herpesviruses possess a linear double-stranded DNA genome with a size range from 120kb to 250kb. DNA purified from intact virions showed that the KSHV genome is approximately 165kb to 170kb by using pulse-field gel electrophoresis (Renne et al., 1996a). Nucleotide sequence data suggests that KSHV is a member of the gammaherpesvirus subfamily, genus Rhadinovirus (gamma-2 herpesvirus), which also includes the new world monkey virus, herpesvirus saimiri (saimiriine herpesvirus 2, HVS). KSHV is the first member of this genus known to infect humans (Moore et al., 1996b).

The linear double stranded genome consists of a continuous 140.5kb central region composed of low-GC DNA [also known as L DNA or long unique region (LUR)], which has 53.5% G+C content (Moore et al., 1996b; Neipel, Albrecht, and Fleckenstein, 1997; Russo et al., 1996). The LUR is flanked by the 20-35kb multirepetitive terminal region containing high GC DNA, which has 84.5% G+C content terminal repeat units (TR) (Neipel, Albrecht, and Fleckenstein, 1997).

Approximately 90 genes have been identified in the KSHV's long unique region, which resembles the genetic organization of herpesvirus saimiri (HVS) (Moore et al., 1996; Neipel, Albrecht, and Fleckenstein, 1997). About 70 conserved genes arranged co-linearly are found in both KSHV and HVS with small intermittent regions contain unique genes of each virus. Corresponding to the previous nomenclature of genes for HVS, all conserved genes have been designated the prefix "ORF" and numbered consecutively from left to right across the viral genome, while the KSHV unique genes within the intermittent regions have been denoted K1 to K15 (Russo et al., 1996). The genetic organization was shown to be highly conserved among

other nonhuman members of the genus rhadinovirus, such as the rhesus rhadinovirus and murine gammaherpesvirus 68. The conserved genes among the rhadinovirus genus function metabolically or catalytically in both virion structure and viral DNA replication, including glycoprotein B (ORF8), DNA polymerase (ORF9), thymidine kinase (ORF21), glycoprotein H (ORF22), DNA helicase-primase complex (ORF40, ORF41 and ORF44), splicing factor (ORF57), polymerase processivity factor (ORF59), p33 (ORF69), thymidylate synthase (ORF70), serine/threonine protein kinase (ORF36) (McGeoch and Davison, 1999; Moore et al., 1996b; Neipel, Albrecht, and Fleckenstein, 1997; Park et al., 2007; Russo et al., 1996; Santarelli et al., 2008).

KSHV shares both structural and biological features with the Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), the only other human gammaherpesvirus causing human tumors. The two viruses are oncogenic tumor viruses, although KSHV contains none of the EBV-like unique latency genes in cell immortalization and transformation (Knipe et al., 2001; Russo et al., 1996). A clear genetic correspondence was found between KSHV and EBV even though no homologies of latency genes were shown between KSHV and EBV (Moore and Chang, 2001). Both EBV and KSHV utilize B lymphocytes as reservoirs during latency and establish persistent infection in a similar B cell environment. However, a certain set of cellular genes was induced by EBV proteins, and this set of human cDNAs was modified by KSHV that are captured and incorporated themselves into cellular genome (Knipe et al., 2001; Neipel, Albrecht, and Fleckenstein, 1997). Possible functional cross-complementation between members of the gammaherpesvirus subfamily has been suggested by the study of KSHV p33 that shares many similarities with its EBV BELF2 (Santarelli et al., 2008).

#### The Capsid

Similar to other herpesviruses, the KSHV virion has a multilayered architecture, with a doublestranded DNA genome enclosed within an inner icosahedral capsid, a thick middle tegument compartment containing proteineases, and a lipid bilayer envelope embedded with glycoproteins (Steven, 1997). The capsids are first formed after the initial KSHV replication in the nucleus and The capsids contain linear KSHV genome. Only newly synthesized virions are mature. packaged into the capsids (Knipe et al., 2001; Renne et al., 1996b). Similar to encapsidated HSV-1 DNA, encapsidated KSHV DNA is present within the capsid as a single linear copy encoding the entire viral genome (Booy et al., 1991). Unlike EBV, the KSHV genome is a large closed circular episome during latency, and the viral genome linearizes during virion packaging and replication (Decker et al., 1996). The mechanism by which this packaging occurs has not been fully understood although the linear KSHV genome possibly enters into the capsid through a unique portal vertex (Cardone et al., 2007; Chang et al., 2007; Deng et al., 2007; Deng et al., 2008; Newcomb et al., 2001; Trus et al., 2004). Genetic and biochemical studies have suggested a bacteriophage-like, DNA-packaging/ejection portal complex, located at only 1 of the 12 vertices of the capsid of herpesviruses, which has been demonstrated recently by cryo-electron tomography (cryoET) studies of native KSHV capsids (Nealon et al., 2001). However, the exact arrangement and orientation of the portal complex remains unclear.

The nuclei of infected cells provide a source for biochemical analyses of HSV-1 and HCMV capsid structures (Homa and Brown, 1997); however, it is well recognized that isolating enough amounts of stable capsids in cell culture from both EBV and KSHV for structural studies is extremely difficult. Lytic replication induced by chemical treatments in infected cells offers a stable source of KSHV capsids (Dolyniuk, Pritchett, and Kieff, 1976; Nealon et al., 2001; Wu et

al., 2000). The establishment of a stable source of KSHV capsids has allowed further determination of the proteins and the molecular ratios of the proteins involved in the composition and structure of the capsid (Nealon et al., 2001; Trus et al., 2001; Wu et al., 2000).

Since the 1970s, much biochemical evidence, visualized via electron microscopy and separated by density gradient sedimentation, have demonstrated that herpesviruses form in distinctive capsids during assembly in the host nucleus. The three major capsids were named A capsids, B capsids and C capsids according to the order of their positions on a density gradient. Later protein analysis and negative stain electron microscopy revealed that the capsid shell is a nearly identical icosahedral shell among three classes, and the classes are only differentiated by their inner contents. A capsids are complete void of DNA or any detectable internal structure with a total mass of 200MDa. B capsids contain an inner array of scaffolding protein from ORF17.5 (Nealon et al., 2001) with a total mass of 230 MDa. C capsids are filled with the packed KSHV double-stranded DNA genome only but no scaffolding protein, which was present in the B capsids with a total mass of 300 MDa. Biochemical and mass spectrometry studies showed that the A, B, and C capsid shells are composed of four viral proteins, including the ORF25/MCP (major capsid protein), ORF65/SCIP (small capsomer interacting protein), ORF62/TRI-1 (triplex monomer protein) and ORF26/TRI-2 (triplex dimer protein) (O'Connor and Kedes, 2006). The smallest capsid proteins (SCPs) encoded by ORF65 gene have been found to localize at the outermost regions of the capsid. The localization of SCP suggests that SCP may be important in mediating capsid interactions with the tegument and cytoskeletal proteins during infection (Lo et al., 2003).

Herpesvirus capsids consist of 150 hexameric and 12 pentameric capsomers formed exclusively from the KSHV-ORF25 product/MCP (the major capsid protein). The majority of

- 16 -

the capsid's mass can be attributed to MCP, which is highly conserved throughout the herpesvirus family (Homa and Brown, 1997). The capsomers are linked together via heterotriplexes, which protrude from the capsid floor in between the capsomer structures (Trus et al., 2001; Wu et al., 2000). In KSHV, the heterotriplexes consist of two molecules of ORF26/TRI-2 and one molecule of ORF62/TRI-1 (Nealon et al., 2001). Type C capsids are the only type of capsid isolated by deenveloping intact virions; furthermore, type C capsids are (about 10-15% of total capsids produced) produced the least from induced BCBL-1 cells (Gibson and Roizman, 1972; Schrag et al., 1989). The small percentage of type C capsids produced from BCBL-1 cells may provide an explanation for the low infectivity of KSHV in experiments using this cell line as a source of virus stock (Nealon et al., 2001). Cryo-electron Tomography (cryoET) and threedimensional reconstruction techniques have been powerful tools in studying the structure of KSHV capsids. KSHV capsids directly visualized by cryoET reveal a heterogeneous collection of similar but non-identical particles containing different amounts and configurations of SCAF, while neither A nor C-capsids showed structural variation (Deng et al., 2008). The highly variable SCAF may represent the existence of different intermediates during the KSHV capsid assembly and maturation.

#### The Tegument

The tegument of herpesviruses is a proteinaceous region contained between the outer surface of the capsid and the underface of the virion envelope. The tegument is various in both size and composition (Roizman, 1974). The tegument can be distributed asymmetrically and symmetrically. There is less tegument that are more symmetrically arranged in perinuclear virions than in virions in cytoplasmic vesicles that contain tegument distributed more asymmetrically (Falke, Siegert, and Vogell, 1959).

The studies of the structure and function of the herpesvirus tegument, particularly about the KSHV tegument, have provided limited information. Tegument proteins play important roles in various aspects of the virus life cycle, the early events of infection and virion egress. Certain herpesvirus tegument proteins have been shown to regulate the viral lifecycle, penetration of the virus into cells and viral replication (Knipe et al., 2001).

KSHV ORF45 has been found in the tegument area of virions and plays a critical role in the KSHV lytic replication cycle (Zhu and Yuan, 2003). It is an immediate-early protein, highly phosphorylated. OFR45 is expressed immediately after the virus enters the lytic cycle. Its expression level increases as lytic viruses replicate and remain at a high amount through the late stage (Zhu et al., 2005; Zhu, Cusano, and Yuan, 1999; Zhu and Yuan, 2003). Previously, ORF45 protein has been shown to interact with cellular IRF-7 (interferon regulatory factor 7) and suppress its phosphorylation and nuclear accumulation, indicating a role of ORF45 in inhibiting the host anti-viral response (Zhu et al., 2002). IRF-7 regulates the type I Interferons (IFNs) and induction of IFN- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\beta$  (Samuel, 2001; Stark et al., 1998). ORF45 has also been reported to interact with different cellular pathways that are essential for KSHV lytic replication (Zhu et al., 2006). In addition to tegument proteins, mRNAs, spanning more than one kinetic class, have been shown to encapsidate into the virus particles of alpha and beta herpesviruses (Bresnahan and Shenk, 2000; Sciortino et al., 2001; Sciortino et al., 2002). 11 virally encoded RNAs in KSHV virions have been identified and are critical for the establishment and maintenance of KSHV latency (Bechtel, Grundhoff, and Ganem, 2005; Cai et. al., 2005). The mechanism by which KSHV also possesses mRNAs within intact virions is not fully clear.

#### The Envelope

The outermost layer KSHV virion envelope is made up of altered infected cellular membrane. The KSHV envelope is embedded with several glycoproteins designated as gB, gH, gpK8.1, gL, gM, gN and others (Koyano et al., 2003). A number of herpesviral glycoproteins play important roles throughout the viral lifecycle, including attachment, penetration, egress, and virus-induced cell fusion and tumorigenicity (Knipe et al., 2001).

#### Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Herpesvirus Lifecycle

#### Viral Attachment and Entry

Attachment of many enveloped viruses is a multistep process mediated by interactions between specific viral glycoproteins with receptors on the surface of the target cell. Entry is the most critical step in the KSHV life cycle and greatly determines the pathogenesis of members of the herpesvirus family. Entry of herpesvirus into a susceptible cell involves two steps: the first step is virus binding to cell surfaces via viral envelope glycoproteins and cellular receptors (Spear and Longnecker, 2003). The second step is fusion of the viral envelope with cellular membranes, releasing viral capsids into the cellular cytoplasm. Alternatively, virions are internalized into endosomes with low pH in which the mildly acidic environment triggers viral glycoprotein-induced fusion with the endosomes.

#### **Binding Receptors**

The initial binding to target cells of KSHV is mediated via KSHV envelope-associated glycoprotein gB and gpK8.1A, with ubiquitous heparan sulfate proteoglycan moieties on the surface of susceptible cells (Akula et al., 2001a; Akula et al., 2001b; Birkmann et al., 2001; Wang et al., 2001a). In addition, KSHV interacts with the alphaVbeta3 integrin via the Arg-Gly-Asp (RGD) motif of its glycoprotein B (Garrigues et al., 2008). Heparan sulfate proteoglycans

covalently attach to glycosaminoglycans, abundantly distributed on the surface of mammalian cell membranes (Stringer and Gallagher, 1997). Proteoglycans have key roles in various fundamental cellular processes including cell-to-cell adhesion, cell-to-matrix adhesion, cellular motility, cellular growth and cellular signaling transduction (Kjellen and Lindahl, 1991; Rostand and Esko, 1997). The presence of heparan sulfate is not essential for virus entry, but it greatly increases the efficiency of virus entry into cells (Banfield et al., 1995).

Herpesvirus viral attachment to cell surfaces is inhibited by soluble heparin, a molecule having a structure similar to heparin sulfate (Akula et al., 2001b). Furthermore, the inhibition of KSHV particle entry into the cell cytoplasm by heparan is in a dose-dependent manner (Akula et al., 2001a; Birkmann et al., 2001; Wang et al., 2001a). For the first time, it was shown that KSHV infected B cells are capable of preferentially using cellular ( $\alpha$ V) or viral (gB) receptors to specifically bind cells, depending upon the stage of the cell cycle and infection. Using the Matrigel system, KSHV infected PEL cells can attach to extracellular matrix proteins. This attachment occurs preferentially in cells from S phase or cells from S phase actively supporting a lytic infection, respectively (Dyson et al., 2008).

#### **Entry Receptors**

The integrin receptor family has been indicated by a number of other viruses to be an entry pathway for infection. Integrins control a wide variety of cellular functions that include cell survival, gene expression, cell cycle, actin dynamics, cell migration, angiogenesis, including cell attachment (Martin et al., 2002).

Several proteins have been reported to function as HHV-8 entry receptors. KSHV infects a variety of cell types from different tissues and species, including B, T, endothelial, epithelial, fibroblast, keratinocyte cells, owl monkey kidney and baby hamster fibroblast cells

(Cerimele et al., 2001; Ciufo et al., 2001; Flore et al., 1998; Foreman et al., 1997; Gao, Deng, and Zhou, 2003; Kliche et al., 1998; Mesri et al., 1996). This broad tropism for different cell types indicates a specific KSHV fusion-entry receptor(s) on the target cell surface. The cystine transporter, xCT, was identified as a KSHV fusion-entry receptor by functional cDNA selection (Kaleeba and Berger, 2006).

Previous studies have shown that KSHV can successfully infect human monocytes and macrophages both in vitro and in vivo. It has been recently reported that KSHV uses DC-SIGN (Dendritic cell-specific ICAM-3 grabbing nonintegrin; CD209) to enter macrophages and dendritic cells derived from monocytes (Rappocciolo et al., 2006). DC-SIGN is a required receptor for HHV-8 infection of myeloid DCs and macrophages. Furthermore, infection of B cells was reduced by blocking DC-SIGN leading to the conclusion that the expression of DC-SIGN is crucial for productive KSHV infection and replication in B cells (Rappocciolo et al., 2008). However, the KSHV viral proteins that interact with the xCT and DC-SIGN receptors have not yet been identified. Moreover, a very recent study has shown that KSHV, as a human DNA tumor virus, specifically promoted TLR3 in human monocytes which until now has only been shown to be associated with the recognition of RNA viruses. In this study, siRNAs directed against TLR3 significantly inhibited the ability of KSHV to up-regulate IFN-β1 and CXCL10 (West and Damania, 2008).

The integrin  $\alpha V\beta 3$  is a cellular receptor mediating both the cell adhesion and entry of KSHV into target cells through binding the RGD motif of virion-associated gB. The  $\alpha V\beta 3$  is widely expressed in proliferating endothelial cells, arterial smooth muscle cells, and certain populations of leukocytes and tumor cells. The integrin  $\alpha V\beta 3$  mediates the adhesion of cells to a number of extracellular matrix proteins containing RGD motifs, including vitronectin and

fibronectin, and being responsible for mediating cell-cell interactions through binding to cellassociated glycoproteins containing RGD motifs. In addition,  $\alpha V\beta 3$  has been reported as a receptor for the entry of target cells during the infection process by other viruses (Plow et al., 2000). In KS tumors,  $\alpha V\beta 3$  is highly expressed on KS tumor spindle cells and in neovascular endothelial cells and B cells that infiltrate KS tumors (Kaaya, Mwangi, and Ouna, 1996; Salcedo and Patarroyo, 1995; Uccini et al., 1994). These cells are also consistently infected with KSHV in KS lesions suggesting a central role for  $\alpha V\beta 3$  in KSHV infection and in the pathogenesis of KS.



**Figure 1.1:** KSHV Fusion and Entry. This illustration shows how KSHV fuses to and enters a human cell after binding to the protein xCT (Berger EA. *Science*. 2006 Mar 31; 311(5769):1921-4.)

#### KSHV Latency

One of the striking features of KSHV is the lifelong latent infection in host cells that modulates the host immune response. Similar to other herpesviruses, KSHV has two modes of infection: latent (nonproductive) infection in which the viral genome persists in its host cell but with dramatically restricted gene expression and without cell destruction, and lytic (productive) infection with progeny virions and the destruction of the host cell (Zhong et al., 1996). In vivo, only less than 3% of infected cells in KS lesions or KSHV-positive lymphomas display evidence of lytic KSHV gene expression (Renne et al., 1996b). Most commonly, KSHV infection remains in the latent state with very few genes expressed. Host cell conditions play an important role in regulating both lytic and latent infections of target cells (Bryan, Dyson, and Akula, 2006; Mercader et al., 2000). KSHV latent and lytic DNA replications are crucial and necessary for the long-term persistence of the virus. Moreover, both latent and lytic gene expression programs are involved in the pathogenesis of KSHV-related lymphoproliferative disorders (Cesarman, 2002; Jenner and Boshoff, 2002).

Lytic replication is necessary for the initial infection and replication of the virus in the host. A productive lytic infection of herpesviruses leads to large amounts of virions and cell death via lysis. The lytic cycle has traditionally been thought not to contribute directly to oncogenesis because cells that enter this program invariably die. KSHV readily transforms cells leading to tumorigenesis in vivo (Boshoff, 2002). Lytic replication involves gene expression of virtually the entire viral genome. Viral DNA replicates and produces infectious viral progeny leading to the death of host cells. Lytic replication can be induced from latency by the induction of the transcription factor RTA (replication and transcription activator) (Lukac et al., 1998; Sun et al., 1998). A recent study has suggested that KSHV RTA can regulate viral replication by promoting degradation of the suppressors, including K-RBP and HEY1 (Yada et al., 2006; Yang and Wood, 2007; Yang, Yan, and Wood, 2008). K13 has been indicated to be able to block KSHV lytic replication via decreasing vIL-6 and hIL-6 expression (Zhao et al., 2007). In addition, the induction of lytic replication can be also achieved by the treatment of latently

infected cells with phorbol esters or sodium butyrate or by transfection with consititutively active RTA alleles.

EBV latent infection and the concomitant expression of the latent viral genes are essential for the development of EBV-related lymphoproliferative disorders (Griffin, 2000). Like EBV, KSHV establishes a latent infection in the vast majority of tumor cells in Kaposi's sarcoma lesions, thus implying that KSHV latent infection plays an essential role in the development of Kaposi's sarcoma lesions (Moore and Chang, 2001). Latent infection of KSHV is default in most host cells. Viral DNA exists as a circular episome in the nucleus and no progeny virions are produced. In latency, viral gene expression is only limited to seven genes, including: LANA-1 (ORF73), v-Cyclin D (ORF72), v-FLICE (K13), kaposin A (K12), v-IRF-2 (K11.5), LANA-2 (K10.5) and LAMP (K15). These latent genes have been shown to manifest both growth transforming and cell cycle-deregulating properties (Cotter and Robertson, 2002; Komatsu et al., 2002).

LANA-1 (latency-associated nuclear antigen) encoded by ORF73 is perhaps the most important latent gene expressed during the latent cycle. LANA-1 is highly expressed in all latently infected tumor cells, indicating that LANA-1 plays a critical role in the maintenance of latent KSHV infection (Kedes et al., 1997; Kellam et al., 1997; Rainbow et al., 1997). LANA-1 has been shown to be a multifunctional protein and serves roles as the following: 1.) binds transcriptional corepressors (SAP30, Sin3A, CIR), 2.) possesses a nuclear localization motif, 3.) binds KSHV TR DNA cooperatively and supports terminal repeat (TR) directed viral replication, 4.) associates with host cellular chromatin proteins and stays on the chromosomes during cell division, 5.) binds and inhibits p53 resulting in the inactivation of p53-dependent promoters, 6.) binds retinoblastoma protein RB1 leading to the induction of E2F-dependent genes, 7.) transcriptionally activates EBV latency promoters, 8.) binds HIV-1 Tat, and 9.) binds to KSHV-Rta by its direct binding to RBP-Jkappa (Dourmishev et al., 2003; Gonzalo et al., 2005; Lan, Kuppers, and Robertson, 2005; Lan et al., 2004).

LANA-1, v-Cyclin D and v-FLICE (K13) are latent transcripts present and expressed from a differentially spliced polycistronic mRNA, in which their transcription is regulated via a common promoter (Cesarman et al., 1996a; Dittmer et al., 1998; Grundhoff and Ganem, 2001; Sarid et al., 1999; Talbot et al., 1999). LANA-1 has been consistently shown to be the immunodominant latent antigen expressed in KS lesions (Dupin et al., 1999; Gao et al., 1996a; Gao et al., 1996b; Kedes et al., 1997; Kedes et al., 1996; Kellam et al., 1997; Rainbow et al., LANA-1 consists of 1162 amino acids and is identified as a 222-234 kDa 1997). phosphoprotein with an acidic internal repeat domain flanked by a carboxyl-terminal domain and an amino-terminal domain by Western blot analysis (Fakhari et al., 2006; Kellam et al., 1997; Rainbow et al., 1997). LANA-1 displays a punctuated nuclear distribution pattern in immunohistochemical experiments (Gao et al., 1997). LANA-1 can also activate its own promoter (Jeong, Papin, and Dittmer, 2001; Renne et al., 2001). Viruses that establish latent infection must maintain their DNA in the host nucleus through many cellular generations; thus, KSHV must replicate its latent circular genome episomes before each cell division and then successfully segregate into progeny cells.

KSHV latently infected cells harbor several copies of episomes. In uninfected B lymphoblastoid cells, the expression of KSHV LANA-1 allows for the persistence of an episome containing the KSHV terminal repeat (TR) sequence. During latency, LANA-1 binds specifically to the TR region of DNA repeat sequences consisting of 801 base-pair units and containing an origin of replication (OriP); thus showing a necessary and sufficient role for

LANA-1 in KSHV episome maintenance in transfected cells (Ballestas, Chatis, and Kave, 1999; Ballestas and Kaye, 2001). A short region in the C terminal part of LANA-1 has been demonstrated to be required LANA's abilities, such as binding to and replication of viral episomes, modulation of transcription, and interaction with the members of Brd chromatin binding proteins Brd2/RING3 and Brd4s (Ottinger et al., 2006; Viejo-Borbolla et al., 2005; You et al., 2006). The tethering of the KSHV genome by LANA-1 is also done by its interaction with host chromatin proteins such as histone H1, MeCP, DEK (Cotter, Subramanian, and Robertson, 2001; Krithivas et al., 2002; Mattsson et al., 2002). Furthermore, LANA-1 has been shown to specifically bind KSHV TR DNA and allow for its replication (Cotter and Robertson, 1999; Cotter, Subramanian, and Robertson, 2001; Fejer et al., 2003; Grundhoff and Ganem, 2003; Hu, Garber, and Renne, 2002; Lim et al., 2002). LANA-1 can mediate the inactivation of lytic cycle associated genes in the neighborhood of the terminal repeats through local interaction with SUV39H1. SUV39H histone methyltransferases regulate a unique histone H3 lysine9 (H3–K9) methylation. Trimethyl H3K9 is a marker of constitutive heterochromatin. The chromatin protein SUV39H1 methylates the histone H-3 protein thus allowing for the heterochromatin protein 1 (HP-1) to bind to the methylated histone H-3 protein and expand the heterochromatin region (Aagaard et al., 1999; Bannister et al., 2001; Lachner et al., 2001). LANA-1 also recruits de novo DNA methyltransferases DNMT3A that in turn bind to another euchromatic histone methyltransferase SETDB1/ESET, which can also trimethylate H3–K9 (Li et al., 2006; Shamay et al., 2006). Unlike other KSHV promoters tested thus far, LANA promoter is not affected by tetradecanoyl phorbol acetate or viral lytic cycle functions. However, it is subjected to control by LANA itself and cellular regulatory factors, such as p53.

#### Viral Gene Transcription and Expression

Traditionally, transcription of herpesvirus genes are tightly regulated and sequentially ordered in a cascade fashion (Knipe et al., 2001). The sequentially ordered cascade of transcription occurs via a simultaneously and sequentially ordered viral protein cascade which modulates viral gene Herpesviruses use the host RNA polymerase and other members of the host expression. transcriptional apparatus in order to execute its viral transcriptional program. Transcription of herpesviral DNA occurs in the nucleus and the viral proteins are synthesized in the cytoplasm (Knipe et al., 2001). Herpesviral genes are categorized into mutually exclusive latent and lytic profiles. This dichotomy of herpesviral gene transcription involves the latent phase which occurs while the viral genome is maintained as an episome and a lytic phase which takes place in a cascade fashion during productive (lytic) infection. Upon establishment of a latent infection (nonproductive) only a few genes are expressed. During the course of a productive (lytic) herpesviral infection, approximately eighty genes are expressed. Lytic infection of KSHV leads to cell lysis and therefore cell death, which is inconsistent with the establishment of KSHV transformation of the infected cell. A substantially low level of KSHV infected PEL cultures undergo spontaneous lytic gene expression which could be readily detected in a stable milieu of PEL cultures that exhibit latent expression; the infrequent spontaneous KSHV-reactivation correlates well with the infrequent reactivation detected in KS clinical samples (Fakhari and Dittmer, 2002; Jenner et al., 2001; Paulose-Murphy et al., 2001; Sarid et al., 2001). The majority of infected cells in KS specimens exhibit latent KSHV gene expression, with a scant number of cells expressing lytic transcripts (Chan, Bloomer, and Chandran, 1998; Dupin et al., 1999; Katano et al., 2000) Lin, Dai, and Ricciardi, 1998; Orenstein et al., 1997; Parravicini et al., 2000;

Staskus et al., 1997; Sun et al., 1999); thus implying that, the low level of spontaneous lytic gene expression is not an artifact of tissue culture models.

Recently, models of de novo infections of cultured endothelial cells have also manifested a similar "hodge-podge" pattern of latent and lytic gene expression (Ciufo et al., 2001; Lagunoff et al., 2002; Moses et al., 1999). Both latent and lytic cycle replication are crucial for the longterm persistence of the virus, and gene products from both latent and lytic gene expression programs have been implicated in the pathogenesis of KSHV associated disorders (Cesarman, 2002; Jenner and Boshoff, 2002).

Classification of the latent or lytic gene expression of individual KSHV ORFs would serve an immense role in the prediction of their potential contribution to the pathogenesis of the KSHV infection. The facilitation of cultured PEL cells latently infected with KSHV and inducing lytic reactivation with common laboratory chemicals (such as phorbol esters or sodium butyrate) have led to clear designations of individual KSHV genes as either latent or lytic genes. Typically, PEL cell lines (in which every cell in the PEL culture is infected with KSHV) carry approximately 40 to 150 copies of KSHV DNA per cell genome (Drexler et al., 1998). Upon routine passage of the PELs, the virus is consistently maintained as a latent episome, with concomitant restriction of lytic viral gene expression and a paucity of virus production. Upon chemical induction of PELs, viral gene expression switches from the latent program to an ordered cascade of lytic gene expression, leading to viral replication, virion production, cell lysis, and viral release (Renne et al., 1996a; Renne et al., 1996b; Sarid et al., 1998; Zhong et al., 1996).

The expression pattern of each KSHV ORF was categorized into three classes of gene transcription: I, II, and III. The assignation of each ORF to its respective class was determined
by the individual gene response to the addition of TPA to PEL cultures (Sarid et al., 1998). Class I transcripts are constitutively expressed and are not induced by phorbol esters. Class I gene transcripts correspond directly with the latent gene expression profile, which includes ORF73 (LANA-1), ORF72 (viral cyclin D [vCyc]) and K13 (fas-ligand IL-1 \beta-converting enzyme inhibitory protein [vFLIP]); these proteins are readily detected in KS samples, further establishing the categorization within the latent phase of the KSHV transcriptional program (Davis et al., 1997; Dittmer et al., 1998). The three class I KSHV-ORFs have corresponding sequence homologs in HVS (Nicholas, Cameron, and Honess, 1992; Thome et al., 1997), and their respective expressed proteins serve crucial roles in latency and cellular transformation (Dourmishev et al., 2003). ORF K13 (vFLIP) encodes a viral inhibitor of a cellular homologue of the Fas-mediated apoptosis (Thome et al., 1997). ORF 72 (vCyc) encodes a functional cyclin D homolog which could substitute for human cyclin D by phosphorylating the retinoblastoma tumor suppressor protein (Chang et al., 1996). ORF73 (LANA-1) encodes LANA (Rainbow et al., 1997), a highly immunogenic protein that is highly expressed and is the basis for both immunofluorescence and Western assay-based serological tests (Gao et al., 1996a).

The class II gene transcription includes mRNAs which are detected in variable abundance of high, moderate, or low in cultures grown under standard growth conditions without phorbol esters. In addition, the class II transcripts could be readily induced to higher levels of transcription by TPA (Sarid et al., 1998). Examples of class II mRNAs that are transcribed at moderate levels without TPA treatment include the following: cytokines v-IL-6 (ORF K2), v-MIP-II (ORF K4), and v-IRF (ORF K9). A true latent transcription is restricted in both PEL and KS lesions. However, a number of genes are expressed, generally at low transcription levels, in PEL without TPA treatment and are inducible with TPA (class II). The majority of class II genes contain typical herpesviral regulatory and viral DNA replicative genes, along with a majority of the viral homologs of cellular genes (Sarid et al., 1998). Interestingly, the class II category of transcription includes many unique KSHV genes (e.g., the viral cytokines and v-IRF), thus these transcripts serve essential roles in the manipulation of cellular pathways, regulation of viral infection and transformation of the host cell (Gao et al., 1997; Moore and Chang, 1998). Both class I and II genes are the least conserved among all herpesviruses, and these genes tend to cluster within the same region of the KSHV genome containing regulatory genes that are also referred to as "latency islands" (Moore et al., 1996a; Moore and Chang, 2001).

The final class of gene transcription, class III, involves transcripts that could only be detected after induction with phorbol esters (Sarid et al., 1998). Class III transcripts include lytic genes which are transcribed during active infection and are necessary for efficient viral lytic replication and virion particle production including the following transcripts: ORF 25 (major capsid protein), ORF 6 (DNApolymerase), and ORF 22 (glycoprotein H) (Sarid et al., 1998). Many class III genes are highly conserved among all herpesviruses and possess functional roles in DNA replication and virion morphogenesis (Knipe et al., 2001; Sarid et al., 1998).

## **Reactivation**

Typically in traditional herpes simplex virus infections (the prototype herpesvirus), a tegument protein localizes to the nucleus and activates the immediate early gene expression, which in turn commences the sequentially ordered cascade of viral gene expression characteristic of herpesviruses (Knipe et al., 2001). The two human gamma herpesviruses, EBV and KSHV, manifest similar patterns of the latent and lytic phases of infection, and both of these gamma herpesviruses require a reactivation mechanism in order to switch from the latency phase to the lytic phase. KSHV latency is critical in the establishment of a permanent infection both in vitro

and in vivo. The latency phase allows for the virus to evase host immune surveillance and establishes long-term and persistent infection (Moore and Chang, 2003). In addition, latent infection by either KSHV or EBV plays a major role in tumorigenesis (Cesarman, 2002; Chang and Moore, 1996). To establish latent infection in susceptible cells, viral reactivation must overcome a stringent regulation of viral gene expression, since KSHV viral gene expression is highly limited and tightly controlled. KSHV spontaneously reactivates in infected cells and the process of viral lytic replication begins. Both tetradecanoyl phorbol acetate (TPA) and sodium butyrate (NaB) have been shown to disrupt the latency of KSHV in BCBL-1 cells and induce lytic viral replication (Arvanitakis et al., 1996; Renne et al., 1996b; Yu et al., 1999).

Many recent studies have demonstrated that cell cycle progression has a role in reactivation of KSHV infection (Bryan, Dyson, and Akula, 2006; McAllister et al., 2005). A direct correlation between cell cycle progression, KSHV reactivation and cell-surface topology has also been observed (Whitman et al., 2007). In this study, the KSHV-infected cells in G0/1 phase had finger-like projections on their surface, while cells in S phase had a relatively smooth cell surface. Furthermore, a very recent study has suggested that cell cycle has an effect on the expression of cellular receptors utilized by KSHV. This study indicated that KSH-infected human B cells can preferentially use cellular  $\alpha$ V integrin or viral receptors to specifically bind cells, depending upon the stage of the cell cycle and infection (Dyson et al., 2008).

As mentioned in the previous section, five latent genes are expressed during latency: 1.) LANA-1, 2.) v-cyclin, 3.) v-FLIP, 4.) kaposin, and 5.) vIRF-2 (Burysek and Pitha, 2001; Dittmer et al., 1998; Muralidhar et al., 1998; Muralidhar et al., 2000; Rainbow et al., 1997; Sadler et al., 1999; Saveliev, Zhu, and Yuan, 2002). The expression profile of these latent genes serves a crucial role in the maintenance of latency and cellular transformation. Lytic reactivation of a low

percentage of infected cells is necessary for KS development (Lukac, Kirshner, and Ganem, 1999; Martin and Osmond, 1999; Whitby et al., 1995). Evidence over the years clearly suggests roles for reactivation and/or lytic replication in the pathogenesis and induction of KS tumors: 1.)



Nature Reviews | Immunology

**Figure 1.2: KSHV Gene Map.** The virus can then either enter a latent program, in which the viral episome is maintained and no virions are produced, or enter a lytic program, in which viral particles are produced and the host cells are lysed. During the latent program, a small number of proteins (indicated in green) are expressed to maintain the viral episome, to avoid host antiviral immune responses and to provide a growth advantage to infected cells. Latently infected cells can be induced to enter the lytic cycle under specific physiological conditions. The factors that regulate the switch from the latent to the lytic cycle have not yet been fully characterized, but they involve the viral proteins replication and transcriptional activator (RTA; encoded by open reading frame 50 (ORF50)) and ORF57, as well as recombination signal binding protein for immunoglobulin J region (RBP-J), a transcription factor downstream of the Notch signalling pathway. Lytic replication leads to extensive viral gene expression. Lytic gene expression is tightly regulated (viral genes transcribed early upon reactivation are indicated in yellow, those transcribed during intermediate kinetics in orange, and those transcribed during late kinetics in red). KSHV-encoded microRNAs are indicated by grey arrowheads (Laurent Coscoy. *Nature Reviews Immunology*. 2007 May, 7,391-401).

linkage between the humoral immune response to KSHV infection and KS tumor progression (Whitby et al., 1995); 2.) augmentation of KSHV viral load in patients correlates with progression from asymptomatic phase to KS (Ambroziak et al., 1995); 3.) patients dually infected with both KSHV and HIV when treated with ganciclovir, a drug that effectively targets KSHV lytic replication, leads to a decreased incidence of KS development (Martin and Osmond, 1999); 4.) both KS tumor cells (typically manifest a latent KSHV infection) and KSHV infected spindle cells (also typically manifest in latent KSHV infection), KS tumor cells and KSHV infected spindle cells consistently undergo spontaneous reactivation of concomitant lytic replication from latent cells in a small population (Reed et al., 1998; Staskus et al., 1999; Staskus et al., 1997; Zhong et al., 1996). Viral lytic reactivation and DNA replication are considered crucial in KSHV spread from the lymphoid reservoir B cells to endothelial cells and the sequential KS spindle cell formation (Offermann, 1999). Hence the reactivation mechanisms regulating the switch from latent to lytic replication in KSHV infected cells serve an essential role in the development of KS and the KSHV-related lymphoproliferative disorders.

# **Regulation of Transcriptional Activation**

Upon chemical induction, KSHV expresses viral transcription activator proteins such as ORF50 and K8, which are important for the induction of lytic replication (Zhu, Cusano, and Yuan, 1999). The viral immediate-early transactivator Rta/Orf50 is necessary and sufficient for virus reactivation and lytic replication (Gradoville et al., 2000; Lukac, Kirshner, and Ganem, 1999; Lukac et al., 1998; Sun et al., 1998). Initially, KSHV-Rta was identified based on positional analogies and sequence homology with EBV and HVS (Sun et al., 1998). The KSHV-Rta is one of the earliest immediate-early transcripts induced upon viral reactivation and expressed earlier than K8 (Sarid et al., 1998; Sun et al., 1999; Zhu, Cusano, and Yuan, 1999). The major ORF50

transcript is a tricistronic mRNA, which also encodes the genes ORF-K8 (K-bZIP/RAP) and ORF-K8.1 (K8.1 glycoprotein) (Gruffat et al., 1999; Lin et al., 1999; Lukac et al., 1998; Seaman et al., 1999; Sun et al., 1998; Zhu, Cusano, and Yuan, 1999). Alternative splicing mechanisms of the neighboring exons of this tricistron also lead to the expression of two minor tricistronic transcripts (Zhu, Cusano, and Yuan, 1999). The K-bZIP or RAP (ORF-K8) transcript is also produced with immediate-early kinetics independently of the upstream ORF50 gene (Saveliev, Zhu, and Yuan, 2002). In clinical samples, the Rta is detected corresponding with the lytic pattern in KS lesions (Katano et al., 2001; Sun et al., 1999). The 691 amino acid Rta has been shown to be highly post-translationally modified and extensively phosphorylated (Lukac, Kirshner, and Ganem, 1999; Lukac et al., 1998). A number of transfection experiments have indicated that Rta is capable of transactivating KSHV promoters of genes that are typically expressed upon a productive lytic infection (Chang et al., 2002; Chen et al., 2000; Jeong, Papin, and Dittmer, 2001; Lukac and Alwine, 1999; Lukac, Kirshner, and Ganem, 1999; Lukac et al., 1998; Song et al., 2001) Song et al., 2001; Wang et al., 2001b; Zhang, Chiu, and Lin, 1998). Rta possesses a transcriptional activation domain located at its carboxyl terminus domain which exhibits a similar structure conserved among several eukaryotic transcriptional activation domains (Lukac et al., 1998). Deletion of this transcriptional activation domain generates an Rta-specific dominant negative inhibitor of transactivation Rta. When transfected into BCBL-1 cells, this Rta-specific dominant negative inhibitor of transactivation Rta would effectively suppress spontaneous lytic reactivation from latency along with reduction of viral replication induced by the following chemical agents: TPA, sodium butyrate, and ionomycin (Lukac, Kirshner, and Ganem, 1999).

Rta binds directly to various viral promoters with specific sequences (Chang et al., 2002; Deng et al., 2002a; Liang et al., 2002; Lukac et al., 2001; Song et al., 2001; Song et al., 2002). The major targets of Rta transactivation are considered essential for lytic replication. Rta has been shown to transactivate the following genes which are considered essential for viral subversion of the normal regulatory cell growth mechanism: kaposin, vIL-6, vMIP-I, vIRF-1, vGPCR, and K1(Bowser, DeWire, and Damania, 2002; Chen et al., 2000; Curreli et al., 2002; Deng et al., 2002b; Ueda et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2001). The significance of Rta in the dysregulation of cellular growth pathways is shown by Rta-mediated activation of cellular IL-6 (Deng et al., 2002a), the ability of Rta to block p53-mediated apoptosis via competitive binding to CBP (Gwack et al., 2001). Concordant with the orchestration of the KSHV lytic cycle by Rta with concomitant manifestation of pathogenic progression, a clinical study has shown the Rta promoter is repressed by methylation. When demethylized, the promoter latent KSHV genome is induced and lytic replication begins (Chen et al., 2001). Furthermore, more evidences have shown that many cellular and viral proteins, including K-RBP, are capable of repressing RTAmediated transactivation and KSHV lytic replication. Herpes simplex virus type 1 transactivator ICP0 and human cytomegalovirus transactivator pp71 also stimulate the degradation of repressors in the host. Recently, KSHV RTA has been demonstrated to regulate lytic replication by promoting the degradation of the repressor K-RBP (Yang, Yan, and Wood, 2008). Therefore, silencer degradation by viral transactivators may be a common mechanism for regulating the lytic replication of herpesviruses.

K-bZIP, a leucine zipper-containing transcription factor encoded by ORF K8 can modulate viral and cellular gene expression and affect host cell functions. K-bZIP nuclear protein (Zhao et al., 2007) interacts with and represses RTA-mediated transactivation of viral promoters, including that of the K8 gene. A recent study has suggested that a new role for KbZIP is that it competitively binds to the interferon-responsive factor 3 elements leading to immune evasion (Lefort et al., 2007).

## Viral DNA Replication

As a gamma-herpesvirus, KSHV possesses both latent and lytic replication cycles (Miller et al., 1997; Renne et al., 1996). However, latency expresses only a small number of viral genes, and no infectious virus is produced during this phase. In KSHV latently infected cells, multiple copies of the viral genome are harbored and maintained as extrachromosomal episomes, and latent KSHV DNA replication is synchronized with host cell division (Ballestas, Chatis, and Kaye, 1999) The terminal repeat (TR) sequence in the KSHV genome is necessary and sufficient for persistence of the viral episome and potentially serves as the origin of latent plasmid replication (ori-P) (Ballestas and Kaye, 2001). LANA-1 binds to cis-acting region within the KSHV TR DNA and trans-acting on the ori-P to mediate episome persistence (Ballestas and Kaye, 2001). Upon KSHV reactivation with the concomitant disruption of latency, the virus switches to a lytic life cycle which facilitates its lytic encoded replication proteins (Miller et al., 1997; Renne et al., 1996a). During the viral lytic replication, KSHV expresses the majority of its genes, and viral DNA is amplified by a viral encoded replication apparatus different from the latent viral DNA replication (Gradoville et al., 2000; Wu et al., 2001).

In herpesviruses, lytic DNA replication is different in two aspects from the latent DNA replication. First, upon lytic DNA replication, viral DNA is amplified from a range of 100 to a 1,000-fold via a rolling circle mechanism, which produces viral progeny in concatemeric molecules also known as "head-to-tail" concatemers (Knipe et al., 2001). In contrast to this

rolling circle replication during viral lytic phase, latent DNA replication occurs simultaneously with the host cell division and sequentially maintains a stable and low number of viral episomes. Secondly, lytic herpesviral DNA replication requires virally encoded replication proteins with its own DNA polymerase and related viral components of the replication apparatus (Knipe et al., 2001). The herpesviral-encoded lytic replication apparatus is another distinction from the herpesviral latent DNA replication which requires the host cellular DNA polymerase along with its accessory proteins.

The herpesviral lytic DNA replication is initiated from an origin (ori-Lyt) and requires many viral gene products. The ori-Lyt is bound by a virus encoded origin-binding protein (OBP) that recruits the core replication machinery. A number of herpesvirus lytic origins have been identified and characterized (Anders et al., 1992; Anders and Punturieri, 1991; AuCoin et al., 2002; Hammerschmidt and Sugden, 1988; Pari et al., 2001; Stow, 1982; Stow and Davison, 1986). These studies indicate several common features that have been identified within the herpesviral lytic origins; for example they are rich in AT regions. These AT-rich regions are presumably sites where DNA is melted or unwound, numerous transcription factor-binding sites, and promoter enhancer elements are associated with active transcription or assembly of the transcription machinery. In the KSHV genome, two copies of the lytic DNA replication origin [ori-Lyt (L) and ori-Lyt (R)] have been identified (AuCoin et al., 2002; Lin et al., 2003). The first ori-Lyt is located in the KSHV genome between K4.2 and K5, while the second ori-Lyt is located between K12 and open reading frame 71 (ORF71). KSHV lytic origins closely resemble the lytic origin of a related Herpesvirus, rhesus macaque rhadinovirus (RRV) (Pari et al., 2001). Both RRV and KSHV lytic origins have GC-rich regions proximal to an AT-rich region. Initial

mapping studies indicated that replication was dependent on the presence of the AT-rich region and a portion of the GC-rich region (AuCoin et al., 2002; Pari et al., 2001).

The lytic herpesviral replication apparatus involving all of its necessary viral trans-acting factors required for origin dependent DNA replication has been described for the Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), human cytomegalovirus (HCMV), and herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) using a transient co-transfection replication assay (AuCoin et al., 2004; Fixman, Hayward, and Hayward, 1995; Pari et al., 2001; Sarisky and Hayward, 1996; Wang, Zhang, and Montalvo, 1998; Wu et al., 1988). Six core replication proteins are required for ori-Lyt-dependent DNA replication spanning the three herpesviral subfamilies. These proteins include DNA polymerase, processivity factor, helicase, primase, primase-associated factor, and ssDNA binding protein (Knipe et al., 2001). The KSHV genome encodes a set of six genes which have various levels of homology to their respective core replication gene counterparts in EBV, HSV, and HCMV. The six KSHV core replication proteins are listed as follows: ORF9 (POL; DNA polymerase), ORF59 (PPF; polymerase processivity factor or DNA replication protein), ORF6 (SSB; singlestranded DNA binding protein), ORF56 (PRI; component of DNA helicase-primase complex), ORF40/41 (PAF; polymerase accessory factor), and ORF44 (HEL; component helicase-primase complex). Importantly, each herpesvirus encodes an initiator protein or an origin binding protein, which allows the viral replication proteins to assemble and dock onto the ori-Lyt. The Zta protein is essential for EBV origin-dependent DNA replication and serves to activate transcription as well as play a direct role in DNA replication (Chang et al., 1990; Sarisky and Hayward, 1996). The KSHV RTA has been shown to be sufficient for KSHV viral reactivation but indispensable for viral DNA replication. Rta serves as the major transactivator of gene expression recruiting the pre-replication complexes to ori-Lyt DNA. RTA interacts with the

RRE and bZIP (K8, RAP), which binds to a cluster of C/EBP binding motifs with the aid of C/EBP alpha (Lin et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2006). Several cellular factors associated with ori-Lyt have been identified by using DNA affinity purification and mass spectrometry. These cellular proteins that bind to KSHV ori-Lyt include topoisomerases (Topo) I and II, MSH2/6, RecQL, poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase I (PARP-1), DNA-PK, Ku86/70 autoantigens, and scaffold attachment factor A (SAF-A) (Wang et al., 2008).

# **KSHV Glycoproteins and Their Putative Functions**

The Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus genome encodes several glycoproteins, some of which possess significant homology with glycoproteins of other herpesviruses. These include glycoprotein B (gB) (ORF8), gH (ORF22), gM (ORF39), gL (ORF47) (Neipel, Albrecht, and Fleckenstein, 1997; Russo et al., 1996), and gN (ORF53) (Koyano et al., 2003). In addition, KSHV encodes glycoprotein gpK8.1A, gpK8.1B, K1, vOX2 (K14) and K15 during lytic replication with no counterparts in other herpesviruses (Chandran et al., 1998a; Chandran et al., 1998b; Chung et al., 2002; Neipel et al., 1997; Schulz, 1998b). Glycoproteins serve various functions at key points along viral replication including virus attachment, penetration, cell-to-cell spread, egress, and virus-induced cell fusion. This section will review the features of these glycoproteins and describe the putative functions associated with each glycoprotein.

### **Glycoprotein B (gB)**

Glycoprotein B (gB) is one of the most conserved glycoproteins across all subfamilies of herpesviruses. Moreover, the carboxyl-tail domain of gB exhibits the highest degree of conserved homology within the gB molecule (Goltz et al., 1994; Pereira, 1994; Ross et al., 1989). gB is essential for members of the alpha- and betaherpesvirus subfamilies. gB expresses on the surface of host cells or on virion envelopes as a homodimeric membrane protein

(Claesson-Welsh and Spear, 1986; Claesson-Welsh and Spear, 1987; Horsburgh et al., 1999; Ligas and Johnson, 1988; Roop, Hutchinson, and Johnson, 1993; Spear and Longnecker, 2003).

gB is the product of the KSHV-ORF8 (Russo et al., 1996). The KSHV-gB molecule is classified as a type I integral membrane protein, 845 amino acids in length, consisting of four domains: 1.) signal peptide domain, 2.) ectodomain (exposed towards the outside of the cell), 3.) transmembrane domain, and 4.) carboxyl-tail domain (located within the cytosol). The first putative signal sequence of 23 amino acids (a.a) of KSHV-gB is an extracellular domain containing multiple glycsylation sites and multiple hydrophobic regions, of which the carboxylmost terminal region keeps gB in the membrane (Baghian et al., 2000; Pertel, 2002; Pertel, Spear, and Longnecker, 1998). The amino acids 733 through 752 constitute the transmembrane domain, the amino acid 703 is ectodomain and the 93 a.a composes carboxyl terminal tail (Wang et al., 2003). The carboxyl tail of KSHV-gB displays similar characteristics to the cytoplasmic terminal domain of HSV1-gB, in which the hydrophilic amino acid residues in this region are positively charged (Pellett et al., 1985; Pertel, Spear, and Longnecker, 1998). Based on its primary structure the predicted molecular weight of KSHV-gB would be expected to be 91.3 kDa. However, studies have shown that a fully processed gB could be detected well over 100 kDa (Akula et al., 2001a; Baghian et al., 2000; Pertel, Spear, and Longnecker, 1998). Glycosylation inhibition experiments have clearly shown that KSHV-gB contains predominantly N-linked carbohydrates (Baghian et al., 2000; Pertel, Spear, and Longnecker, 1998). In virions produced from BCBL-1 cells, the virion envelope-associated gB can be detected on the surface of both infected cells and the virion envelope (Akula et al., 2001a; Baghian et al., 2000). Virion envelope-associated gB has also been shown to have strong affinity for heparan by experiments in which KSHV gB binds to heparan-agarose beads with a biotinylated peptide of a gB-heparan

binding domain (gB-HBD peptide consisted of the following 108-117 gB-a.a. sequence: HIFKVRRYRK binds) in a dose-dependent manner to BSA-Heparan coated 96 well plates (Akula et al., 2001a).

A number of studies indicate that gB plays important roles in virion attachment and virus entry into susceptible cells: HSV-1 mutant viruses lacking gB are not able to enter into cells (Cai et al., 1987), this is because of the lack of post-attachment that can be resolved by polyethylene glycol mediated fusion of viral envelopes with cellular membranes (Cai, Gu, and Person, 1988). Point mutagenesis, in which single amino acid substitutions and/or truncations of the carboxyl terminus of gB occur, causes extensive virus-induced cell fusion (Baghian et al., 1993; Bzik et al., 1984; Cai et al., 1988; Haan, Lee, and Longnecker, 2001). Transient transfection experiments showed that the transient co-expression of HSV-1 gB along with gD, gH and gL causes cell-to-cell fusion, which is substantially increased by carboxyl terminal truncations of gB (Highlander et al., 1991; Kousoulas, Person, and Holland, 1978; Pogue-Geile et al., 1984). Similarly, transfection experiments using KSHV-gB along with gH and gL were sufficient to cause cell-to-cell fusion. However, deletion of the final 59 a.a of the KSHV-gB carboxyl tail (termed gB-Mut) substantially enhanced cell-to-cell fusion (Baghian et al, personal communication). These results suggest a direct role for gB in membrane fusion and suggest that perturbations of the carboxyl terminal domains of gB facilitate gB-mediated cell-to-cell fusion. Interestingly, our work on siRNA-mediated silencing of gB carboxyl terminal truncations showed that the carboxyl terminus of gB is indispensable for virus egress from infected cells and KSHV virions incorporate gB in the viral envelope, which is important for infectivity. attachment to cell surfaces and entry via the RGD motif.

The  $\alpha \beta \beta 1$  integrin was first implicated (Akula et al., 2001) as one of the cellular receptors utilized by KSHV for viral entry into susceptible cells. KSHV was the first herpesvirus shown to utilize integrin as a cellular receptor for target cells (Akula et al., 2002; Nemerow and Cheresh, 2002). The RGD (Arg-Gly-Asp) amino acids constitute a motif which is necessary for a myriad of cellular ligands that bind to host cell surface integrin molecules (Plow et al., 2000). The RGD motif (27-29 a.a.) is immediately behind the KSHV-gB signal peptide. Interestingly, not all herpesvirus gBs possess the gB-integrin interaction since there has been no other gB in the entire Herpesviridae family that has a similar conserved RGD motif. Integrin  $\alpha 3\beta 1$  is broadly expressed and has been detected on all cells susceptible to infection by HHV-8, including human foreskin fibroblasts (HFF) and B, epithelial, endothelial, and 293 cells (Akula et al., 2002; Plow et al., 2000; Wu and Dedhar, 2001). It is also very interesting that at similar concentrations used for the above mentioned virus neutralization experiments, RGD peptides, RGD-gB antibodies, anti-integrin antibodies and soluble integrin  $\alpha 3\beta 1$  proteins could not inhibit KSHV binding to HFF cells while soluble heparan almost completely blocked viral attachment. These results suggested a post-attachment role for the gB/integrin interaction, in which gB binding to the integrin receptor was able to facilitate viral entry into susceptible cells (Akula et al., 2002). Furthermore, the inability of these molecules to completely neutralize viral infectivity implied the potentially other cellular receptors utilized by KSHV for entry. However, a recent study has indicated that cell activity was not correlated with surface expression of integrin  $\alpha 3\beta 1$ , suggesting the presence of a putative KSHV fusion-entry receptor (Kaleeba and Berger, 2006). A very recent study has demonstrated that  $\alpha V\beta 3$  is a cellular receptor mediating both the cell adhesion and entry of KSHV into target cells through binding the RGD motif of virionassociated gB (Garrigues et al., 2008). Envelope-associated KSHV-gB clearly binds to both heparan sulfate receptors (HS) and integrin  $\alpha V\beta 3$  which are located on the surface of target cells, thus two different motifs (HBD and RGD) of KSHV-gB mediates KSHV virions binding via HS and viral entry via integrin  $\alpha V\beta 3$  cellular receptor, respectively (Akula et al., 2001a; Akula et al., 2002; Akula et al., 2001b; Garrigues et al., 2008). Interestingly, the binding of soluble gB proteins to target HFF cells induce morphological changes, e.g., cell rounding and detachment, while these cells remained viable with no noticeable cellular death (Akula et al., 2003). These results are consistent with the morphological changes noticed by integrin-mediated clumping of integrin molecules with concomitant rearrangement of the actin cytoskeleton (van der Flier and Sonnenberg, 2001).

#### <u>KSHV K8.1</u>

KSHV glycoproteins gB and K8.1A mediate initial binding of virions onto glycosaminoglycans, e.g. heparan sulfate on cell surfaces (Akula et al., 2001a; Akula et al., 2001b; Birkmann et al., 2001; Wang et al., 2001a). Consistent with the strong binding of purified K8.1A to heparan sulfate moieties on cell surfaces, initial studies showed that a soluble form of K8.1A inhibited KSHV attachment onto cells (Wang et al., 2001a). However, a later report indicated that a similar soluble form of K8.1A did not block KSHV infectivity (Birkmann et al., 2001). In addition, gB binds to integrins, such as  $\alpha V\beta$ 3 membrane receptors through a RGD motif, suggesting that integrins function as cellular receptors for KSHV entry (Naranatt et al., 2003). However, soluble integrins or RGD-containing peptides failed to inhibit virus entry into 293 cells (Inoue et al., 2003).

There are two ORFs originating from the K8.1 gene via spliced transcripts, K8.1A and K8.1B. The K8.1A cDNA encodes a 228 a.a protein containing a signal sequence, transmembrane domain and four N-glycosylation sites. The K8.1B cDNA encodes a 167 a.a

glycoprotein sharing similar amino acids and carboxyl termini with K8.1A but contains an inframe deletion (Chandran et al., 1998a; Raab et al., 1998). K8.1A is the predominant form detected within infected cells and the virion envelopes (Zhu, Puri, and Chandran, 1999). One of the striking features of the K8.1 gene is that it is co-linear to the EBV major glycoprotein gp350/220 (Gong and Kieff, 1990), gp150 of murine gammaherpesvirus 68 (MHV 68) (Stewart et al., 1996), herpesvirus saimiri (HVS) ORF 51 gene and the BOEFD1 gene of bovine herpesvirus-4 (BHV-4) (Albrecht et al., 1992; Neipel, Albrecht, and Fleckenstein, 1997; Russo et al., 1996). EBV gp350/220 has been shown to be involved in the binding of the virus to the target cells via the CD21 receptor on B cells (Fingeroth et al., 1984; Nemerow et al., 1989; Nemerow et al., 1987; Nemerow et al., 1985; Tanner et al., 1987). However, gp350/220 is not required for virus entry into fibroblasts (Janz et al., 2000). By using the recombinant KSHV BAC36 system, glycoproteins K8.1 have been indicated to be dispensable for viral entry (Luna et al., 2004).

### <u>Glycoprotein H (gH) and Glycoprotein L (gL)</u>

The products of the KSHV-ORF22 and KSHV-ORF47, gH and gL respectively form heterodimers, which are components of the virion envelope (Naranatt, Akula, and Chandran, 2002). The virion envelope embedded glycoprotein H (gH) has been highly conserved among all members of the herpesvirus family, gH has been shown to be essential for virus penetration and cell-to-cell spread (Babic et al., 1996; Duus, Hatfield, and Grose, 1995; Forghani, Ni, and Grose, 1994; Fuller, Santos, and Spear, 1989; Haddad and Hutt-Fletcher, 1989; Hutchinson et al., 1992; Lomonte et al., 1997; Mukai et al., 1997). Expression of gH in the absence of gL leads to a protein that is incorrectly folded and processed. Heterodimeric complex formation between gH and gL is a common theme among herpesviruses: Herpes simplex virus-type1 (HSV-1)

(Hutchinson et al., 1992), varicella zoster virus (VZV) (Forghani, Ni, and Grose, 1994), human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) (Kaye, Gompels, and Minson, 1992), human herpesvirus 6 (HHV-6) (Liu et al., 1993), HHV-7 (Mukai et al., 1997), Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) (Yaswen et al., 1993). However, a heterocomplex of the gH, gL, and gp42 complex formed in EBV is required for the infectivity of B cells; although, gp42 is not required for the infectivity of epithelial cells (Li, Turk, and Hutt-Fletcher, 1995).

Many studies have shown that gH is the only viral fusion glycoprotein displaying typical structural-functional features. Coiled-coil domains in gB and gH have been indicated to be associated with human cytomegalovirus membrane fusion (Lopper and Compton, 2004). It has been reported that the ectodomain of HSV-1 gH contains a hydrophobic membrane alpha-helix (residues 377 to 397) with attributes of an internal fusion peptide (Gianni et al., 2005; Gianni, Menotti, and Campadelli-Fiume, 2005). Moreover, heptad repeat 1 (HR, residues 443 to 471) with a high propensity to form a coiled-coil located downstream of this alpha-helix and plays critical role in virus entry and fusion (Gianni et al., 2006a). HR-2 of gH interacts with HR-1 and serves critical roles in virus entry and fusion. Complex formation between HR-1 and HR-2 is independent of the presence of adjacent gH sequences and of additional glycoproteins involved in entry and fusion (Gianni et al., 2006b). Hydrophobic alpha-helices 1 and 2 of gH are capable of interacting with lipids and promoting virus infection and fusion (Gianni et al., 2006a).

KSHV gL is required for the proper processing and transport of KSHV gH to the infected cell membranes. Anti-gH and anti-gL rabbit antibodies neutralized KSHV infectivity without inhibiting the binding of virus to target cells, suggesting that gH and gL play an important role in the post-binding step of KSHV infection. KSHV gH and gL expression can be easily detected during lytic replication induced by TPA in BCBL-1 cells (Naranatt, Akula, and Chandran, 2002).

KSHV-gL is independently expressed on cell surfaces. However, independent expression of gH without gL causes gH mis-folding and aggregation of gH in the ER. In contrast, co-expression of KSHV gH with gL facilitates the correct processing of gH and mediates transport through the Golgi apparatus with subsequent cell surface expression (Naranatt, Akula, and Chandran, 2002). Antibodies against either gH or gL do not inhibit KSHV binding, while anti-gH and anti-gL antibodies do neutralize KSHV infectivity at a post-attachment step of HHV-8 infection (Naranatt, Akula, and Chandran, 2002).

### Glycoprotein M (gM) and Glycoprotein N (gN)

The KSHV-ORF39 and KSHV-ORF53 encode gM and gN, respectively. The gM and gN are conserved throughout the entire family of Herpesviridae. Immunoprecipitation experiments have shown that both KSHV-gM and gN are N-glycosylated and form heterodimers. The heterodimers formation between gM and gN is similar to the heteroduplex formation in other herpesviruses (Jons, Dijkstra, and Mettenleiter, 1998; Lake, Molesworth, and Hutt-Fletcher, 1998; Mach et al., 2000; Rudolph et al., 2002; Tischer et al., 2002; Wu, Zhu, and Letchworth, 1998). The glycosylated forms of gM are observed at 46kDa and 80kDa. The molecular sizes are reduced to 39kDa and 71kDa with the addition of tunicamycin (an inhibitor of N-glycosylation). The glycosylated form of gN is approximately 26kDa and upon tunicamycin treatment the unglycosylated form is approximately 18kDa. gN has shown to be required for proper post-translational modification and transport of gM to the cell surface (Koyano et al., 2003). In addition, gM was present on the surface of the virion envelope as indicated by an antipeptide antibody directed against gM reacted with double-purified sucrose gradient centrifugations (Koyano et al., 2003). The KSHV gM and -gN heterocomplex was shown to

inhibit cell fusion in an in vitro cell fusion assay of HSV-1 and Mo-MuLV (Molony murine leukemia virus) (Koyano et al., 2003).

## **Glycoprotein OX2 (vOX2)**

Viral genomic analysis of KSHV suggests that ORF K14 possesses a significant level of homology with cellular OX2, currently designated as viral OX2 (vOX2). Cellular OX2 belongs to a group of leukocyte glycoproteins which are expressed on the surface of a myriad of cells: activated T cells, B cells, follicular dendritic cells, neurons, and vascular endothelial cells (Wright et al., 2003; Wright et al., 2000). The respective receptor for CD200 is CD200R, which has been primarily found mainly on cells of myeloid origin (Wright et al., 2000; Wright et al., 2003). A study has indicated that the immunosuppressive effect of CD200/CD200R interaction may be associated with T-cell; since the receptor CD200R is also present on the surface of certain T-cells (Wright et al., 2003). CD200 possesses a small carboxyl-tail without noticeable signal transduction motifs. However, the CD200R possesses a large cytoplasmic tail with tyrosine-based signaling motifs, which potentially could be used to deliver its restrictive immunological effect on myeloid cells (Wright et al., 2003). The KSHV ORFK14 encodes the vOX2 specifying 271 amino acids, which is similar to both cellular OX2 (278 a.a) and RRV R14 (253 a.a) (Alexander et al., 2000; Searles et al., 1999).

The predicted KSHV vOX2 contains a typical signal peptide sequence at its aminoterminal region and five potential N-glycosylation sites in its extracellular domain. ORFK 14 (vOX2) exhibits a low 40% DNA sequence identity to cellular OX2. vOX2 binds to the receptor CD200R with almost identical affinity and kinetics as the cellular OX2 (Chung et al., 2002). The c-OX2-OX2R interaction delivers a restrictive signal to macrophages thus limiting macrophage activation. Subsequently, blocking of this interaction with anti-OX2R antibody exacerbates tissue damage in inflammatory sites (Wright et al., 2000). CD200R on the surface of macrophages can interact with vOX2 expressed on the surface of lytic KSHV-infected cells. It has also shown that the KSHV vOX2 can inhibit the TNF- $\alpha$  secretion from activated macrophages via CD200R-vOX2 interaction (Foster-Cuevas et al., 2004).

vOX2 encodes a glycosylated protein with an apparent molecular mass of 55 kDa, is expressed on the surface of KSHV-infected cells during viral lytic replication and specifically recognizes myeloid-lineage cells (Chung et al., 2002). Viral homologs to CD200 span large taxonomical gaps, including betaherpesvirinae (HHV-6) (Gompels et al., 1995) and HHV-7 (Muralidhar et al., 2000); Gammaherpesvirinae (rhesus macaque rhadinovirus) (Desrosiers et al., 1997; Searles et al., 1999) and KSHV (Chang et al., 1994); along with numerous viruses within the Pox family (Cameron et al., 1999; Lee, Essani, and Smith, 2001; Willer, McFadden, and Evans, 1999). These evidences suggest a common viral immunoevasion strategy which negatively restricts activated macrophages, thus potentially providing an explanation for KS sarcomagenesis (Chung et al., 2002; Foster-Cuevas et al., 2004). vOX2 fused with the Fc domain of human immunoglobulin G1 has been reported to inhibit neutrophil oxidative burst and inhibited the production of pro-inflammatory chemokines (IL-8 and monocyte chemo-attractant protein 1) by monocytes/macrophages. Therefore, vOX2 may be associated with immune dysfunction and could have anti-inflammatory therapeutic potential (Rezaee et al., 2005).

## REFERENCES

Aagaard, L., Laible, G., Selenko, P., Schmid, M., Dorn, R., Schotta, G., Kuhfittig, S., Wolf, A., Lebersorger, A., Singh, P. B., Reuter, G., and Jenuwein, T. (1999). Functional mammalian homologues of the Drosophila PEV-modifier Su(var)3-9 encode centromereassociated proteins which complex with the heterochromatin component M31. *Embo J* 18(7), 1923-38.

- Ablashi, D. V., Chatlynne, L. G., Whitman, J. E., Jr., and Cesarman, E. (2002). Spectrum of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus, or human herpesvirus 8, diseases. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 15(3), 439-64.
- Akula, S. M., Naranatt, P. P., Walia, N. S., Wang, F. Z., Fegley, B., and Chandran, B. (2003). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (human herpesvirus 8) infection of human fibroblast cells occurs through endocytosis. *J Virol* 77(14), 7978-90.
- Akula, S. M., Pramod, N. P., Wang, F. Z., and Chandran, B. (2001a). Human herpesvirus 8 envelope-associated glycoprotein B interacts with heparan sulfate-like moieties. *Virology* 284(2), 235-49.
- Akula, S. M., Pramod, N. P., Wang, F. Z., and Chandran, B. (2002). Integrin alpha3beta1 (CD 49c/29) is a cellular receptor for Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV/HHV-8) entry into the target cells. *Cell* 108(3), 407-19.
- Akula, S. M., Wang, F. Z., Vieira, J., and Chandran, B. (2001b). Human herpesvirus 8 interaction with target cells involves heparan sulfate. *Virology* 282(2), 245-55.
- Albrecht, J. C., Nicholas, J., Cameron, K. R., Newman, C., Fleckenstein, B., and Honess, R. W. (1992). Herpesvirus saimiri has a gene specifying a homologue of the cellular membrane glycoprotein CD59. *Virology* 190(1), 527-30.
- Alexander, L., Denekamp, L., Knapp, A., Auerbach, M. R., Damania, B., and Desrosiers, R. C. (2000). The primary sequence of rhesus monkey rhadinovirus isolate 26-95: sequence similarities to Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus and rhesus monkey rhadinovirus isolate 17577. J Virol 74(7), 3388-98.
- Aluigi, M. G., Albini, A., Carlone, S., Repetto, L., De Marchi, R., Icardi, A., Moro, M., Noonan, D., and Benelli, R. (1996). KSHV sequences in biopsies and cultured spindle cells of epidemic, iatrogenic and Mediterranean forms of Kaposi's sarcoma. *Res Virol* 147(5), 267-75.
- Ambroziak, J. A., Blackbourn, D. J., Herndier, B. G., Glogau, R. G., Gullett, J. H., McDonald, A. R., Lennette, E. T., and Levy, J. A. (1995). Herpes-like sequences in HIV-infected and uninfected Kaposi's sarcoma patients. *Science* 268(5210), 582-3.
- Ambroziak, J. A., Blackbourn, D. J., Herndier, B. G., Glogau, R. G., Gullett, J. H., McDonald, A. R., Lennette, E. T., and Levy, J. A.. Herpes-like sequences in HIV-infected and uninfected Kaposi's sarcoma patients. Science 268(5210), 582-3. (1995).
- Anders, D. G., Kacica, M. A., Pari, G., and Punturieri, S. M. (1992). Boundaries and structure of human cytomegalovirus oriLyt, a complex origin for lytic-phase DNA replication. *J Virol* 66(6), 3373-84.

- Anders, D. G., and Punturieri, S. M. (1991). Multicomponent origin of cytomegalovirus lyticphase DNA replication. *J Virol* 65(2), 931-7.
- Andreoni, M., Goletti, D., Pezzotti, P., Pozzetto, A., Monini, P., Sarmati, L., Farchi, F., Tisone, G., Piazza, A., Pisani, F., Angelico, M., Leone, P., Citterio, F., Ensoli, B., and Rezza, G. (2001). Prevalence, incidence and correlates of HHV-8/KSHV infection and Kaposi's sarcoma in renal and liver transplant recipients. *J Infect* 43(3), 195-9.
- Aoki, Y., Jones, K. D., and Tosato, G. (2000). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus-encoded interleukin-6. *J Hematother Stem Cell Res* 9(2), 137-45.
- Aoki, Y., and Tosato, G. (2003). Pathogenesis and manifestations of human herpesvirus-8associated disorders. *Semin Hematol* 40(2), 143-53.
- Arvanitakis, L., Mesri, E. A., Nador, R. G., Said, J. W., Asch, A. S., Knowles, D. M., and Cesarman, E. (1996). Establishment and characterization of a primary effusion (body cavity-based) lymphoma cell line (BC-3) harboring kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV/HHV-8) in the absence of Epstein-Barr virus. *Blood* 88(7), 2648-54.
- AuCoin, D. P., Colletti, K. S., Cei, S. A., Papouskova, I., Tarrant, M., and Pari, G. S. (2004). Amplification of the Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus/human herpesvirus 8 lytic origin of DNA replication is dependent upon a cis-acting AT-rich region and an ORF50 response element and the trans-acting factors ORF50 (K-Rta) and K8 (K-bZIP). *Virology* 318(2), 542-55.
- AuCoin, D. P., Colletti, K. S., Xu, Y., Cei, S. A., and Pari, G. S. (2002). Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus (human herpesvirus 8) contains two functional lytic origins of DNA replication. *J Virol* 76(15), 7890-6.
- Babic, N., Klupp, B. G., Makoschey, B., Karger, A., Flamand, A., and Mettenleiter, T. C. (1996). Glycoprotein gH of pseudorabies virus is essential for penetration and propagation in cell culture and in the nervous system of mice. *J Gen Virol* 77 (Pt 9), 2277-85.
- Baghian, A., Huang, L., Newman, S., Jayachandra, S., and Kousoulas, K. G. (1993). Truncation of the carboxy-terminal 28 amino acids of glycoprotein B specified by herpes simplex virus type 1 mutant amb1511-7 causes extensive cell fusion. *J Virol* 67(4), 2396-401.
- Baghian, A., Huang, L., Newman, S., Jayachandra, S., and Kousoulas, K. G. Truncation of the carboxy-terminal 28 amino acids of glycoprotein B specified by herpes simplex virus type 1 mutant amb1511-7 causes extensive cell fusion. J Virol 67(4), 2396-401. (1993). J Virol, 2396-401.
- Baghian, A., Luftig, M., Black, J. B., Meng, Y. X., Pau, C. P., Voss, T., Pellett, P. E., and Kousoulas, K. G. (2000). Glycoprotein B of human herpesvirus 8 is a component of the

virion in a cleaved form composed of amino- and carboxyl-terminal fragments. *Virology* 269(1), 18-25.

- Ballestas, M. E., Chatis, P. A., and Kaye, K. M. (1999). Efficient persistence of extrachromosomal KSHV DNA mediated by latency-associated nuclear antigen. *Science* 284(5414), 641-4.
- Ballestas, M. E., and Kaye, K. M. (2001). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus latencyassociated nuclear antigen 1 mediates episome persistence through cis-acting terminal repeat (TR) sequence and specifically binds TR DNA. *J Virol* 75(7), 3250-8.
- Banfield, B. W., Leduc, Y., Esford, L., Visalli, R. J., Brandt, C. R., and Tufaro, F. (1995). Evidence for an interaction of herpes simplex virus with chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans during infection. *Virology* 208(2), 531-9.
- Bannister, A. J., Zegerman, P., Partridge, J. F., Miska, E. A., Thomas, J. O., Allshire, R. C., and Kouzarides, T. (2001). Selective recognition of methylated lysine 9 on histone H3 by the HP1 chromo domain. *Nature* 410(6824), 120-4.
- Bechtel, J., Grundhoff, A., and Ganem, D. (2005). RNAs in the virion of Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus. *J Virol* 79(16), 10138-46.
- Birkmann, A., Mahr, K., Ensser, A., Yaguboglu, S., Titgemeyer, F., Fleckenstein, B., and Neipel, F. (2001). Cell surface heparan sulfate is a receptor for human herpesvirus 8 and interacts with envelope glycoprotein K8.1. *J Virol* 75(23), 11583-93.
- Blackbourn, D. J., Lennette, E., Klencke, B., Moses, A., Chandran, B., Weinstein, M., Glogau, R. G., Witte, M. H., Way, D. L., Kutzkey, T., Herndier, B., and Levy, J. A. (2000). The restricted cellular host range of human herpesvirus 8. *Aids* 14(9), 1123-33.
- Blackbourn, D. J., and Levy, J. A. (1997). Human herpesvirus 8 in semen and prostate. *Aids* 11(2), 249-50.
- Booy, F. P., Newcomb, W. W., Trus, B. L., Brown, J. C., Baker, T. S., and Steven, A. C. (1991). Liquid-crystalline, phage-like packing of encapsidated DNA in herpes simplex virus. *Cell* 64(5), 1007-15.
- Borkovic, S. P., and Schwartz, R. A. 1981. Kaposi's sarcoma presenting in the homosexual man a new and striking phenomenon! Ariz Med 38(12), 902-4. (1981).
- Boshoff, C. (2002). Kaposi's sarcoma biology. IUBMB Life 53(4-5), 259-61.
- Bowser, B. S., DeWire, S. M., and Damania, B. (2002). Transcriptional regulation of the K1 gene product of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. *J Virol* 76(24), 12574-83.

- Bresnahan, W. A., and Shenk, T. (2000). A subset of viral transcripts packaged within human cytomegalovirus particles. *Science* 288(5475), 2373-6.
- Bryan, B. A., Dyson, O. F., and Akula, S. M. (2006). Identifying cellular genes crucial for the reactivation of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus latency. *J Gen Virol* 87(Pt 3), 519-29.
- Bublot, M., Lomonte, P., Lequarre, A. S., Albrecht, J. C., Nicholas, J., Fleckenstein, B., Pastoret, P. P., and Thiry, E. (1992). Genetic relationships between bovine herpesvirus 4 and the gammaherpesviruses Epstein-Barr virus and herpesvirus saimiri. *Virology* 190(2), 654-65.
- Burysek, L., and Pitha, P. M. (2001). Latently expressed human herpesvirus 8-encoded interferon regulatory factor 2 inhibits double-stranded RNA-activated protein kinase. *J Virol* 75(5), 2345-52.
- Bzik, D. J., Fox, B. A., DeLuca, N. A., and Person, S. (1984). Nucleotide sequence of a region of the herpes simplex virus type 1 gB glycoprotein gene: mutations affecting rate of virus entry and cell fusion. *Virology* 137(1), 185-90.
- Cai, W. H., Gu, B., and Person, S. (1988). Role of glycoprotein B of herpes simplex virus type 1 in viral entry and cell fusion. *J Virol* 62(8), 2596-604.
- Cai, W. Z., Person, S., DebRoy, C., and Gu, B. H. (1988). Functional regions and structural features of the gB glycoprotein of herpes simplex virus type 1. An analysis of linker insertion mutants. *J Mol Biol* 201(3), 575-88.
- Cai, W. Z., Person, S., Warner, S. C., Zhou, J. H., and DeLuca, N. A. (1987). Linker-insertion nonsense and restriction-site deletion mutations of the gB glycoprotein gene of herpes simplex virus type 1. *J Virol* 61(3), 714-21.
- Cai, X., Lu, S., Zhang, Z., Gonzalez, C. M., Damania, B., and Cullen, B. R. (2005). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus expresses an array of viral microRNAs in latently infected cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102(15), 5570-5.
- Cameron, C., Hota-Mitchell, S., Chen, L., Barrett, J., Cao, J. X., Macaulay, C., Willer, D., Evans, D., and McFadden, G. (1999). The complete DNA sequence of myxoma virus. *Virology* 264(2), 298-318.
- Carbone, A., Cilia, A. M., Gloghini, A., Capello, D., Todesco, M., Quattrone, S., Volpe, R., and Gaidano, G. (1998). Establishment and characterization of EBV-positive and EBVnegative primary effusion lymphoma cell lines harbouring human herpesvirus type-8. *Br J Haematol* 102(4), 1081-9.

- Cardone, G., Winkler, D. C., Trus, B. L., Cheng, N., Heuser, J. E., Newcomb, W. W., Brown, J. C., and Steven, A. C. (2007). Visualization of the herpes simplex virus portal in situ by cryo-electron tomography. *Virology* 361(2), 426-34.
- Cattani, P., Capuano, M., Cerimele, F., La Parola, I. L., Santangelo, R., Masini, C., Cerimele, D., and Fadda, G. (1999). Human herpesvirus 8 seroprevalence and evaluation of nonsexual transmission routes by detection of DNA in clinical specimens from human immunodeficiency virus-seronegative patients from central and southern Italy, with and without Kaposi's sarcoma. *J Clin Microbiol* 37(4), 1150-3.
- Cattani, P., Capuano, M., Graffeo, R., Ricci, R., Cerimele, F., Cerimele, D., Nanni, G., and Fadda, G. (2001). Kaposi's sarcoma associated with previous human herpesvirus 8 infection in kidney transplant recipients. *J Clin Microbiol* 39(2), 506-8.
- Cattelan, A. M., Calabro, M. L., Gasperini, P., Aversa, S. M., Zanchetta, M., Meneghetti, F., De Rossi, A., and Chieco-Bianchi, L. (2001). Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome-related Kaposi's sarcoma regression after highly active antiretroviral therapy: biologic correlates of clinical outcome. *J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr*(28), 44-9.
- Cerimele, F., Curreli, F., Ely, S., Friedman-Kien, A. E., Cesarman, E., and Flore, O. (2001). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus can productively infect primary human keratinocytes and alter their growth properties. *J Virol* 75(5), 2435-43.
- Cesarman, E. (2002). The role of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV/HHV-8) in lymphoproliferative diseases. *Recent Results Cancer Res* 159, 27-37.
- Cesarman, E., Chang, Y., Moore, P. S., Said, J. W., and Knowles, D. M. (1995). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus-like DNA sequences in AIDS-related body-cavity-based lymphomas. *N Engl J Med* 332(18), 1186-91.
- Cesarman, E., Nador, R. G., Aozasa, K., Delsol, G., Said, J. W., and Knowles, D. M. (1996a). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus in non-AIDS related lymphomas occurring in body cavities. *Am J Pathol* 149(1), 53-7.
- Cesarman, E., Nador, R. G., Bai, F., Bohenzky, R. A., Russo, J. J., Moore, P. S., Chang, Y., and Knowles, D. M. (1996b). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus contains G proteincoupled receptor and cyclin D homologs which are expressed in Kaposi's sarcoma and malignant lymphoma. *J Virol* 70(11), 8218-23.
- Chan, S. R., Bloomer, C., and Chandran, B. (1998). Identification and characterization of human herpesvirus-8 lytic cycle-associated ORF 59 protein and the encoding cDNA by monoclonal antibody. *Virology* 240(1), 118-26.

- Chandran, B., Bloomer, C., Chan, S. R., Zhu, L., Goldstein, E., and Horvat, R. (1998a). Human herpesvirus-8 ORF K8.1 gene encodes immunogenic glycoproteins generated by spliced transcripts. *Virology* 249(1), 140-9.
- Chandran, B., Smith, M. S., Koelle, D. M., Corey, L., Horvat, R., and Goldstein, E. (1998b). Reactivities of human sera with human herpesvirus-8-infected BCBL-1 cells and identification of HHV-8-specific proteins and glycoproteins and the encoding cDNAs. *Virology* 243(1), 208-17.
- Chang, J. T., Schmid, M. F., Rixon, F. J., and Chiu, W. (2007). Electron cryotomography reveals the portal in the herpesvirus capsid. *J Virol* 81(4), 2065-8.
- Chang, P. J., Shedd, D., Gradoville, L., Cho, M. S., Chen, L. W., Chang, J., and Miller, G. (2002). Open reading frame 50 protein of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus directly activates the viral PAN and K12 genes by binding to related response elements. J Virol 76(7), 3168-78.
- Chang, Y., Cesarman, E., Pessin, M. S., Lee, F., Culpepper, J., Knowles, D. M., and Moore, P. S. (1994). Identification of herpesvirus-like DNA sequences in AIDS-associated Kaposi's sarcoma. *Science* 266(5192), 1865-9.
- Chang, Y., and Moore, P. S. (1996). Kaposi's Sarcoma (KS)-associated herpesvirus and its role in KS. *Infect Agents Dis* 5(4), 215-22.
- Chang, Y., Moore, P. S., Talbot, S. J., Boshoff, C. H., Zarkowska, T., Godden, K., Paterson, H., Weiss, R. A., and Mittnacht, S. (1996). Cyclin encoded by KS herpesvirus. *Nature* 382(6590), 410.
- Chang, Y. N., Dong, D. L., Hayward, G. S., and Hayward, S. D. (1990). The Epstein-Barr virus Zta transactivator: a member of the bZIP family with unique DNA-binding specificity and a dimerization domain that lacks the characteristic heptad leucine zipper motif. J Virol 64(7), 3358-69.
- Chen, J., Ueda, K., Sakakibara, S., Okuno, T., Parravicini, C., Corbellino, M., and Yamanishi, K. (2001). Activation of latent Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus by demethylation of the promoter of the lytic transactivator. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98(7), 4119-24.
- Chen, J., Ueda, K., Sakakibara, S., Okuno, T., and Yamanishi, K. (2000). Transcriptional regulation of the Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus viral interferon regulatory factor gene. *J Virol* 74(18), 8623-34.
- Chung, Y. H., Means, R. E., Choi, J. K., Lee, B. S., and Jung, J. U. (2002). Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus OX2 glycoprotein activates myeloid-lineage cells to induce inflammatory cytokine production. *J Virol* 76(10), 4688-98.

- Ciufo, D. M., Cannon, J. S., Poole, L. J., Wu, F. Y., Murray, P., Ambinder, R. F., and Hayward, G. S. (2001). Spindle cell conversion by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus: formation of colonies and plaques with mixed lytic and latent gene expression in infected primary dermal microvascular endothelial cell cultures. *J Virol* 75(12), 5614-26.
- Claesson-Welsh, L., and Spear, P. G. (1986). Oligomerization of herpes simplex virus glycoprotein B. *J Virol* 60(2), 803-6.
- Claesson-Welsh, L., and Spear, P. G. (1987). Amino-terminal sequence, synthesis, and membrane insertion of glycoprotein B of herpes simplex virus type 1. *J Virol* 61(1), 1-7.
- Cook, R. D., Hodgson, T. A., Molyneux, E. M., Borgstein, E., Porter, S. R., and Teo, C. G. (2002a). Tracking familial transmission of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus using restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis of latent nuclear antigen. J Virol Methods 105(2), 297-303.
- Cook, R. D., Hodgson, T. A., Waugh, A. C., Molyneux, E. M., Borgstein, E., Sherry, A., Teo, C. G., and Porter, S. R. (2002b). Mixed patterns of transmission of human herpesvirus-8 (Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus) in Malawian families. *J Gen Virol* 83(Pt 7), 1613-9.
- Cotter, M. A., 2nd, and Robertson, E. S. (1999). The latency-associated nuclear antigen tethers the Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus genome to host chromosomes in body cavity-based lymphoma cells. *Virology* 264(2), 254-64.
- Cotter, M. A., 2nd, and Robertson, E. S. (2002). Molecular biology of Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus. *Front Biosci* 7, d358-75.
- Cotter, M. A., 2nd, Subramanian, C., and Robertson, E. S. (2001). The Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus latency-associated nuclear antigen binds to specific sequences at the left end of the viral genome through its carboxy-terminus. *Virology* 291(2), 241-59.
- Curreli, S., Romerio, F., Secchiero, P., and Zella, D. (2002). IFN-alpha2b increases interleukin-10 expression in primary activated human CD8+ T cells. *J Interferon Cytokine Res* 22(12), 1167-73.
- Davis, D. A., Humphrey, R. W., Newcomb, F. M., O'Brien, T. R., Goedert, J. J., Straus, S. E., and Yarchoan, R. (1997). Detection of serum antibodies to a Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus-specific peptide. *J Infect Dis* 175(5), 1071-9.
- Decker, L. L., Shankar, P., Khan, G., Freeman, R. B., Dezube, B. J., Lieberman, J., and Thorley-Lawson, D. A. (1996). The Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV) is present as an intact latent genome in KS tissue but replicates in the peripheral blood mononuclear cells of KS patients. *J Exp Med* 184(1), 283-8.

- Dedicoat, M., and Newton, R. (2003). Review of the distribution of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV) in Africa in relation to the incidence of Kaposi's sarcoma. *Br J Cancer* 88(1), 1-3.
- Deng, B., O'Connor, C. M., Kedes, D. H., and Zhou, Z. H. (2007). Direct visualization of the putative portal in the Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus capsid by cryoelectron tomography. *J Virol* 81(7), 3640-4.
- Deng, B., O'Connor, C. M., Kedes, D. H., and Zhou, Z. H. (2008). Cryo-electron tomography of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus capsids reveals dynamic scaffolding structures essential to capsid assembly and maturation. J Struct Biol 161(3), 419-27.
- Deng, H., Chu, J. T., Rettig, M. B., Martinez-Maza, O., and Sun, R. (2002a). Rta of the human herpesvirus 8/Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus up-regulates human interleukin-6 gene expression. *Blood* 100(5), 1919-21.
- Deng, H., Song, M. J., Chu, J. T., and Sun, R. (2002b). Transcriptional regulation of the interleukin-6 gene of human herpesvirus 8 (Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus). J Virol 76(16), 8252-64.
- Desrosiers, R. C., Sasseville, V. G., Czajak, S. C., Zhang, X., Mansfield, K. G., Kaur, A., Johnson, R. P., Lackner, A. A., and Jung, J. U. (1997). A herpesvirus of rhesus monkeys related to the human Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. *J Virol* 71(12), 9764-9.
- Dittmer, D., Lagunoff, M., Renne, R., Staskus, K., Haase, A., and Ganem, D. (1998). A cluster of latently expressed genes in Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. *J Virol* 72(10), 8309-15.
- Dolyniuk, M., Pritchett, R., and Kieff, E. (1976). Proteins of Epstein-Barr virus. I. Analysis of the polypeptides of purified enveloped Epstein-Barr virus. *J Virol* 17(3), 935-49.
- Dourmishev, L. A., Dourmishev, A. L., Palmeri, D., Schwartz, R. A., and Lukac, D. M. (2003). Molecular genetics of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (human herpesvirus-8) epidemiology and pathogenesis. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* 67(2), 175-212, table of contents.
- Drexler, H. G., Uphoff, C. C., Gaidano, G., and Carbone, A. (1998). Lymphoma cell lines: in vitro models for the study of HHV-8+ primary effusion lymphomas (body cavity-based lymphomas). *Leukemia* 12(10), 1507-17.
- Dukers, N. H., Renwick, N., Prins, M., Geskus, R. B., Schulz, T. F., Weverling, G. J., Coutinho, R. A., and Goudsmit, J. (2000). Risk factors for human herpesvirus 8 seropositivity and seroconversion in a cohort of homosexual men. *Am J Epidemiol* 151(3), 213-24.

- Dupin, N., Fisher, C., Kellam, P., Ariad, S., Tulliez, M., Franck, N., van Marck, E., Salmon, D., Gorin, I., Escande, J. P., Weiss, R. A., Alitalo, K., and Boshoff, C. (1999). Distribution of human herpesvirus-8 latently infected cells in Kaposi's sarcoma, multicentric Castleman's disease, and primary effusion lymphoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96(8), 4546-51.
- Duus, K. M., and Grose, C. (2007). Human herpesvirus 8, blood transfusions, and hemophagocytic syndrome. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 26(3), 278-9.
- Duus, K. M., Hatfield, C., and Grose, C. (1995). Cell surface expression and fusion by the varicella-zoster virus gH:gL glycoprotein complex: analysis by laser scanning confocal microscopy. *Virology* 210(2), 429-40.
- Duus, K. M., Lentchitsky, V., Wagenaar, T., Grose, C., and Webster-Cyriaque, J. (2004). Wildtype Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus isolated from the oropharynx of immunecompetent individuals has tropism for cultured oral epithelial cells. *J Virol* 78(8), 4074-84.
- Dyson, O. F., Oxendine, T. L., Hamden, K. E., Ford, P. W., and Akula, S. M. (2008). Differential regulation of the attachment of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV)-infected human B cells to extracellular matrix by KSHV-encoded gB and cellular alphaV integrins. *Cell Microbiol*.
- Emond, J. P., Marcelin, A. G., Dorent, R., Milliancourt, C., Dupin, N., Frances, C., Agut, H., Gandjbakhch, I., and Calvez, V. (2002). Kaposi's sarcoma associated with previous human herpesvirus 8 infection in heart transplant recipients. *J Clin Microbiol* 40(6), 2217-9.
- Enbom, M., Linde, A., and Evengard, B. (2000). No evidence of active infection with human herpesvirus 6 (HHV-6) or HHV-8 in chronic fatigue syndrome. *J Clin Microbiol* 38(6), 2457.
- Enbom, M., Sheldon, J., Lennette, E., Schulz, T., Ablashi, D. V., Neipel, F., Biberfeld, P., Carlberg, H., Ljungman, P., Nilsson, A., Soderstrom, T., Wadstrom, J., and Linde, A. (2000). Antibodies to human herpesvirus 8 latent and lytic antigens in blood donors and potential high-risk groups in Sweden: variable frequencies found in a multicenter serological study. *J Med Virol* 62(4), 498-504.
- Fakhari, F. D., and Dittmer, D. P. (2002). Charting latency transcripts in Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus by whole-genome real-time quantitative PCR. *J Virol* 76(12), 6213-23.

- Fakhari, F. D., Jeong, J. H., Kanan, Y., and Dittmer, D. P. (2006). The latency-associated nuclear antigen of Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus induces B cell hyperplasia and lymphoma. *J Clin Invest* 116(3), 735-42.
- Falke, D., Siegert, R., and Vogell, W. (1959). [Electron microscopic findings on the problem of double membrane formation in herpes simplex virus.]. Arch Gesamte Virusforsch 9, 484-96.
- Farge, D., Lebbe, C., Marjanovic, Z., Tuppin, P., Mouquet, C., Peraldi, M. N., Lang, P., Hiesse, C., Antoine, C., Legendre, C., Bedrossian, J., Gagnadoux, M. F., Loirat, C., Pellet, C., Sheldon, J., Golmard, J. L., Agbalika, F., and Schulz, T. F. (1999). Human herpes virus-8 and other risk factors for Kaposi's sarcoma in kidney transplant recipients. Groupe Cooperatif de Transplantation d' Ile de France (GCIF). *Transplantation* 67(9), 1236-42.
- Feigal, E. G., Cheson, B. D., and Nelson, A. P. (1997). Clinical trials referral resource. Clinical trials in lung cancer. Oncology (Williston Park) 11(11), 1686, 1688, 1691, 1694.
- Fejer, G., Medveczky, M. M., Horvath, E., Lane, B., Chang, Y., and Medveczky, P. G. (2003). The latency-associated nuclear antigen of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus interacts preferentially with the terminal repeats of the genome in vivo and this complex is sufficient for episomal DNA replication. *J Gen Virol* 84(Pt 6), 1451-62.
- Fingeroth, J. D., Weis, J. J., Tedder, T. F., Strominger, J. L., Biro, P. A., and Fearon, D. T. (1984). Epstein-Barr virus receptor of human B lymphocytes is the C3d receptor CR2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 81(14), 4510-4.
- Fixman, E. D., Hayward, G. S., and Hayward, S. D. (1995). Replication of Epstein-Barr virus oriLyt: lack of a dedicated virally encoded origin-binding protein and dependence on Zta in cotransfection assays. *J Virol* 69(5), 2998-3006.
- Flore, O., Rafii, S., Ely, S., O'Leary, J. J., Hyjek, E. M., and Cesarman, E. (1998). Transformation of primary human endothelial cells by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. *Nature* 394(6693), 588-92.
- Foreman, K. E., Bacon, P. E., Hsi, E. D., and Nickoloff, B. J. (1997). In situ polymerase chain reaction-based localization studies support role of human herpesvirus-8 as the cause of two AIDS-related neoplasms: Kaposi's sarcoma and body cavity lymphoma. *J Clin Invest* 99(12), 2971-8.
- Forghani, B., Ni, L., and Grose, C. (1994). Neutralization epitope of the varicella-zoster virus gH:gL glycoprotein complex. *Virology* 199(2), 458-62.

- Foster-Cuevas, M., Wright, G. J., Puklavec, M. J., Brown, M. H., and Barclay, A. N. (2004). Human herpesvirus 8 K14 protein mimics CD200 in down-regulating macrophage activation through CD200 receptor. *J Virol* 78(14), 7667-76.
- Foster, T. P., Melancon, J. M., and Kousoulas, K. G. An alpha-helical domain within the carboxyl terminus of herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) glycoprotein B (gB) is associated with cell fusion and resistance to heparin inhibition of cell fusion. Virology 287(1), 18-29. (2001).
- Fuller, A. O., Santos, R. E., and Spear, P. G. (1989). Neutralizing antibodies specific for glycoprotein H of herpes simplex virus permit viral attachment to cells but prevent penetration. *J Virol* 63(8), 3435-43.
- Gao, S. J., Boshoff, C., Jayachandra, S., Weiss, R. A., Chang, Y., and Moore, P. S. (1997). KSHV ORF K9 (vIRF) is an oncogene which inhibits the interferon signaling pathway. *Oncogene* 15(16), 1979-85.
- Gao, S. J., Deng, J. H., and Zhou, F. C. (2003). Productive lytic replication of a recombinant Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus in efficient primary infection of primary human endothelial cells. *J Virol* 77(18), 9738-49.
- Gao, S. J., Kingsley, L., Hoover, D. R., Spira, T. J., Rinaldo, C. R., Saah, A., Phair, J., Detels, R., Parry, P., Chang, Y., and Moore, P. S. (1996a). Seroconversion to antibodies against Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus-related latent nuclear antigens before the development of Kaposi's sarcoma. *N Engl J Med* 335(4), 233-41.
- Gao, S. J., Kingsley, L., Li, M., Zheng, W., Parravicini, C., Ziegler, J., Newton, R., Rinaldo, C. R., Saah, A., Phair, J., Detels, R., Chang, Y., and Moore, P. S. (1996b). KSHV antibodies among Americans, Italians and Ugandans with and without Kaposi's sarcoma. *Nat Med* 2(8), 925-8.
- Garrigues, H. J., Rubinchikova, Y. E., Dipersio, C. M., and Rose, T. M. (2008). Integrin alphaVbeta3 Binds to the RGD motif of glycoprotein B of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus and functions as an RGD-dependent entry receptor. *J Virol* 82(3), 1570-80.
- Gianni, T., Fato, R., Bergamini, C., Lenaz, G., and Campadelli-Fiume, G. (2006a). Hydrophobic alpha-helices 1 and 2 of herpes simplex virus gH interact with lipids, and their mimetic peptides enhance virus infection and fusion. *J Virol* 80(16), 8190-8.
- Gianni, T., Martelli, P. L., Casadio, R., and Campadelli-Fiume, G. (2005). The ectodomain of herpes simplex virus glycoprotein H contains a membrane alpha-helix with attributes of an internal fusion peptide, positionally conserved in the herpesviridae family. *J Virol* 79(5), 2931-40.

- Gianni, T., Menotti, L., and Campadelli-Fiume, G. (2005). A heptad repeat in herpes simplex virus 1 gH, located downstream of the alpha-helix with attributes of a fusion peptide, is critical for virus entry and fusion. *J Virol* 79(11), 7042-9.
- Gianni, T., Piccoli, A., Bertucci, C., and Campadelli-Fiume, G. (2006b). Heptad repeat 2 in herpes simplex virus 1 gH interacts with heptad repeat 1 and is critical for virus entry and fusion. *J Virol* 80(5), 2216-24.
- Gibson, W., and Roizman, B. (1972). Proteins specified by herpes simplex virus. 8. Characterization and composition of multiple capsid forms of subtypes 1 and 2. *J Virol* 10(5), 1044-52.
- Goedert, J. J. (2000). The epidemiology of acquired immunodeficiency syndrome malignancies. *Semin Oncol* 27(4), 390-401.
- Goltz, M., Broll, H., Mankertz, A., Weigelt, W., Ludwig, H., Buhk, H. J., and Borchers, K. (1994). Glycoprotein B of bovine herpesvirus type 4: its phylogenetic relationship to gB equivalents of the herpesviruses. *Virus Genes* 9(1), 53-9.
- Gompels, U. A., Nicholas, J., Lawrence, G., Jones, M., Thomson, B. J., Martin, M. E., Efstathiou, S., Craxton, M., and Macaulay, H. A. (1995). The DNA sequence of human herpesvirus-6: structure, coding content, and genome evolution. *Virology* 209(1), 29-51.
- Gong, M., and Kieff, E. (1990). Intracellular trafficking of two major Epstein-Barr virus glycoproteins, gp350/220 and gp110. *J Virol* 64(4), 1507-16.
- Gonzalo, S., Garcia-Cao, M., Fraga, M. F., Schotta, G., Peters, A. H., Cotter, S. E., Eguia, R., Dean, D. C., Esteller, M., Jenuwein, T., and Blasco, M. A. (2005). Role of the RB1 family in stabilizing histone methylation at constitutive heterochromatin. *Nat Cell Biol* 7(4), 420-8.
- Gottlieb, G. J., Ragaz, A., Vogel, J. V., Friedman-Kien, A., Rywlin, A. M., Weiner, E.A., and Ackerman, A. B. (1981). A preliminary communication on extensively disseminated Kaposi's sarcoma in young homosexual men. *Am J Dermatopathol* 3(2), 111-4.
- Gradoville, L., Gerlach, J., Grogan, E., Shedd, D., Nikiforow, S., Metroka, C., and Miller, G. (2000). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus open reading frame 50/Rta protein activates the entire viral lytic cycle in the HH-B2 primary effusion lymphoma cell line. J Virol 74(13), 6207-12.
- Grandadam, M., Dupin, N., Calvez, V., Gorin, I., Blum, L., Kernbaum, S., Sicard, D., Buisson, Y., Agut, H., Escande, J. P., and Huraux, J. M. (1997). Exacerbations of clinical symptoms in human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected patients with multicentric

Castleman's disease are associated with a high increase in Kaposi's sarcoma herpesvirus DNA load in peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *J Infect Dis* 175(5), 1198-201.

- Griffin, B. E. (2000). Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) and human disease: facts, opinions and problems. *Mutat Res* 462(2-3), 395-405.
- Gruffat, H., Portes-Sentis, S., Sergeant, A., and Manet, E. (1999). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (human herpesvirus-8) encodes a homologue of the Epstein-Barr virus bZip protein EB1. *J Gen Virol* 80 (Pt 3), 557-61.
- Grundhoff, A., and Ganem, D. (2001). Mechanisms governing expression of the v-FLIP gene of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. *J Virol* 75(4), 1857-63.
- Grundhoff, A., and Ganem, D. (2003). The latency-associated nuclear antigen of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus permits replication of terminal repeat-containing plasmids. *J Virol* 77(4), 2779-83.
- Gwack, Y., Byun, H., Hwang, S., Lim, C., and Choe, J. (2001). CREB-binding protein and histone deacetylase regulate the transcriptional activity of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus open reading frame 50. *J Virol* 75(4), 1909-17.
- Haan, K. M., Lee, S. K., and Longnecker, R. (2001). Different functional domains in the cytoplasmic tail of glycoprotein B are involved in Epstein-Barr virus-induced membrane fusion. *Virology* 290(1), 106-14.
- Haddad, R. S., and Hutt-Fletcher, L. M. (1989). Depletion of glycoprotein gp85 from virosomes made with Epstein-Barr virus proteins abolishes their ability to fuse with virus receptor-bearing cells. *J Virol* 63(12), 4998-5005.
- Hammerschmidt, W., and Sugden, B. (1988). Identification and characterization of oriLyt, a lytic origin of DNA replication of Epstein-Barr virus. *Cell* 55(3), 427-33.
- Hengge, U. R., Ruzicka, T., Tyring, S. K., Stuschke, M., Roggendorf, M., Schwartz, R. A., and Seeber, S. (2002). Update on Kaposi's sarcoma and other HHV8 associated diseases. Part 2: pathogenesis, Castleman's disease, and pleural effusion lymphoma. *Lancet Infect Dis* 2(6), 344-52.
- Highlander, S. L., Goins, W. F., Person, S., Holland, T. C., Levine, M., and Glorioso, J. C. (1991). Oligomer formation of the gB glycoprotein of herpes simplex virus type 1. J Virol 65(8), 4275-83.
- Homa, F. L., and Brown, J. C. (1997). Capsid assembly and DNA packaging in herpes simplex virus. *Rev Med Virol* 7(2), 107-122.

- Hoover, D. R., Black, C., Jacobson, L. P., Martinez-Maza, O., Seminara, D., Saah, A., Von Roenn, J., Anderson, R., and Armenian, H. K. (1993). Epidemiologic analysis of Kaposi's sarcoma as an early and later AIDS outcome in homosexual men. *Am J Epidemiol* 138(4), 266-78.
- Horsburgh, B. C., Hubinette, M. M., Qiang, D., MacDonald, M. L., and Tufaro, F. (1999). Allele replacement: an application that permits rapid manipulation of herpes simplex virus type 1 genomes. *Gene Ther* 6(5), 922-30.
- Hu, J., Garber, A. C., and Renne, R. (2002). The latency-associated nuclear antigen of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus supports latent DNA replication in dividing cells. *J Virol* 76(22), 11677-87.
- Hutchinson, L., Browne, H., Wargent, V., Davis-Poynter, N., Primorac, S., Goldsmith, K., Minson, A. C., and Johnson, D. C. (1992). A novel herpes simplex virus glycoprotein, gL, forms a complex with glycoprotein H (gH) and affects normal folding and surface expression of gH. *J Virol* 66(4), 2240-50.
- Hymes, K. B., Cheung, T., Greene, J. B., Prose, N. S., Marcus, A., Ballard, H., William, D. C., and Laubenstein, L. J. (1981). Kaposi's sarcoma in homosexual men-a report of eight cases. *Lancet* 2(8247), 598-600.
- Janz, A., Oezel, M., Kurzeder, C., Mautner, J., Pich, D., Kost, M., Hammerschmidt, W., and Delecluse, H. J. (2000). Infectious Epstein-Barr virus lacking major glycoprotein BLLF1 (gp350/220) demonstrates the existence of additional viral ligands. *J Virol* 74(21), 10142-52.
- Jenkins, F. J., Hoffman, L. J., and Liegey-Dougall, A. (2002). Reactivation of and primary infection with human herpesvirus 8 among solid-organ transplant recipients. *J Infect Dis* 185(9), 1238-43.
- Jenner, R. G., Alba, M. M., Boshoff, C., and Kellam, P. (2001). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus latent and lytic gene expression as revealed by DNA arrays. *J Virol* 75(2), 891-902.
- Jenner, R. G., and Boshoff, C. (2002). The molecular pathology of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1602(1), 1-22.
- Jeong, J., Papin, J., and Dittmer, D. (2001). Differential regulation of the overlapping Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus vGCR (orf74) and LANA (orf73) promoters. *J Virol* 75(4), 1798-807.
- Jons, A., Dijkstra, J. M., and Mettenleiter, T. C. (1998). Glycoproteins M and N of pseudorabies virus form a disulfide-linked complex. *J Virol* 72(1), 550-7.

- Judde, J. G., Lacoste, V., Briere, J., Kassa-Kelembho, E., Clyti, E., Couppie, P., Buchrieser, C., Tulliez, M., Morvan, J., and Gessain, A. (2000). Monoclonality or oligoclonality of human herpesvirus 8 terminal repeat sequences in Kaposi's sarcoma and other diseases. J Natl Cancer Inst 92(9), 729-36.
- Kaaya, G. P., Mwangi, E. N., and Ouna, E. A. (1996). Prospects for biological control of livestock ticks, Rhipicephalus appendiculatus and Amblyomma variegatum, using the entomogenous fungi Beauveria bassiana and Metarhizium anisopliae. *J Invertebr Pathol* 67(1), 15-20.
- Kaleeba, J. A., and Berger, E. A. (2006). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus fusion-entry receptor: cystine transporter xCT. *Science* 311(5769), 1921-4.
- Kapelushnik, J., Ariad, S., Benharroch, D., Landau, D., Moser, A., Delsol, G., and Brousset, P. (2001). Post renal transplantation human herpesvirus 8-associated lymphoproliferative disorder and Kaposi's sarcoma. *Br J Haematol* 113(2), 425-8.
- Kaplan, L. D., Straus, D. J., Testa, M. A., Von Roenn, J., Dezube, B. J., Cooley, T. P., Herndier, B., Northfelt, D. W., Huang, J., Tulpule, A., and Levine, A. M. (1997). Low-dose compared with standard-dose m-BACOD chemotherapy for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma associated with human immunodeficiency virus infection. National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases AIDS Clinical Trials Group. *N Engl J Med* 336(23), 1641-8.
- Kaposi, M. (1872). Idiopathic multiple pigmented sarcoma of the skin. *Arch Dermatol Syphil* 4, 265-273.
- Kasolo, F. C., Mpabalwani, E., and Gompels, U. A. (1997). Infection with AIDS-related herpesviruses in human immunodeficiency virus-negative infants and endemic childhood Kaposi's sarcoma in Africa. *J Gen Virol* 78 (Pt 4), 847-55.
- Katano, H., Sato, Y., Itoh, H., and Sata, T. (2001). Expression of human herpesvirus 8 (HHV-8)encoded immediate early protein, open reading frame 50, in HHV-8-associated diseases. *J Hum Virol* 4(2), 96-102.
- Katano, H., Sato, Y., Kurata, T., Mori, S., and Sata, T. (2000). Expression and localization of human herpesvirus 8-encoded proteins in primary effusion lymphoma, Kaposi's sarcoma, and multicentric Castleman's disease. *Virology* 269(2), 335-44.
- Kedes, D. H., Lagunoff, M., Renne, R., and Ganem, D. (1997). Identification of the gene encoding the major latency-associated nuclear antigen of the Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. *J Clin Invest* 100(10), 2606-10.
- Kedes, D. H., Operskalski, E., Busch, M., Kohn, R., Flood, J., and Ganem, D. (1996). The seroepidemiology of human herpesvirus 8 (Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus):

distribution of infection in KS risk groups and evidence for sexual transmission. *Nat Med* 2(8), 918-24.

- Kellam, P., Boshoff, C., Whitby, D., Matthews, S., Weiss, R. A., and Talbot, S. J. (1997). Identification of a major latent nuclear antigen, LNA-1, in the human herpesvirus 8 genome. *J Hum Virol* 1(1), 19-29.
- Kjellen, L., and Lindahl, U. (1991). Proteoglycans: structures and interactions. *Annu Rev Biochem* 60, 443-75.
- Kliche, S., Kremmer, E., Hammerschmidt, W., Koszinowski, U., and Haas, J. (1998). Persistent infection of Epstein-Barr virus-positive B lymphocytes by human herpesvirus 8. *J Virol* 72(10), 8143-9.
- Knipe, D. M., Howley, P. M., Griffin, D. E., Lamb, R. A., Martin, M. A., Roizman, B., and Straus, S. E. "Fields Virology." Fourth ed. Fields Virology (D. M. Knipe, and P. M. Howley, Eds.), 2. 2 vols. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins,, and Philadelphia, P. (2001).
- Koelle, D. M., Huang, M. L., Chandran, B., Vieira, J., Piepkorn, M., and Corey, L. (1997). Frequent detection of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (human herpesvirus 8) DNA in saliva of human immunodeficiency virus-infected men: clinical and immunologic correlates. *J Infect Dis* 176(1), 94-102.
- Komatsu, T., Ballestas, M. E., Barbera, A. J., and Kaye, K. M. (2002). The KSHV latencyassociated nuclear antigen: a multifunctional protein. *Front Biosci* 7, d726-30.
- Kousoulas, K. G., Person, S., and Holland, T. C. (1978). Timing of some of the molecular events required for cell fusion induced by herpes simplex virus type 1. *J Virol* 27(3), 505-12.
- Koyano, S., Mar, E. C., Stamey, F. R., and Inoue, N. (2003). Glycoproteins M and N of human herpesvirus 8 form a complex and inhibit cell fusion. *J Gen Virol* 84(Pt 6), 1485-91.
- Krithivas, A., Fujimuro, M., Weidner, M., Young, D. B., and Hayward, S. D. (2002). Protein interactions targeting the latency-associated nuclear antigen of Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus to cell chromosomes. *J Virol* 76(22), 11596-604.
- Lachner, M., O'Carroll, D., Rea, S., Mechtler, K., and Jenuwein, T. (2001). Methylation of histone H3 lysine 9 creates a binding site for HP1 proteins. *Nature* 410(6824), 116-20.
- Lagunoff, M., Bechtel, J., Venetsanakos, E., Roy, A. M., Abbey, N., Herndier, B., McMahon, M., and Ganem, D. (2002). De novo infection and serial transmission of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus in cultured endothelial cells. *J Virol* 76(5), 2440-8.
- Lake, C. M., Molesworth, S. J., and Hutt-Fletcher, L. M. (1998). The Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) gN homolog BLRF1 encodes a 15-kilodalton glycoprotein that cannot be authentically processed unless it is coexpressed with the EBV gM homolog BBRF3. *J Virol* 72(7), 5559-64.
- Lan, K., Kuppers, D. A., and Robertson, E. S. (2005). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus reactivation is regulated by interaction of latency-associated nuclear antigen with recombination signal sequence-binding protein Jkappa, the major downstream effector of the Notch signaling pathway. *J Virol* 79(6), 3468-78.
- Lan, K., Kuppers, D. A., Verma, S. C., and Robertson, E. S. (2004). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus-encoded latency-associated nuclear antigen inhibits lytic replication by targeting Rta: a potential mechanism for virus-mediated control of latency. *J Virol* 78(12), 6585-94.
- Leao, J. C., Caterino-De-Araujo, A., Porter, S. R., and Scully, C. (2002). Human herpesvirus 8 (HHV-8) and the etiopathogenesis of Kaposi's sarcoma. *Rev Hosp Clin Fac Med Sao Paulo* 57(4), 175-86.
- Lee, H. J., Essani, K., and Smith, G. L. (2001). The genome sequence of Yaba-like disease virus, a yatapoxvirus. *Virology* 281(2), 170-92.
- Lefort, S., Soucy-Faulkner, A., Grandvaux, N., and Flamand, L. (2007). Binding of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus K-bZIP to interferon-responsive factor 3 elements modulates antiviral gene expression. *J Virol* 81(20), 10950-60.
- Lennette, E. T., Blackbourn, D. J., and Levy, J. A. (1996). Antibodies to human herpesvirus type 8 in the general population and in Kaposi's sarcoma patients. *Lancet* 348(9031), 858-61.
- Levine, A. M., Sullivan-Halley, J., Pike, M. C., Rarick, M. U., Loureiro, C., Bernstein-Singer, M., Willson, E., Brynes, R., Parker, J., Rasheed, S., and et al. (1991). Human immunodeficiency virus-related lymphoma. Prognostic factors predictive of survival. *Cancer* 68(11), 2466-72.
- Li, C. F., Ye, H., Liu, H., Du, M. Q., and Chuang, S. S. (2006). Fatal HHV-8-associated hemophagocytic syndrome in an HIV-negative immunocompetent patient with plasmablastic variant of multicentric Castleman disease (plasmablastic microlymphoma). *Am J Surg Pathol* 30(1), 123-7.
- Li, Q., Turk, S. M., and Hutt-Fletcher, L. M. (1995). The Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) BZLF2 gene product associates with the gH and gL homologs of EBV and carries an epitope critical to infection of B cells but not of epithelial cells. *J Virol* 69(7), 3987-94.

- Liang, Y., Chang, J., Lynch, S. J., Lukac, D. M., and Ganem, D. (2002). The lytic switch protein of KSHV activates gene expression via functional interaction with RBP-Jkappa (CSL), the target of the Notch signaling pathway. *Genes Dev* 16(15), 1977-89.
- Ligas, M. W., and Johnson, D. C. (1988). A herpes simplex virus mutant in which glycoprotein D sequences are replaced by beta-galactosidase sequences binds to but is unable to penetrate into cells. *J Virol* 62(5), 1486-94.
- Lim, C., Sohn, H., Lee, D., Gwack, Y., and Choe, J. (2002). Functional dissection of latencyassociated nuclear antigen 1 of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus involved in latent DNA replication and transcription of terminal repeats of the viral genome. *J Virol* 76(20), 10320-31.
- Lin, C. L., Li, H., Wang, Y., Zhu, F. X., Kudchodkar, S., and Yuan, Y. (2003). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus lytic origin (ori-Lyt)-dependent DNA replication: identification of the ori-Lyt and association of K8 bZip protein with the origin. J Virol 77(10), 5578-88.
- Lin, S. F., Robinson, D. R., Miller, G., and Kung, H. J. (1999). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus encodes a bZIP protein with homology to BZLF1 of Epstein-Barr virus. J Virol 73(3), 1909-17.
- Little, R. F., Gutierrez, M., Jaffe, E. S., Pau, A., Horne, M., and Wilson, W. (2001). HIVassociated non-Hodgkin lymphoma: incidence, presentation, and prognosis. *Jama* 285(14), 1880-5.
- Liu, D. X., Gompels, U. A., Nicholas, J., and Lelliott, C. (1993). Identification and expression of the human herpesvirus 6 glycoprotein H and interaction with an accessory 40K glycoprotein. *J Gen Virol* 74 (Pt 9), 1847-57.
- Lo, P., Yu, X., Atanasov, I., Chandran, B., and Zhou, Z. H. (2003). Three-dimensional localization of pORF65 in Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus capsid. *J Virol* 77(7), 4291-7.
- Lomonte, P., Filee, P., Lyaku, J. R., Bublot, M., Pastoret, P. P., and Thiry, E. (1997). Analysis of the biochemical properties of, and complex formation between, glycoproteins H and L of the gamma2 herpesvirus bovine herpesvirus-4. *J Gen Virol* 78 (Pt 8), 2015-23.
- Lopper, M., and Compton, T. (2004). Coiled-coil domains in glycoproteins B and H are involved in human cytomegalovirus membrane fusion. *J Virol* 78(15), 8333-41.
- Lukac, D. M., and Alwine, J. C. (1999). Effects of human cytomegalovirus major immediateearly proteins in controlling the cell cycle and inhibiting apoptosis: studies with ts13 cells. *J Virol* 73(4), 2825-31.

- Lukac, D. M., Garibyan, L., Kirshner, J. R., Palmeri, D., and Ganem, D. (2001). DNA binding by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus lytic switch protein is necessary for transcriptional activation of two viral delayed early promoters. *J Virol* 75(15), 6786-99.
- Lukac, D. M., Kirshner, J. R., and Ganem, D. (1999). Transcriptional activation by the product of open reading frame 50 of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus is required for lytic viral reactivation in B cells. *J Virol* 73(11), 9348-61.
- Lukac, D. M., Renne, R., Kirshner, J. R., and Ganem, D. (1998). Reactivation of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus infection from latency by expression of the ORF 50 transactivator, a homolog of the EBV R protein. *Virology* 252(2), 304-12.
- Luna, R. E., Zhou, F., Baghian, A., Chouljenko, V., Forghani, B., Gao, S. J., and Kousoulas, K. G. (2004). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus glycoprotein K8.1 is dispensable for virus entry. *J Virol* 78(12), 6389-98.
- Luppi, M., Barozzi, P., Santagostino, G., Trovato, R., Schulz, T. F., Marasca, R., Bottalico, D., Bignardi, L., and Torelli, G. (2000a). Molecular evidence of organ-related transmission of Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus or human herpesvirus-8 in transplant patients. *Blood* 96(9), 3279-81.
- Luppi, M., Barozzi, P., Schulz, T. F., Setti, G., Staskus, K., Trovato, R., Narni, F., Donelli, A., Maiorana, A., Marasca, R., Sandrini, S., and Torelli, G. (2000b). Bone marrow failure associated with human herpesvirus 8 infection after transplantation. N Engl J Med 343(19), 1378-85.
- Luppi, M., Barozzi, P., and Torelli, G. (2003). Skin cancers after organ transplantation. N Engl J Med 349(6), 612-4; author reply 612-4.
- Mach, M., Kropff, B., Dal Monte, P., and Britt, W. (2000). Complex formation by human cytomegalovirus glycoproteins M (gpUL100) and N (gpUL73). *J Virol* 74(24), 11881-92.
- Martin, J. N., Ganem, D. E., Osmond, D. H., Page-Shafer, K. A., Macrae, D., and Kedes, D. H. (1998). Sexual transmission and the natural history of human herpesvirus 8 infection. N Engl J Med 338(14), 948-54.
- Martin, J. N., and Osmond, D. H. (1999). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus and sexual transmission of cancer risk. *Curr Opin Oncol* 11(6), 508-15.
- Martin, K. H., Slack, J. K., Boerner, S. A., Martin, C. C., and Parsons, J. T. (2002). Integrin connections map: to infinity and beyond. *Science* 296(5573), 1652-3.
- Matolcsy, A. (1999). Primary effusional lymphoma: A new non-Hodgkin s lymphoma entity. *Pathol Oncol Res* 5(2), 87-9.

- Mattsson, K., Kiss, C., Platt, G. M., Simpson, G. R., Kashuba, E., Klein, G., Schulz, T. F., and Szekely, L. (2002). Latent nuclear antigen of Kaposi's sarcoma herpesvirus/human herpesvirus-8 induces and relocates RING3 to nuclear heterochromatin regions. *J Gen Virol* 83(Pt 1), 179-88.
- Mbulaiteye, S. M., Atkinson, J. O., Whitby, D., Wohl, D. A., Gallant, J. E., Royal, S., Goedert, J. J., and Rabkin, C. S. (2006). Risk factors for human herpesvirus 8 seropositivity in the AIDS Cancer Cohort Study. *J Clin Virol* 35(4), 442-9.
- Mbulaiteye, S. M., Pfeiffer, R. M., Dolan, B., Tsang, V. C., Noh, J., Mikhail, N. N., Abdel-Hamid, M., Hashem, M., Whitby, D., Thomas Strickland, G., and Goedert, J. J. (2008). Seroprevalence and Risk Factors for Human Herpesvirus 8 Infection, Rural Egypt. *Emerg Infect Dis* 14(4), 586-591.
- McAllister, S. C., Hansen, S. G., Messaoudi, I., Nikolich-Zugich, J., and Moses, A. V. (2005). Increased efficiency of phorbol ester-induced lytic reactivation of Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus during S phase. *J Virol* 79(4), 2626-30.
- McGeoch, D. J., and Davison, A. J. (1999). The descent of human herpesvirus 8. *Semin Cancer Biol* 9(3), 201-9.
- Mercader, M., Taddeo, B., Panella, J. R., Chandran, B., Nickoloff, B. J., and Foreman, K. E. (2000). Induction of HHV-8 lytic cycle replication by inflammatory cytokines produced by HIV-1-infected T cells. *Am J Pathol* 156(6), 1961-71.
- Mesri, E. A., Cesarman, E., Arvanitakis, L., Rafii, S., Moore, M. A., Posnett, D. N., Knowles, D. M., and Asch, A. S. (1996). Human herpesvirus-8/Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus is a new transmissible virus that infects B cells. *J Exp Med* 183(5), 2385-90.
- Mikala, G., Xie, J., Berencsi, G., Kiss, C., Marton, I., Domjan, G., and Valyi-Nagy, I. (1999). Human herpesvirus 8 in hematologic diseases. *Pathol Oncol Res* 5(1), 73-9.
- Miller, G., Heston, L., Grogan, E., Gradoville, L., Rigsby, M., Sun, R., Shedd, D., Kushnaryov, V. M., Grossberg, S., and Chang, Y. (1997). Selective switch between latency and lytic replication of Kaposi's sarcoma herpesvirus and Epstein-Barr virus in dually infected body cavity lymphoma cells. *J Virol* 71(1), 314-24.
- Miller, G., Rigsby, M. O., Heston, L., Grogan, E., Sun, R., Metroka, C., Levy, J. A., Gao, S. J., Chang, Y., and Moore, P. (1996). Antibodies to butyrate-inducible antigens of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus in patients with HIV-1 infection. *N Engl J Med* 334(20), 1292-7.
- Moore, P. S., Boshoff, C., Weiss, R. A., and Chang, Y. (1996a). Molecular mimicry of human cytokine and cytokine response pathway genes by KSHV. *Science* 274(5293), 1739-44.

- Moore, P. S., and Chang, Y. (1998). Kaposi's sarcoma (KS), KS-associated herpesvirus, and the criteria for causality in the age of molecular biology. *Am J Epidemiol* 147(3), 217-21.
- Moore, P. S., and Chang, Y. (2001). Molecular virology of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* 356(1408), 499-516.
- Moore, P. S., and Chang, Y. (2003). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus immunoevasion and tumorigenesis: two sides of the same coin? *Annu Rev Microbiol* 57, 609-39.
- Moore, P. S., Gao, S. J., Dominguez, G., Cesarman, E., Lungu, O., Knowles, D. M., Garber, R., Pellett, P. E., McGeoch, D. J., and Chang, Y. (1996b). Primary characterization of a herpesvirus agent associated with Kaposi's sarcomae. *J Virol* 70(1), 549-58.
- Moses, A. V., Fish, K. N., Ruhl, R., Smith, P. P., Strussenberg, J. G., Zhu, L., Chandran, B., and Nelson, J. A. (1999). Long-term infection and transformation of dermal microvascular endothelial cells by human herpesvirus 8. *J Virol* 73(8), 6892-902.
- Mukai, T., Hata, A., Isegawa, Y., and Yamanishi, K. (1997). Characterization of glycoprotein H and L of human herpesvirus 7. *Microbiol Immunol* 41(1), 43-50.
- Munoz, P., Alvarez, P., de Ory, F., Pozo, F., Rivera, M., and Bouza, E. (2002). Incidence and clinical characteristics of Kaposi sarcoma after solid organ transplantation in Spain: importance of seroconversion against HHV-8. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 81(4), 293-304.
- Muralidhar, S., Pumfery, A. M., Hassani, M., Sadaie, M. R., Kishishita, M., Brady, J. N., Doniger, J., Medveczky, P., and Rosenthal, L. J. (1998). Identification of kaposin (open reading frame K12) as a human herpesvirus 8 (Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus) transforming gene. J Virol 72(6), 4980-8.
- Muralidhar, S., Veytsmann, G., Chandran, B., Ablashi, D., Doniger, J., and Rosenthal, L. J. (2000). Characterization of the human herpesvirus 8 (Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus) oncogene, kaposin (ORF K12). *J Clin Virol* 16(3), 203-13.
- Naranatt, P. P., Akula, S. M., and Chandran, B. (2002). Characterization of gamma2-human herpesvirus-8 glycoproteins gH and gL. *Arch Virol* 147(7), 1349-70.
- Naranatt, P. P., Akula, S. M., Zien, C. A., Krishnan, H. H., and Chandran, B. (2003). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus induces the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-PKC-zeta-MEK-ERK signaling pathway in target cells early during infection: implications for infectivity. J Virol 77(2), 1524-39.
- Nawar, E., Mbulaiteye, S. M., Gallant, J. E., Wohl, D. A., Ardini, M., Hendershot, T., Goedert, J. J., and Rabkin, C. S. (2005). Risk factors for Kaposi's sarcoma among HHV-8 seropositive homosexual men with AIDS. *Int J Cancer* 115(2), 296-300.

- Nealon, K., Newcomb, W. W., Pray, T. R., Craik, C. S., Brown, J. C., and Kedes, D. H. (2001). Lytic replication of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus results in the formation of multiple capsid species: isolation and molecular characterization of A, B, and C capsids from a gammaherpesvirus. *J Virol* 75(6), 2866-78.
- Neipel, F., Albrecht, J. C., Ensser, A., Huang, Y. Q., Li, J. J., Friedman-Kien, A. E., and Fleckenstein, B. (1997). Human herpesvirus 8 encodes a homolog of interleukin-6. J Virol 71(1), 839-42.
- Neipel, F., Albrecht, J. C., and Fleckenstein, B. (1997). Cell-homologous genes in the Kaposi's sarcoma-associated rhadinovirus human herpesvirus 8: determinants of its pathogenicity? *J Virol* 71(6), 4187-92.
- Nemerow, G. R., and Cheresh, D. A. (2002). Herpesvirus hijacks an integrin. *Nat Cell Biol* 4(4), E69-71.
- Nemerow, G. R., Houghten, R. A., Moore, M. D., and Cooper, N. R. (1989). Identification of an epitope in the major envelope protein of Epstein-Barr virus that mediates viral binding to the B lymphocyte EBV receptor (CR2). *Cell* 56(3), 369-77.
- Nemerow, G. R., Mold, C., Schwend, V. K., Tollefson, V., and Cooper, N. R. (1987). Identification of gp350 as the viral glycoprotein mediating attachment of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) to the EBV/C3d receptor of B cells: sequence homology of gp350 and C3 complement fragment C3d. *J Virol* 61(5), 1416-20.
- Nemerow, G. R., Wolfert, R., McNaughton, M. E., and Cooper, N. R. (1985). Identification and characterization of the Epstein-Barr virus receptor on human B lymphocytes and its relationship to the C3d complement receptor (CR2). *J Virol* 55(2), 347-51.
- Newcomb, W. W., Homa, F. L., Thomsen, D. R., and Brown, J. C. (2001). In vitro assembly of the herpes simplex virus procapsid: formation of small procapsids at reduced scaffolding protein concentration. *J Struct Biol* 133(1), 23-31.
- Nicholas, J., Cameron, K. R., and Honess, R. W. (1992). Herpesvirus saimiri encodes homologues of G protein-coupled receptors and cyclins. *Nature* 355(6358), 362-5.
- Nixdorf, R., Klupp, B. G., Karger, A., and Mettenleiter, T. C. (2000). Effects of truncation of the carboxy terminus of pseudorabies virus glycoprotein B on infectivity. *J Virol* 74(15), 7137-45.
- O'Connor, C. M., and Kedes, D. H. (2006). Mass spectrometric analyses of purified rhesus monkey rhadinovirus reveal 33 virion-associated proteins. *J Virol* 80(3), 1574-83.

- Oettle, A. G. (1962). Geographical and racial differences in the frequency of Kaposi's sarcoma as evidence of environmental or genetic causes. *Acta Unio Int Contra Cancrum* 18(330-63).
- Offermann, M. K. (1999). Consideration of host-viral interactions in the pathogenesis of Kaposi's sarcoma. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 21 Suppl 1, S58-65.
- Oksenhendler, E., Carcelain, G., Aoki, Y., Boulanger, E., Maillard, A., Clauvel, J. P., and Agbalika, F. (2000). High levels of human herpesvirus 8 viral load, human interleukin-6, interleukin-10, and C reactive protein correlate with exacerbation of multicentric castleman disease in HIV-infected patients. *Blood* 96(6), 2069-73.
- Osmond, D. H., Buchbinder, S., Cheng, A., Graves, A., Vittinghoff, E., Cossen, C. K., Forghani, B., and Martin, J. N. (2002). Prevalence of Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus infection in homosexual men at beginning of and during the HIV epidemic. *Jama* 287(2), 221-5.
- Ottinger, M., Christalla, T., Nathan, K., Brinkmann, M. M., Viejo-Borbolla, A., and Schulz, T. F. (2006). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus LANA-1 interacts with the short variant of BRD4 and releases cells from a BRD4- and BRD2/RING3-induced G1 cell cycle arrest. *J Virol* 80(21), 10772-86.
- Pari, G. S., AuCoin, D., Colletti, K., Cei, S. A., Kirchoff, V., and Wong, S. W. (2001). Identification of the rhesus macaque rhadinovirus lytic origin of DNA replication. *J Virol* 75(23), 11401-7.
- Park, J., Lee, M. S., Yoo, S. M., and Seo, T. (2007). A novel protein encoded by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus open reading frame 36 inhibits cell spreading and focal adhesion kinase activation. *Intervirology* 50(6), 426-32.
- Parravicini, C., Chandran, B., Corbellino, M., Berti, E., Paulli, M., Moore, P. S., and Chang, Y. (2000). Differential viral protein expression in Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirusinfected diseases: Kaposi's sarcoma, primary effusion lymphoma, and multicentric Castleman's disease. *Am J Pathol* 156(3), 743-9.
- Parravicini, C., Corbellino, M., Paulli, M., Magrini, U., Lazzarino, M., Moore, P. S., and Chang, Y. (1997a). Expression of a virus-derived cytokine, KSHV vIL-6, in HIV-seronegative Castleman's disease. *Am J Pathol* 151(6), 1517-22.
- Parravicini, C., Olsen, S. J., Capra, M., Poli, F., Sirchia, G., Gao, S. J., Berti, E., Nocera, A., Rossi, E., Bestetti, G., Pizzuto, M., Galli, M., Moroni, M., Moore, P. S., and Corbellino, M. (1997b). Risk of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpes virus transmission from donor allografts among Italian posttransplant Kaposi's sarcoma patients. *Blood* 90(7), 2826-9.

- Pauk, J., Huang, M. L., Brodie, S. J., Wald, A., Koelle, D. M., Schacker, T., Celum, C., Selke, S., and Corey, L. (2000). Mucosal shedding of human herpesvirus 8 in men. N Engl J Med 343(19), 1369-77.
- Paulose-Murphy, M., Ha, N. K., Xiang, C., Chen, Y., Gillim, L., Yarchoan, R., Meltzer, P., Bittner, M., Trent, J., and Zeichner, S. (2001). Transcription program of human herpesvirus 8 (kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus). *J Virol* 75(10), 4843-53.
- Pellett, P. E., Kousoulas, K. G., Pereira, L., and Roizman, B. (1985). Anatomy of the herpes simplex virus 1 strain F glycoprotein B gene: primary sequence and predicted protein structure of the wild type and of monoclonal antibody-resistant mutants. *J Virol* 53(1), 243-53.
- Penn, I. (1993). Incidence and treatment of neoplasia after transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 12((6 Pt 2), S328-36.
- Pereira, L. (1994). Function of glycoprotein B homologues of the family herpesviridae. *Infect* Agents Dis 3(1), 9-28.
- Pertel, P. E. (2002). Human herpesvirus 8 glycoprotein B (gB), gH, and gL can mediate cell fusion. *J Virol* 76(9), 4390-400.
- Pertel, P. E., Spear, P. G., and Longnecker, R. (1998). Human herpesvirus-8 glycoprotein B interacts with Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) glycoprotein 110 but fails to complement the infectivity of EBV mutants. *Virology* 251(2), 402-13.
- Plow, E. F., Haas, T. A., Zhang, L., Loftus, J., and Smith, J. W. (2000). Ligand binding to integrins. *J Biol Chem* 275(29), 21785-8.
- Pogue-Geile, K. L., Lee, G. T., Shapira, S. K., and Spear, P. G. (1984). Fine mapping of mutations in the fusion-inducing MP strain of herpes simplex virus type 1. *Virology* 136(1), 100-9.
- Qunibi, W., Al-Furayh, O., Almeshari, K., Lin, S. F., Sun, R., Heston, L., Ross, D., Rigsby, M., and Miller, G. (1998). Serologic association of human herpesvirus eight with posttransplant Kaposi's sarcoma in Saudi Arabia. *Transplantation* 65(4), 583-5.
- Raab, M. S., Albrecht, J. C., Birkmann, A., Yaguboglu, S., Lang, D., Fleckenstein, B., and Neipel, F. (1998). The immunogenic glycoprotein gp35-37 of human herpesvirus 8 is encoded by open reading frame K8.1. *J Virol* 72(8), 6725-31.
- Rabkin, C. S., Shepherd, F. A., and Wade, J. A. (1999). Human herpesvirus 8 and renal transplantation. *N Engl J Med* 340(13), 1045-6.

- Rainbow, L., Platt, G. M., Simpson, G. R., Sarid, R., Gao, S. J., Stoiber, H., Herrington, C. S., Moore, P. S., and Schulz, T. F. (1997). The 222- to 234-kilodalton latent nuclear protein (LNA) of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (human herpesvirus 8) is encoded by orf73 and is a component of the latency-associated nuclear antigen. *J Virol* 71(8), 5915-21.
- Rappersberger, K. (1999). [Infections with herpes simplex and varicella zoster virus in pregnancy: clinical manifestations in mother, fetus and newborn--therapeutic options]. *Hautarzt* 50(10), 706-14.
- Rappocciolo, G., Hensler, H. H., Jais, M., Reinhart, T. A., Pegu, A., Jenkins, F. J., and Rinaldo,C. R. (2008). Hhv-8 Infects and Replicates in Primary Cultures of Activated BLymphocytes through Dc-Sign. *J Virol*.
- Rappocciolo, G., Jenkins, F. J., Hensler, H. R., Piazza, P., Jais, M., Borowski, L., Watkins, S. C., and Rinaldo, C. R., Jr. (2006). DC-SIGN is a receptor for human herpesvirus 8 on dendritic cells and macrophages. *J Immunol* 176(3), 1741-9.
- Reed, J. A., Nador, R. G., Spaulding, D., Tani, Y., Cesarman, E., and Knowles, D. M. (1998). Demonstration of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpes virus cyclin D homolog in cutaneous Kaposi's sarcoma by colorimetric in situ hybridization using a catalyzed signal amplification system. *Blood* 91(10), 3825-32.
- Regamey, N., Tamm, M., Wernli, M., Witschi, A., Thiel, G., Cathomas, G., and Erb, P. (1998). Transmission of human herpesvirus 8 infection from renal-transplant donors to recipients. *N Engl J Med* 339(19), 1358-63.
- Renne, R., Barry, C., Dittmer, D., Compitello, N., Brown, P. O., and Ganem, D. (2001). Modulation of cellular and viral gene expression by the latency-associated nuclear antigen of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. *J Virol* 75(1), 458-68.
- Renne, R., Lagunoff, M., Zhong, W., and Ganem, D. (1996a). The size and conformation of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (human herpesvirus 8) DNA in infected cells and virions. *J Virol* 70(11), 8151-4.
- Renne, R., Zhong, W., Herndier, B., McGrath, M., Abbey, N., Kedes, D., and Ganem, D. (1996b). Lytic growth of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (human herpesvirus 8) in culture. *Nat Med* 2(3), 342-6.
- Renwick, N., Halaby, T., Weverling, G. J., Dukers, N. H., Simpson, G. R., Coutinho, R. A., Lange, J. M., Schulz, T. F., and Goudsmit, J. (1998). Seroconversion for human herpesvirus 8 during HIV infection is highly predictive of Kaposi's sarcoma. *Aids* 12(18), 2481-8.

- Rezaee, S. A., Gracie, J. A., McInnes, I. B., and Blackbourn, D. J. (2005). Inhibition of neutrophil function by the Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus vOX2 protein. *Aids* 19(16), 1907-10.
- Rivas, C., Thlick, A. E., Parravicini, C., Moore, P. S., and Chang, Y. (2001). Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus LANA2 is a B-cell-specific latent viral protein that inhibits p53. J Virol 75(1), 429-38.
- Roizman, B. (1974). Herpesviruses, latency and cancer: a biochemical approach. J Reticuloendothel Soc 15(4), 312-21.
- Roop, C., Hutchinson, L., and Johnson, D. C. (1993). A mutant herpes simplex virus type 1 unable to express glycoprotein L cannot enter cells, and its particles lack glycoprotein H. *J Virol* 67(4), 2285-97.
- Ross, L. J., Sanderson, M., Scott, S. D., Binns, M. M., Doel, T., and Milne, B. (1989). Nucleotide sequence and characterization of the Marek's disease virus homologue of glycoprotein B of herpes simplex virus. *J Gen Virol* 70 (Pt 7), 1789-804.
- Rostand, K. S., and Esko, J. D. (1997). Microbial adherence to and invasion through proteoglycans. *Infect Immun* 65(1), 1-8.
- Rudolph, J., Seyboldt, C., Granzow, H., and Osterrieder, N. (2002). The gene 10 (UL49.5) product of equine herpesvirus 1 is necessary and sufficient for functional processing of glycoprotein M. *J Virol* 76(6), 2952-63.
- Russo, J. J., Bohenzky, R. A., Chien, M. C., Chen, J., Yan, M., Maddalena, D., Parry, J. P., Peruzzi, D., Edelman, I. S., Chang, Y., and Moore, P. S. (1996). Nucleotide sequence of the Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (HHV8). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 93(25), 14862-7.
- Sadler, R., Wu, L., Forghani, B., Renne, R., Zhong, W., Herndier, B., and Ganem, D. (1999). A complex translational program generates multiple novel proteins from the latently expressed kaposin (K12) locus of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. *J Virol* 73(7), 5722-30.
- Salcedo, R., and Patarroyo, M. (1995). Constitutive alpha V beta 3 integrin-mediated adhesion of human lymphoid B cells to vitronectin substrate. *Cell Immunol* 160(2), 165-72.
- Samuel, C. E. (2001). Antiviral actions of interferons. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 14(4), 778-809, table of contents.
- Santarelli, R., Farina, A., Granato, M., Gonnella, R., Raffa, S., Leone, L., Bei, R., Modesti, A., Frati, L., Torrisi, M. R., and Faggioni, A. (2008). Identification and characterization of

the product encoded by ORF69 of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. J Virol 82(9), 4562-72.

- Sarid, R., Flore, O., Bohenzky, R. A., Chang, Y., and Moore, P. S. (1998). Transcription mapping of the Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (human herpesvirus 8) genome in a body cavity-based lymphoma cell line (BC-1). *J Virol* 72(2), 1005-12.
- Sarid, R., Klepfish, A., and Schattner, A. (2002). Virology, pathogenetic mechanisms, and associated diseases of Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (human herpesvirus 8). *Mayo Clin Proc* 77(9), 941-9.
- Sarid, R., Pizov, G., Rubinger, D., Backenroth, R., Friedlaender, M. M., Schwartz, F., and Wolf, D. G. (2001). Detection of human herpesvirus-8 DNA in kidney allografts prior to the development of Kaposi's sarcoma. *Clin Infect Dis* 32(10), 1502-5.
- Sarid, R., Sato, T., Bohenzky, R. A., Russo, J. J., and Chang, Y. (1997). Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus encodes a functional bcl-2 homologue. *Nat Med* 3(3), 293-8.
- Sarid, R., Wiezorek, J. S., Moore, P. S., and Chang, Y. (1999). Characterization and cell cycle regulation of the major Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (human herpesvirus 8) latent genes and their promoter. *J Virol* 73(2), 1438-46.
- Sarisky, R. T., and Hayward, G. S. (1996). Evidence that the UL84 gene product of human cytomegalovirus is essential for promoting oriLyt-dependent DNA replication and formation of replication compartments in cotransfection assays. *J Virol* 70(11), 7398-413.
- Saveliev, A., Zhu, F., and Yuan, Y. (2002). Transcription mapping and expression patterns of genes in the major immediate-early region of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. *Virology* 299(2), 301-14.
- Schalling, M., Ekman, M., Kaaya, E. E., Linde, A., and Biberfeld, P. (1995). A role for a new herpes virus (KSHV) in different forms of Kaposi's sarcoma. *Nat Med* 1(7), 707-8.
- Schrag, J. D., Prasad, B. V., Rixon, F. J., and Chiu, W. (1989). Three-dimensional structure of the HSV1 nucleocapsid. *Cell* 56(4), 651-60.
- Schulz, T. F. (1998). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (human herpesvirus-8). J Gen Virol 79 ( Pt 7), 1573-91.
- Schwartz, R. A. (1996). Kaposi's sarcoma: advances and perspectives. *J Am Acad Dermatol* 34(5 Pt 1), 804-14.

- Sciortino, M. T., Suzuki, M., Taddeo, B., and Roizman, B. (2001). RNAs extracted from herpes simplex virus 1 virions: apparent selectivity of viral but not cellular RNAs packaged in virions. *J Virol* 75(17), 8105-16.
- Sciortino, M. T., Taddeo, B., Poon, A. P., Mastino, A., and Roizman, B. (2002). Of the three tegument proteins that package mRNA in herpes simplex virions, one (VP22) transports the mRNA to uninfected cells for expression prior to viral infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 99(12), 8318-23.
- Seaman, W. T., Ye, D., Wang, R. X., Hale, E. E., Weisse, M., and Quinlivan, E. B. (1999). Gene expression from the ORF50/K8 region of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. *Virology* 263(2), 436-49.
- Searles, R. P., Bergquam, E. P., Axthelm, M. K., and Wong, S. W. (1999). Sequence and genomic analysis of a Rhesus macaque rhadinovirus with similarity to Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus/human herpesvirus 8. *J Virol* 73(4), 3040-53.
- Shamay, M., Krithivas, A., Zhang, J., and Hayward, S. D. (2006). Recruitment of the de novo DNA methyltransferase Dnmt3a by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus LANA. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103(39), 14554-9.
- Sharma-Walia, N., Naranatt, P. P., Krishnan, H. H., Zeng, L., and Chandran, B. (2004). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus/human herpesvirus 8 envelope glycoprotein gB induces the integrin-dependent focal adhesion kinase-Src-phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-rho GTPase signal pathways and cytoskeletal rearrangements. *J Virol* 78(8), 4207-23.
- Simpson, G. R., Schulz, T. F., Whitby, D., Cook, P. M., Boshoff, C., Rainbow, L., Howard, M. R., Gao, S. J., Bohenzky, R. A., Simmonds, P., Lee, C., de Ruiter, A., Hatzakis, A., Tedder, R. S., Weller, I. V., Weiss, R. A., and Moore, P. S. (1996). Prevalence of Kaposi's sarcoma associated herpesvirus infection measured by antibodies to recombinant capsid protein and latent immunofluorescence antigen. *Lancet* 348(9035), 1133-8.
- Singh, N. (2000). Human herpesviruses-6, -7 and -8 in organ transplant recipients. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 6(9), 453-9.
- Song, M. J., Brown, H. J., Wu, T. T., and Sun, R. (2001). Transcription activation of polyadenylated nuclear rna by rta in human herpesvirus 8/Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. *J Virol* 75(7), 3129-40.
- Song, M. J., Li, X., Brown, H. J., and Sun, R. (2002). Characterization of interactions between RTA and the promoter of polyadenylated nuclear RNA in Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus/human herpesvirus 8. *J Virol* 76(10), 5000-13.
- Spear, P. G., and Longnecker, R. (2003). Herpesvirus entry: an update. J Virol 77(19), 10179-85.

- Stark, G. R., Kerr, I. M., Williams, B. R., Silverman, R. H., and Schreiber, R. D. (1998). How cells respond to interferons. *Annu Rev Biochem* 67, 227-64.
- Staskus, K. A., Sun, R., Miller, G., Racz, P., Jaslowski, A., Metroka, C., Brett-Smith, H., and Haase, A. T. (1999). Cellular tropism and viral interleukin-6 expression distinguish human herpesvirus 8 involvement in Kaposi's sarcoma, primary effusion lymphoma, and multicentric Castleman's disease. *J Virol* 73(5), 4181-7.
- Staskus, K. A., Zhong, W., Gebhard, K., Herndier, B., Wang, H., Renne, R., Beneke, J., Pudney, J., Anderson, D. J., Ganem, D., and Haase, A. T. (1997). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus gene expression in endothelial (spindle) tumor cells. *J Virol* 71(1), 715-9.
- Steven, N. M. (1997). Epstein-Barr virus latent infection in vivo. Rev Med Virol 7(2), 97-106.
- Stewart, J. P., Janjua, N. J., Pepper, S. D., Bennion, G., Mackett, M., Allen, T., Nash, A. A., and Arrand, J. R. (1996). Identification and characterization of murine gammaherpesvirus 68 gp150: a virion membrane glycoprotein. *J Virol* 70(6), 3528-35.
- Stow, N. D. (1982). Localization of an origin of DNA replication within the TRS/IRS repeated region of the herpes simplex virus type 1 genome. *Embo J* 1(7), 863-7.
- Stow, N. D., and Davison, A. J. (1986). Identification of a varicella-zoster virus origin of DNA replication and its activation by herpes simplex virus type 1 gene products. *J Gen Virol* 67 (Pt 8), 1613-23.
- Stringer, S. E., and Gallagher, J. T. (1997). Heparan sulphate. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 29(5), 709-14.
- Sun, R., Lin, S. F., Gradoville, L., Yuan, Y., Zhu, F., and Miller, G. (1998). A viral gene that activates lytic cycle expression of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 95(18), 10866-71.
- Sun, R., Lin, S. F., Staskus, K., Gradoville, L., Grogan, E., Haase, A., and Miller, G. (1999). Kinetics of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus gene expression. J Virol 73(3), 2232-42.
- Talbot, S. J., Weiss, R. A., Kellam, P., and Boshoff, C. (1999). Transcriptional analysis of human herpesvirus-8 open reading frames 71, 72, 73, K14, and 74 in a primary effusion lymphoma cell line. *Virology* 257(1), 84-94.
- Tan, H. H., and Goh, C. L. (2006). Viral infections affecting the skin in organ transplant recipients: epidemiology and current management strategies. *Am J Clin Dermatol* 7(1), 13-29.

- Tanner, J., Weis, J., Fearon, D., Whang, Y., and Kieff, E. (1987). Epstein-Barr virus gp350/220 binding to the B lymphocyte C3d receptor mediates adsorption, capping, and endocytosis. *Cell* 50(2), 203-13.
- Teruya-Feldstein, J., Zauber, P., Setsuda, J. E., Berman, E. L., Sorbara, L., Raffeld, M., Tosato, G., and Jaffe, E. S. (1998). Expression of human herpesvirus-8 oncogene and cytokine homologues in an HIV-seronegative patient with multicentric Castleman's disease and primary effusion lymphoma. *Lab Invest* 78(12), 1637-42.
- Thome, M., Schneider, P., Hofmann, K., Fickenscher, H., Meinl, E., Neipel, F., Mattmann, C., Burns, K., Bodmer, J. L., Schroter, M., Scaffidi, C., Krammer, P. H., Peter, M. E., and Tschopp, J. (1997). Viral FLICE-inhibitory proteins (FLIPs) prevent apoptosis induced by death receptors. *Nature* 386(6624), 517-21.
- Tischer, B. K., Schumacher, D., Messerle, M., Wagner, M., and Osterrieder, N. (2002). The products of the UL10 (gM) and the UL49.5 genes of Marek's disease virus serotype 1 are essential for virus growth in cultured cells. *J Gen Virol* 83(Pt 5), 997-1003.
- Trus, B. L., Cheng, N., Newcomb, W. W., Homa, F. L., Brown, J. C., and Steven, A. C. (2004). Structure and polymorphism of the UL6 portal protein of herpes simplex virus type 1. J Virol 78(22), 12668-71.
- Trus, B. L., Heymann, J. B., Nealon, K., Cheng, N., Newcomb, W. W., Brown, J. C., Kedes, D. H., and Steven, A. C. (2001). Capsid structure of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus, a gammaherpesvirus, compared to those of an alphaherpesvirus, herpes simplex virus type 1, and a betaherpesvirus, cytomegalovirus. *J Virol* 75(6), 2879-90.
- Uccini, S., Ruco, L. P., Monardo, F., Stoppacciaro, A., Dejana, E., La Parola, I. L., Cerimele, D., and Baroni, C. D. (1994). Co-expression of endothelial cell and macrophage antigens in Kaposi's sarcoma cells. *J Pathol* 173(1), 23-31.
- Ueda, K., Ishikawa, K., Nishimura, K., Sakakibara, S., Do, E., and Yamanishi, K. (2002). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (human herpesvirus 8) replication and transcription factor activates the K9 (vIRF) gene through two distinct cis elements by a non-DNA-binding mechanism. *J Virol* 76(23), 12044-54.
- van der Flier, A., and Sonnenberg, A. (2001). Structural and functional aspects of filamins. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1538(2-3), 99-117.
- Vieira, J., Huang, M. L., Koelle, D. M., and Corey, L. (1997). Transmissible Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus (human herpesvirus 8) in saliva of men with a history of Kaposi's sarcoma. *J Virol* 71(9), 7083-7.

- Viejo-Borbolla, A., Ottinger, M., Bruning, E., Burger, A., Konig, R., Kati, E., Sheldon, J. A., and Schulz, T. F. (2005). Brd2/RING3 interacts with a chromatin-binding domain in the Kaposi's Sarcoma-associated herpesvirus latency-associated nuclear antigen 1 (LANA-1) that is required for multiple functions of LANA-1. *J Virol* 79(21), 13618-29.
- Vitale, F., Briffa, D. V., Whitby, D., Maida, I., Grochowska, A., Levin, A., Romano, N., and Goedert, J. J. (2001). Kaposi's sarcoma herpes virus and Kaposi's sarcoma in the elderly populations of 3 Mediterranean islands. *Int J Cancer* 91(4), 588-91.
- Wabinga, H. R., Parkin, D. M., Wabwire-Mangen, F., and Mugerwa, J. W. (1993). Cancer in Kampala, Uganda, in 1989-91: changes in incidence in the era of AIDS. *Int J Cancer* 54(1), 26-36.
- Wang, F. Z., Akula, S. M., Pramod, N. P., Zeng, L., and Chandran, B. (2001a). Human herpesvirus 8 envelope glycoprotein K8.1A interaction with the target cells involves heparan sulfate. *J Virol* 75(16), 7517-27.
- Wang, F. Z., Akula, S. M., Sharma-Walia, N., Zeng, L., and Chandran, B. (2003). Human herpesvirus 8 envelope glycoprotein B mediates cell adhesion via its RGD sequence. J Virol 77(5), 3131-47.
- Wang, M., Song, Y., Ma, X., Han, M., Bi, Y., Mu, G., Lin, Y., Li, G., and Wu, K. (2001b). Detection of human herpesvirus 8 DNA in acute leukemia patients. *Chin Med J (Engl)* 114(8), 873-5.
- Wang, Y., Li, H., Tang, Q., Maul, G. G., and Yuan, Y. (2008). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus ori-Lyt-dependent DNA replication: involvement of host cellular factors. J Virol 82(6), 2867-82.
- Wang, Y., Tang, Q., Maul, G. G., and Yuan, Y. (2006). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus ori-Lyt-dependent DNA replication: dual role of replication and transcription activator. J Virol 80(24), 12171-86.
- Wang, Y. C., Zhang, Q., and Montalvo, E. A. (1998). Purification of Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus (human herpesvirus 8) and analyses of the structural proteins. J Virol Methods 73(2), 219-28.
- Wawer, M. J., Eng, S. M., Serwadda, D., Sewankambo, N. K., Kiwanuka, N., Li, C., and Gray, R. H. (2001). Prevalence of Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus compared with selected sexually transmitted diseases in adolescents and young adults in rural Rakai District, Uganda. *Sex Transm Dis* 28(2), 77-81.
- West, J., and Damania, B. (2008). Upregulation of the Tlr3 Pathway by Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Herpesvirus. *J Virol*.

- Whitby, D., Howard, M. R., Tenant-Flowers, M., Brink, N. S., Copas, A., Boshoff, C., Hatzioannou, T., Suggett, F. E., Aldam, D. M., Denton, A. S., and et al. (1995). Detection of Kaposi sarcoma associated herpesvirus in peripheral blood of HIV-infected individuals and progression to Kaposi's sarcoma. *Lancet* 346(8978), 799-802.
- Whitman, A. G., Dyson, O. F., Lambert, P. J., Oxendine, T. L., Ford, P. W., and Akula, S. M. (2007). Changes occurring on the cell surface during KSHV reactivation. *J Electron Microsc (Tokyo)* 56(1), 27-36.
- Willer, D. O., McFadden, G., and Evans, D. H. (1999). The complete genome sequence of shope (rabbit) fibroma virus. *Virology* 264(2), 319-43.
- Wright, G. J., Cherwinski, H., Foster-Cuevas, M., Brooke, G., Puklavec, M. J., Bigler, M., Song, Y., Jenmalm, M., Gorman, D., McClanahan, T., Liu, M. R., Brown, M. H., Sedgwick, J. D., Phillips, J. H., and Barclay, A. N. (2003). Characterization of the CD200 receptor family in mice and humans and their interactions with CD200. *J Immunol* 171(6), 3034-46.
- Wright, G. J., Puklavec, M. J., Willis, A. C., Hoek, R. M., Sedgwick, J. D., Brown, M. H., and Barclay, A. N. (2000). Lymphoid/neuronal cell surface OX2 glycoprotein recognizes a novel receptor on macrophages implicated in the control of their function. *Immunity* 13(2), 233-42.
- Wu, C., and Dedhar, S. (2001). Integrin-linked kinase (ILK) and its interactors: a new paradigm for the coupling of extracellular matrix to actin cytoskeleton and signaling complexes. J Cell Biol 155(4), 505-10.
- Wu, C. A., Nelson, N. J., McGeoch, D. J., and Challberg, M. D. (1988). Identification of herpes simplex virus type 1 genes required for origin-dependent DNA synthesis. *J Virol* 62(2), 435-43.
- Wu, F. Y., Ahn, J. H., Alcendor, D. J., Jang, W. J., Xiao, J., Hayward, S. D., and Hayward, G. S. (2001). Origin-independent assembly of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus DNA replication compartments in transient cotransfection assays and association with the ORF-K8 protein and cellular PML. *J Virol* 75(3), 1487-506.
- Wu, L., Lo, P., Yu, X., Stoops, J. K., Forghani, B., and Zhou, Z. H. (2000). Three-dimensional structure of the human herpesvirus 8 capsid. *J Virol* 74(20), 9646-54.
- Wu, S. X., Zhu, X. P., and Letchworth, G. J. (1998). Bovine herpesvirus 1 glycoprotein M forms a disulfide-linked heterodimer with the U(L)49.5 protein. J Virol 72(4), 3029-36.

- Yada, K., Do, E., Sakakibara, S., Ohsaki, E., Ito, E., Watanabe, S., and Ueda, K. (2006). KSHV RTA induces a transcriptional repressor, HEY1 that represses rta promoter. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 345(1), 410-8.
- Yang, Z., and Wood, C. (2007). The transcriptional repressor K-RBP modulates RTA-mediated transactivation and lytic replication of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. *J Virol* 81(12), 6294-306.
- Yang, Z., Yan, Z., and Wood, C. (2008). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus transactivator RTA promotes degradation of the repressors to regulate viral lytic replication. *J Virol* 82(7), 3590-603.
- Yaswen, L. R., Stephens, E. B., Davenport, L. C., and Hutt-Fletcher, L. M. (1993). Epstein-Barr virus glycoprotein gp85 associates with the BKRF2 gene product and is incompletely processed as a recombinant protein. *Virology* 195(2), 387-96.
- You, J., Srinivasan, V., Denis, G. V., Harrington, W. J., Jr., Ballestas, M. E., Kaye, K. M., and Howley, P. M. (2006). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus latency-associated nuclear antigen interacts with bromodomain protein Brd4 on host mitotic chromosomes. J Virol 80(18), 8909-19.
- Yu, Y., Black, J. B., Goldsmith, C. S., Browning, P. J., Bhalla, K., and Offermann, M. K. (1999).
   Induction of human herpesvirus-8 DNA replication and transcription by butyrate and TPA in BCBL-1 cells. *J Gen Virol* 80 (Pt 1), 83-90.
- Zhang, J., Wang, J., Wood, C., Xu, D., and Zhang, L. (2005). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus/human herpesvirus 8 replication and transcription activator regulates viral and cellular genes via interferon-stimulated response elements. *J Virol* 79(9), 5640-52.
- Zhao, J., Punj, V., Matta, H., Mazzacurati, L., Schamus, S., Yang, Y., Yang, T., Hong, Y., and Chaudhary, P. M. (2007). K13 Blocks KSHV Lytic Replication and Deregulates vIL6 and hIL6 Expression: A Model of Lytic Replication Induced Clonal Selection in Viral Oncogenesis. *PLoS ONE* 2(10), e1067.
- Zhong, W., Wang, H., Herndier, B., and Ganem, D. (1996). Restricted expression of Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (human herpesvirus 8) genes in Kaposi sarcoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 93(13), 6641-6.
- Zhu, F. X., Chong, J. M., Wu, L., and Yuan, Y. (2005). Virion proteins of Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus. *J Virol* 79(2), 800-11.
- Zhu, F. X., Cusano, T., and Yuan, Y. (1999). Identification of the immediate-early transcripts of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. *J Virol* 73(7), 5556-67.

- Zhu, F. X., King, S. M., Smith, E. J., Levy, D. E., and Yuan, Y. (2002). A Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesviral protein inhibits virus-mediated induction of type I interferon by blocking IRF-7 phosphorylation and nuclear accumulation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 99(8), 5573-8.
- Zhu, F. X., Li, X., Zhou, F., Gao, S. J., and Yuan, Y. (2006). Functional characterization of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus ORF45 by bacterial artificial chromosomebased mutagenesis. *J Virol* 80(24), 12187-96.
- Zhu, F. X., and Yuan, Y. (2003). The ORF45 protein of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus is associated with purified virions. *J Virol* 77(7), 4221-30.
- Zhu, L., Puri, V., and Chandran, B. (1999). Characterization of human herpesvirus-8 K8.1A/B glycoproteins by monoclonal antibodies. *Virology* 262(1), 237-49.
- Ziegler, J. L., and Katongole-Mbidde, E. (1996). Kaposi's sarcoma in childhood: an analysis of 100 cases from Uganda and relationship to HIV infection. *Int J Cancer* 65(2), 200-3.
- Ziegler, J. L., Simonart, T., and Snoeck, R. (2001). Kaposi's sarcoma, oncogenic viruses, and iron. *J Clin Virol* 20(3), 127-30.
- Zietz, C., Bogner, J. R., Goebel, F. D., and Lohrs, U. (1999). An unusual cluster of cases of Castleman's disease during highly active antiretroviral therapy for AIDS. N Engl J Med 340(24), 1923-4.

# **CHAPTER II**

# MOLECULAR DETERMINANTS OF KSHV TUMORIGENICITY INTRODUCTION

Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV), also known as human herpesvirus 8 (HHV-8), was first discovered in 1994 in Kaposi's sarcoma (KS) tumors of AIDS patients. KSHV is a member of the gamma-2-herpesvirus family (genus *Rhadinovirus*) (Neipel et al., 1997; Russo et al., 1996) and associated with the development of Kaposi's sarcoma, primary effusion lymphoma (PEL) or body cavity-based lymphoma (BCBL), and multicentric Castleman's disease (Antman and Chang, 2000; Ganem, 1998; Schulz, 1998a; Schulz, Sheldon, and Greensill, 2002). KSHV infects many human cell types; furthermore, KSHV has a number of oncogenes which alter target cell functions. Envelope-associated glycoprotein B gene is encoded by one of these oncogenes and is the focus of this chapter (Sarid et al., 1998).

Herpesviruses, as a general rule, initiate viral attachment to the cell surface by binding to ubiquitous glycosaminoglycans, such as heparan sulfate-like (HS-like) molecules. This attachment is mediated by several envelope-associated glycoproteins. Earlier studies have shown that KSHV binds to host cell HS-like receptors via the K8.1 protein and the RGD motif of gB. In contrast to the gB protein of EBV, KSHV gB is expressed on the surface of the cells and on the virion envelope (Akula et al., 2001a; Pertel, 2002; Wang et al., 2003). In addition, a recent study indicates that gB can regulate many cellular signaling pathways and facilitate virus penetration into host cells by specifically binding to the  $\alpha$ 5 $\beta$ 3 integrin through an RGD (Arg-Gly-Asp) motif. gB-mediated signaling pathways and cytoskeletal remodeling play important roles in the development of tumors (Sharma-Walia et al., 2004). Viral glycoprotein B is also

important in the fusion of the KSHV viral envelope with either cellular or endosomal membranes, as well as virion morphogenesis and egress (Birkmann et al., 2001).

The mechanisms of KSHV pathogenesis and tumorigenesis have not been fully elucidated due to the lack of appropriate animal models susceptible to KSHV infection. Since KSHV can only replicate in human cells, severe combined immunodeficient (SCID) mice have been engrafted with normal human tissue and subsequently injected with purified KSHV virions (Dittmer et al., 1999; Foreman et al., 2001; Picchio et al., 1997). Alternatively, KSHV-infected human tumor cells, such as PEL, have also been injected into SCID or nude mice (Komanduri et al., 1996; Salahuddin and Markham, 1988; Zenger et al., 2002). Mice injected with the cell-free KSHV virus did not develop tumors or clinical symptoms. However, ascites tumors were observed in SCID mice injected with KSHV-positive BCBL-1 cells. Studies on different BCBL-1 cell injection sites have suggested that intraperitoneal or subcutaneous injections of the PEL cell line in mice cause them to develop ascites or solid tumors (Picchio et. al., 1997). Moreover, the extracellular matrix is important for the development of tumors, and Matrigel matrix (solubilized basement membrane) is believed to facilitate PEL tumor growth (Staudt et al., 2004). A recent study shows that primary effusion lymphomas in NOD/SCID mice are inhibited by a combination of azidothymidine and interferon-alpha (Wu et al., 2005). Long-term-infected telomerase-immortalized endothelial (TIVE) cells have been successfully developed as a model for evaluation of KSHV latency in vitro and in vivo (Grisotto et al., 2006).

Stable 100% KSHV infected PEL cell lines are the most consistent model to study KSHV gene expression and function as well as the effects of infection. Many previous studies of human cancer cell types have suggested that the implantation of cells in nude mice have similar biological behaviors to these cancer cells in humans. An effective example of this is human

prostate cancer cells which form primary tumors but metastasize inefficiently when implanted in nude mice.

The overall objective of this study was to develop an animal model that could be used to assess the potential molecular determinants of KSHV tumorigenicity *in vivo*. RNA interference has been used as a powerful tool for silencing the function of specific genes (Arens et al., 2005; D'Alessio et al., 2004; Schweinitz et al., 2004). siRNAs provide a great potential strategy not only for the examination of gene function but also for the development of gene-specific therapeutic modalities (Gondi et al., 2003; Jiang, Rubbi, and Milner, 2004; Miyagishi and Taira, 2003). Previous studies in our laboratory have shown that the KSHV gB is important in virion egress from BCBL-1 cells. With this in mind, we injected PEL or BCBL-1 cells transfected with plasmid vectors expressing anti-gB siRNA and codon-optimized gB that cannot be recognized by anti-gB siRNAs in the presence of Matrigel subcutaneously in nude mice. Tumors treated with anti-gB siRNAs were significantly smaller than those in codon-optimized gB and negative control groups. The results of this study indicate that gB plays important roles in KSHV-induced tumorigenicity.

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### **Cells and Viruses Propagation**

The BCBL-1 cells harboring the rKSHV.152 genome constitutively expressing the green fluorescent protein (gift from Dr. Vieiria) were routinely grown in RPMI 1640 medium (HYCLONE) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) (HYCLONE), 2mM glutamine, 1% penicillin/streptomycin (pen/strep) (GIBCO) and 250 mg of G418/ml (GIBCO). The rKSHV.152 contained the green fluorescence protein (GFP) gene cassette under the human cytomegalovirus (CMV) immediate-early promoter, constitutively expressing the

GFP gene. 293 A cells (American Type Culture Collection, ATCC) were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM; GIBCO) with 10% FBS, 2 mM L-glutamine and 1% pen/strep. Cell cultures were maintained at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. The KSHV lytic cycle was induced in the BCBL-1 cells by adding 25 ng/ml of 12-O-tetracanoylphorbol-13-acetate (TPA, Sigma, St. Louis, Missouri). Virus from the supernatant was collected after 16 hours and treated with DNase I before extraction of viral DNA as described previously (Luna et al., 2004). The supernatants were collected 48 hours post induction with TPA for infectivity studies.

## Antibodies

Rabbit polyclonal antibodies generated in our laboratory against KSHV gB peptides were used to detect gB protein in western blot analysis as described previously (Baghian et al., 2000). The 16 peptide antibodies specific to 167-191 amino acids (a.a) of the gB protein were used in this study. Mouse anti-Hu GAPDH monoclonal antibodies were used to detect the GAPDH. Other antibodies were used in this study including rat polyclonal antibodies to LANA, mouse monoclonal antibodies to K8.1, mouse monoclonal antibodies to ORF 59 (Advanced Biotechnologies, Inc., Columbia, Md).

#### **Vectors Construction**

The siRNAs were constructed to target the 5' region of KSHV gB expression sequence. This construction was accomplished using AMBION's online siRNA Target Finder. The siRNA 18 was located from the nucleotide 403 after the ATG codon, while siRNA 22 located starting at 484 bases from the ATG codon. Two siRNAs specifically selected against gB were generated as follows: si18 (sense strand HindIII---5`AGCTTCAAGTATGAACTCCCGAGATTCAAGAGA TCTCGGGAGTTCATACTTGTTG-3`; anti-sense strand-EcoRI--5'AATTCAACAAGTATG

AACTCCCGAGATCTCTTGAATCTCGGGAGTTCATACTTGA-3'); si22 (sense strand-HindIII—5'AGCTTGGTAAATGTCAACGGGGGGTATTCAAGAGATACCCCGTTGACATTT ACCTTG-3'; anti-sense strand-EcoRI---5'AATTCAGGTAAATGTCAACGGGGGTATCTCTT GAATACCCCGTTGACATTTACCA-3'). The siRNAs oligonucleotides containing HindIII and EcoRI were designed to carry the HindIII and EcoRI overhangs at the 5' and 3' ends, respectively.

The siRNA 18 and siRNA 22 were denatured at 94 °C for 5 minutes and cool down slowly to room temperature allowing for annealing of the two strands. Each annealed siRNAs was cloned into the HindIII / EcoRI digested p3xFLAG vector by T4 DNA ligase (NEB). The ligation mixture was transformed into One Shot TOP10 chemically competent E. coli cells (Invitrogen) and spread on LB agar plate containing 100ug/ml ampicillin. All recombinant constructs were confirmed by further restriction enzymes digestion and sequenced to their structure.

#### **Codon Optimization**

The codon optimization of the first 540 bases of KSHV gB, from ATG to the HpaI restriction accomplished **DNAWorks** Web site. using the Site: were by http://molbio.info.nih.gov/dnaworks. This codon-optimized fragment was designed to replace the first 540 bp region of WT KSHV gB carrying siRNA's targeting sequences between the KpnI and HpaI sites. The codon-optimized gB was cloned in the expression vector p3xFLAG between the KpnI and BamHI sites. The wild type KSHV gB was cloned in the expression vector p3xFLAG within the KpnI and BamHI sites. A 577bp ECMV internal ribosome entry site (IRES) was amplified from pIRESHyg3 vector (Clontech) by using the primers indicated in Table 1. The recovered IRES fragment inserted between the BgIII and EcoRV restrictions sites

was placed downstream of the siRNA and upstream of codon-optimized gB in the p3xFLAG vector.

## **Transient Transfection of BCBL-1 Cells**

Transient transfection of BCBL-1 cells was carried out using Superfect (Qiagen) transfection agent according to the manufactuere's instructions. BCBL-1 cells were counted, followed by 3 washes in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). 0.5 x 10<sup>5</sup>/well cells were plated in 12-well plates. Cells were transfected with plasmids containing si18 IRES and si22 IRES together, p3xFLAG vector (negative control plasmid), and codon-optimized gB siRNA IRES mixed with Superfect in PRMI 1640 as recommended by the manufacturer. All transfections contained the same amount of total transfected DNA. After 4 h of incubation at 37 °C, fresh PRMI 1640 with 10 % fetal bovine serum was added.

#### **Tumor Formation**

Cells were counted, washed once in ice-cold PBS, and diluted in cold phenol red-free Matrigel (BD biosciences discovery labware). Female athymic nude mice (4 weeks of age; Charles River Laboratories) were housed in autoclaved cages with high-efficiency filter tops and autoclaved bedding. The animal room was kept at 25 °C with a 12-hr-dark cycle. At 6-7 weeks of age, the nude mice (n=10/group, 19-21g body weight) were injected subcutaneously with 5 x  $10^6$  transient transfected BCBL-1 cells containing 200 ul Matrigel. The mice were then observed every day for palpable tumors. Body weights were determined weekly, and tumor size was measured. Measurements were taken after 7 days of tumor inoculation using a digital microcaliper. Tumor volumes were calculated twice a week according to the following formula: volume = (length x width x height)/2. Subcutaneous masses with the overlying skin as well as the spleen, liver, kidney, heart, and lung removed from the nude mice were fixed in 10% neutral

formalin and stained with Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) stain (Vector Laboratories). Unstained slides from the above subcutaneous masses were routinely analyzed by using immunofluorescence assays.

The animal studies were approved by the Institution Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) of Louisiana State University (Baton Rouge). Animal care was in compliance with the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (Institute of Laboratory Animal Research, 1996).

#### In vivo Imaging

Mice were anesthetized through the use of intraperitoneal injections of Avertin (2-2-2 Tribromoethanol) at 0.2-0.4 mg/g. Three min after Avertin taking effect, the mice were transported and imaged for 5-7 min using KODAK In-Vivo Imaging System FX Pro (Carestream health). This system provides molecular signal localization in live animals.

## **Viral DNA Preparation**

Tumors from mice were prepared in PBS and homogenized manually with an all-glass Potter Elvehiem homogenizer (KIMBLE / KONTES.). TurboDNase I (Ambion) were used to treat 200 ml of the tumor homogenates for 2 hours at 37 °C to ensure that nonencapsidated genomes were absent. In these experiments, 1 U of TurboDNase I was used per 100 ul of sample. Viral DNA from tumor homogenates was extracted by using the DNeasy blood and tissue Kit (Qiagen) as the manufacturer's instructions.

# Immunofluorescence Assay

Antigen retrieval was done by microwaving tissue in 1.5% antigen unmasking solution (Vector Laboratories) for 20 min at 60 °C and cooling at room temperature for 20 min. The 4µm sections from formalin-fixed and paraffin-embedded tumor tissues were washed with 1x PBS (phosphate

buffered saline) and 1x PBS containing 0.1% gelatin from cold water fish skin (FSG) (Sigma-Aldrich) for 10 min, respectively. The tumor sections were blocked by 10% mouse serum for 15 followed 200 ul DakoCytomation protein-block-serum-free min bv of solution (DakoCytomation) of each slide for 15 min at room temperature. The sections were first stained with rat polyclonal antibodies to LANA, mouse monoclonal antibodies to K8.1, mouse monoclonal antibodies to ORF59 (Advanced Biotechnologies) at 1:100 dilution and rabbit antigB polyclonal antibodies at 1:500 dilution for 1 h at room temperature in the humidity box. Slides were washed with 1x PBS/FSG for 10 min and then incubated with AlexaFluor 488labeled goat anti-rat IgG, AlexaFluor 488-labeled goat anti-mouse IgG, or AlexaFluor 488labeled goat anti-rabbit IgG (Invitrogen) for 30 min at room temperature in the humidity box. All AlexaFluor 488-labled goat IgGs were filtered with 0.2um PES w/GMF (Whatman) filters before being applied to slides. All the slides were washed once with 1x PBS and the nuclei were stained by incubation with 1ug/ml of DAPI (Invitrogen) for 30 min at room temperature. Slides covered with cover-slips were washed once with 1x PBS and observed using fluorescence microscopy.

## **BCBL-1 Cells Proliferation Rate Assay**

The *in vitro* cell proliferation rate of transiently transfected and non-transfected GFP-positive BCBL-1 cells was determined by plating BCBL-1 cells (in triplicate) with and without Matrigel in the wells of 96-well plates. BCBL-1 cells were transfected with plasmids containing siRNAs, siRNA-codon-optimized gB and empty vector p3xFlag. Transfected and non-transfected GFP-positive BCBL-1 cells plated in the absence of Matrigel in the other 96-well plate were used as controls. Cells were harvested and counted using a hemocytometer from day 1 to day 7.

# **Statistical Analysis**

The SAS® (Version 9.1.3) GLM procedure was used to analyze the data of tumor volumes in an analysis of variance of a split-plot arrangement. Statistical analyses using this model included the treatment group and the group of untreated animals as main plot effects, and the Period and Treatment Group by Period interaction as subplot effects. When overall F tests indicated significance, post hoc pairwise comparisons of main effects were conducted with Turkey's HSD test. Pairwise comparisons of significant interaction effects were made with t tests of least-square means. All comparisons were considered significant at  $P \le 0.05$ .

PRIMER NAME	SEQUENCE 5`-3`
Ires For.	agateteactagaggaatteeg
Ires Rev.	gatatcgtggcaagcttatcatc
gB Universal For	tccagactacccacgaggac
gB Universal Rev	gtcaggttaatcgcggacat
gB WT For	gacacctttcagacgt
gB WT Rev	tctcgggagttcatacttgt
Orf 59 Pro	FAM cgcgtgagctattcggtgcgaata TAMRA
Orf 59 For	tcagcttcaggaatacgtccg
Orf 59 Rev	ggctatgccagcgtcgagta
GAPDH For	gattccacccatggcaaatt
GAPDH Rev	aagatggtgatgggatttccatt

# Table2.1: Synthetic Oligonucleotide Primers

## RESULTS

# **Construction and Characteristics of Expression Plasmids**

To study the role of glycoprotein B in KSHV virus egress and tumor progression, we used siRNAs to knockdown gB gene expression in BCBL-1 or PEL cells. gB expression has been linked to virus-induced cell fusion as well as entry. First, we developed p3xFlag-CMV plasmid vectors containing the wild-type (WT) gB genes and codon-optimized gB. The corresponding WT region, from ATG to the HpaI site of the codon-optimized gB, was replaced with a 540 base fragment amplified by a set of 22 overlapping primers. siRNAs-IRES driven by human CMV promoter, were cloned by inserting siRNAs between the HindIII and EcoRI sites followed by an IRES fragment. The 577 bp internal ribosome entry site (IRES) of the encephalomyocarditis virus (ECMV) was amplified from pIRESHyg3 vector, which allows the expression of multiple proteins from one transcriptional mRNA. The consistent expression of siRNAs targeted gB at the positions of 403 bp and 483 bp respectively. siRNAs-IRES-codon-optimized gBs were constructed by inserting the IRES fragment downstream from between siRNAs and codonoptimized gB sequentially into the p3xFlag-CMV vector. Next, siRNAs-IRES plasmids and siRNAs-IRES-codon-optimized gBs were transfected in the 293 cells and BCBL-1 cells. BCBL-1 cells transfected with Superfect, wide type gB and non-specific siRNAs were used as controls.

# **Transient Expression of gB In 293 Cells**

As shown in Figure 2.3, analysis of the siRNA-transfected 293 cells for gB gene expression via reverse transcription-PCR demonstrated a significant reduction in mRNA levels of gB in 293 cells. However, gB expression was recovered in siRNA-IRES-codon-optimized gB transfected cells. In contrast, there was no dramatic inhibition of gB expression in 293 cells alone, Superfect-transfected 293 cells, wide type gB-expressing vector transfected 293 cells, or non-

specific siRNAs plasmid transfected 293 cells. Western blot analysis of cell debris showed that decreased gB protein production (as indicated in Figure 2.3) was associated with decreased mRNA gB expression. Similarly, no effects of inhibition of siRNAs were observed on the expression of GAPDH, which was used as an internal control for specificity and loading mRNA



**Figure 2.1: Small Interfering RNAs (siRNAs) Selectively Block Expression of Genes.** siRNAs binds to the RNAi silencing complex (RISC) which first mediates unwinding of siRNAs and binds to its target mRNA in a sequence specific way. Codon-optimized gB can't be degraded since the target sequence of siRNAs is replaced by the codon-optimized sequence. siRNAs oligonucleotides were synthesized to target WT gB at the positions 403 bp and 484 bp.



**Figure 2.2: Strategy Used to Construct the Codon-Optimized KSHV gB.** The codonoptimized fragment amplified by PCR replaced the WT gB from the first 540 base pairs between the restriction sites KpnI and HpaI. siRNA-IRES-codon-optimized gB was cloned into p3xFlag with siRNAs insertion between the HindIII site and EcoRI site followed by codon-optimized gB. The IRES gene was inserted at the restriction sites BgIII and EcoRV between siRNAs and codon-optimized gB.



**Figure 2.3: siRNAs 18 and siRNAs 22 Specifically Inhibit KSHV gB Expression in 293 Cells.** Mock and 293 cells transfected with siRNAs and codon-optimized gB plasmids were examined by Reverse Transcription-PCR. Total RNA was extracted from mock and 293 transfected cells as described in materials and methods. The GAPDH mRNA was also amplified as an internal control. Western blot of total protein extracted lysates was extracted from cell debris. GAPDH was used as a loading control. siRNAs specifically down-regulated KSHV gB expression at both mRNA and protein levels.

levels as well as protein levels. These investigations clearly demonstrated the following: Wide

type gB effectively complimented codon-optimized gB in 293 cells. More importantly, siRNAs

18 and siRNAs 22 specifically inhibited KSHV gB expression.

# **Transient Expression of gB In BCBL-1 Cells**

BCBL-1 or PEL cell lines have been shown to represent the most consistent model for studying KSHV gene expression and function in tumorigenicity. KSHV expresses a small percentage of lytic infected cells while mainly expressing latent cells, which can be induced to become lytic with the 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol 13-acetate (TPA). Analysis of the effects of gene-specific siRNAs 18 and siRNAs 22 on KSHV gB expression in BCBL-1 cells used reverse transcription-PCR. Transient transfected BCBL-1 cells were induced by 25ng/ml TPA for 12 hours and

harvested. Total soluble RNA was extracted from cellular debris treated with DNase I. The mRNA level of WT gB expression was drastically reduced in siRNAs transfected BCBL-1 cells; while no significant inhibition of WT mRNA gB expression was observed in either siRNA-IRES-codon-optimized gB transfected cells or control BCBL-1 cells. Similarly again, reduced gB protein expression was correlated with siRNAs transfected cells in contrast to siRNA-IRES-codon-optimized gB transfected or control BCBL-1 cells. The expression of GAPDH was not inhibited by siRNAs, which was used as an internal control to normalize gB mRNA levels as well as protein levels. Therefore, siRNAs 18 and siRNA 22 effectively silenced KSHV gB mRNA levels as well as protein expression in both the 293 cells and BCBL-1 cells.

# Quantification of KSHV by TaqMan PCR

To better quantify the amount of virus produced by the transfection of BCBL-1 cells, a real-time PCR assay targeting ORF59 (a KSHV early lytic gene) was essential. KSHV ORF59 encodes a viral DNA polymerase processivity factor involved in viral DNA replication. Viral DNA was extracted using DNeasy tissue and Blood kit in the above supernatants of transfected BCBL-1 cells. KSHV DNA was generated based on known amounts of BAC36 DNA containing the WT KSHV genome. The concentration of purified BAC36 DNA was determined by measuring optical density at 260 nm and by comparative gel electrophoresis using known amounts of diluted BAC36 was constructed by diluting BAC36 DNA at serial 10-fold levels. The C<sub>t</sub> value was identified as the cycle number at which fluorescence detection exceeded an established constant threshold level among all the experiments.

As shown in Figure 2.5, siRNA 18- and siRNA 22- transfected BCBL-1 cells produced relatively large numbers of KSHV genomes in supernatants, with a little higher amount of viral

- 95 -

genomes produced in the siRNA 18 group. BCBL-1 cells alone or transfected with Superfect produced about two-fold more viral KSHV genome than cells transfected with siRNAs18 and



**Figure 2.4: siRNAs 18 and siRNAs 22 Specifically Inhibit KSHV gB Expression in BCBL-1 Cells.** Reverse Transcription-PCR was used to examine gB expression in mock and BCBL-1 cells transfected with siRNAs and codon-optimized gB plasmids. Total RNA was extracted from mock and transiently transfected BCBL-1 cells as described in materials and methods. The GAPDH mRNA was an internal control. Western blot of total protein extracted lysates was extracted from cell debris. The GAPDH protein was used as a loading control. siRNAs specifically inhibited KSHV gB expression at both mRNA and protein levels in BCBL-1 cells.



**Figure 2.5: Reduced KSHV Genomes in Supernatants from BCBL-1 Cells Transfected with siRNAs Determined by Quantitative Real-time PCR.** Supernatants were treated with DNase I to remove nonencapsidated genomes. Viral DNA and real-time PCR used the supernatants from cells transfected with plasmids containing siRNAs and siRNAs-IRES-codon-optimization gB. Supernatants from cells transfected with non-specific siRNAs, Superfect and mock cells were used as controls. Error bars indicate standard deviations.

siRNAs 22. This effect of inhibition was siRNAs specific, since transfection of non-specific

siRNAs did not down-regulate the expression of viral genomes found in supernatants.

Codon-optimization has been indicated as a powerful tool for enhancing protein expression by altering gene sequences from small RNA and DNA viruses (Bradel-Tretheway, Zhen, and Dewhurst, 2003; Villalobos et al., 2006). Hence, the number of KSHV genomes found in supernatants of codon-optimized gB transfected BCBL-1 cells were a little higher than in Superfect, non-specific siRNAs transfected and negative control BCBL-1 cells; this may be due to the codon optimization in the gB gene sequence. Transfection of siRNAs 18-codonoptimized plasmid yielded approximately three fold more viral genomes in BCBL-1 cells compared to those found in siRNAs transfected BCBL-1 cells.

# **Characteristics of PELs in Nude Mice**

In our studies, BCBL-1 cells were transiently transfected with the same plasmids as mentioned above. Female athymic nude mice (nu/nu; n=10/group) were injected subcutaneously in the interscapular area with  $5 \times 10^6$  transiently transfected BCBL-1 cells mixed with Matrigel. Tumor incidence and tumor volume were recorded twice a week until sacrifice. Mice weight was measured once a week. The palpable tumor was typically observed 7 and 14 days after tumor inoculation. When the tumor growth was detectable, the tumor volume (mm<sup>3</sup>) was measured every 3-4 days. Representative figures of tumors in mice injected with transfected BCBL-1 cells are presented in Figure 2.6.



**Figure 2.6: A Representative Subcutaneous Mass before and after Dissection.** A. Mouse showing subcutaneous PEL tumor in the presence of Matrigel four weeks after inoculation. B. Appearance of PEL tumor in Matrigel after dissection of the skin (the red circle).

# In Vivo Imaging of PEL Tumors

As shown in Figure 2.7, BCBL-1 cells constitutively expressed the GFP gene, allowing for detection of tumor progression and eukaryotic cells containing KSHV genomes under fluorescence microscopy. Constitutive expression of GFP was produced by the KSHV genomes that containing green fluorescence protein (GFP) gene cassette driven by the human cytomegalovirus (CMV) immediate-early promoter. KSHV is essential for the development of primary effusion lymphomas. In order to localize KSHV genomes in subcutaneous tumors in live mice, we use X-ray and fluorescence to image living nude mice. This is an example of the

tumor in nude mice which contains the GFP-positive tumor by X-ray and florescence as shown by Figure 2.7.



Figure 2.7: X-ray and Fluorescent Image of Nude Mouse . GFPexpressing BCBL-1 cells were injected into the interscapular area of nude mice. Mice were anesthetized with Avertin i.p. and images were taken by using KODAK In-Vivo Imaging System FX Pro. Detection of green fluorescence from GFP gene in cells indicated KSHV genomes in PEL tumors.

# Proliferation of BCBL-1 Cells In Vitro with Matrigel

The RGD motif of gB is important for cell attachment via the interaction between cell surface molecules and integrins. In addition, the RGD sequence participates in vascular development and remodeling mediated by binding to extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins and endothelial cells. Transiently transfected BCBL-1 cells were plated in 96-well plates in either the presence or absence of Matrigel. Cell numbers were counted every day, from day 1 to day 6. As shown in Figure 2.8B, GFP expressing BCBL-1 cells tend to grow together in the center of wells in contrast to the distinct distribution of individual cells in the matrigel. In the absence of matrigel, BCBL-1 cells transfected with plasmids containing siRNAs, siRNAs-IRES-codon-optimized gB and negative control p3xFlag vectors grew faster higher than cells supported by Matrigel (graph). No significant differences were observed among different groups of BCBL-1 cells.







Cells with Matrigel

Cells without Matrigel

**Figure 2.8:** *In Vitro* **GFP+ BCBL-1 Cells Proliferation Rate with matrigel.** Cells were counted every day by using hemocytometer. GFP expressing BCBL-1 cells in the absence of Matrigel were tended to grow together in the center of the well. In contrast, in the presence of Matrigel, cells grew separately. All images were at x50 magnification level.

# **PEL Tumor Growth**

Subcutaneous masses developed in nude mice injected with siRNAs transfected BCBL-1 cells

produced a highly significantly smaller size of tumors (P < 0.0001) in comparison with controls of codon-optimized, negative control p3xFlag vectors and mock cells alone 17 days after inoculation (Figure 2.9). Tumors with Matrigel formed in nude mice injected with codonoptimized transfected PEL cells showed no significant difference from those obtained from nontransfected BCBL-1 cells with slightly larger tumor volumes. Statistical analysis indicated that
tumors injected with negative control p3xFlag vectors were significantly different from that injected with codon-optimized, siRNAs transfected or non-transfected mock cells (p<0.0001). From day 7 to 30 after inoculation, tumors in mice injected with codon-optimized, p3xFlag vectors and BCBL-1 cells were not significantly different within the same periods as indicated by the overlapped bars. Correlation analysis of mice weight and tumor growth demonstrated that



**Figure 2.9: Effect of Transfected BCBL-1 Cells in Nude Mice.** Primary effusion lymphomas were established by injecting subcutaneously mock-transfected and transfected BCBL-1 cells with various plasmids in the presence of Matrigel into the interscapular areas of nude mice. Tumor volumes were recorded with a digital caliper every 3-4 days (*x* axis). BCBL-1 cells were transiently transfected with plasmids harboring siRNAs-IRES, siRNAs-IRES-codon-optimized gB and p3xFlag vector (negative control). "0" indicates the first day of injection. Tumor volumes were estimated according to the formula: volume = (length x width x height)/2. All results at each time points are presented as means  $\pm$  standard errors. Overlapped standard error bars indicated a not significant difference among different groups.

tumor growth was not affected by different weight gain/loss in all four study groups of nude mice injected with cells transfected different plasmids (data not shown).

## **Pathobiological Examination of Tumors**

Neoplastic cells were observed within the subcutaneous masses; however, there was no evidence of metastasis in spleen, liver, kidney, heart, or lung. No overt histological difference was present in the subcutaneous masses among the groups. The masses were composed of multiple islands and/or sheets of round to polygonal neoplastic cells admixed with abundant eosinophilic homogeneous material (Matrigel) (Figure 2.10A). The sheets of neoplastic cells were mostly present at the periphery of the masses. The neoplastic cells were shown to have a round to irregular shaped nuclei with small to moderate amount of cytoplasm (Figure 2.10B). Based on the nuclear morphology, the neoplastic cells were separated to three types: 1. lymphoblastic cell type characterized by a large irregular shaped hyperchromatic nucleus with an obscured nucleoli; 2. immunoblastic cell type characterized by a large irregular shaped nucleus with single or multiple prominent nucleoli; 3. small lymphocytic cell type characterized by a small round hyperchromatic nucleus with an obscured nucleolus. Each neoplasm consisted of single or mixed cell types described above. The mitotic rate was 0 to 15 per high power field (x400), and there were occasional binucleated cells. Occasionally, neoplastic cells were separated by clear spaces, which were most consistent with an artifact during the process of sectioning. Multifocal necrosis was present within all masses except one injected BCBL cells. There were rare infiltrates of macrophages. All masses contained small numbers of blood vessels, which were lined by plump endothelial cells and contained erythrocytes (Figure 2.10B), and/or spindle cells interpreted as endothelial cells forming capillaries or fibroblasts (Figure 2.10B inset).



**Figure 2.10: Subcutaneous Masses Stained with Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E).** (A) Multiple islands and sheets of neoplastic cells were observed within abundant eosinophilic homogeneous material (Matrigel) as well as multifocal necrotic areas. (B) Round to polygonal neoplastic cells had large irregular shaped nuclei containing occasional prominent nucleoli, with multiple mitotic figures (long white arrow). A focal area of necrosis characterized by pyknotic nuclei and cellular debris was surrounded by short white arrows. The blood vessel lined by plump endothelial cells and filled with erythrocytes was indicated by a black arrow. Spindle cells within Matrigel were shown inset.

# **Characterization of KSHV Infected PEL Tumor Cells**

Previous studies have indicated that the marker of KSHV latency, latent nuclear-associated (LANA) protein, is expressed in all the PEL or BCBL-1 cells in suspension culture. To further determine the presence of KSHV in the GFP<sup>+</sup> BCBL-1 cells of tumors; immunofluorescence was carried out to examine the expression of the LANA antigen of PEL tumors supported by Matrigel in mice. As seen in Figure 2.11D, most of the tumor cells were positively stained for LANA in tumors derived from BCBL-1 cells. The LANA antigen was detected as a classic nuclear punctuated pattern suggesting KSHV episomes in the host chromosome (Ballestas, Chatis, and Kaye, 1999) as shown in Figure 2.11E. To further investigate the characterization of the KSHV-harboring BCBL-1 cells in tumors and the status of their KSHV infection, tumor cells were detected from the transient expression of gB and lytic genes K8.1 and ORF59 by indirect immunofluorescence. Antibodies against glycoprotein B and late lytic antigen K8.1 stained cells



**Figure 2.11: KSHV Lytic and Latent Gene Expression of in Matrigel-Supported BCBL-1 Tumors.** (A) Tumor tissue was stained with anti-gB rabbit polyclonal antibodies and detected with AlexaFluor 488-conjugated anti-rabbit antibodies in the cell membranes. (B) Tumor sections were stained with mouse monoclonal antibodies against the K8.1 protein and detected with AlexaFluor 488-conjugated anti-mouse antibodies in the cell membranes. (C) The tumor was stained with a mouse monoclonal antibody against the lytic ORF 59 protein followed by secondary antibody, AlexaFluor 488-conjugated anti-mouse antibody. (D) The tumor was stained with a rat polyclonal antibody against the LANA protein and detected with AlexaFluor 488-conjugated anti-rat polyclonal antibodies. (E) Nuclei were stained by DAPI. DPAI is merged with the LANA protein which displays a punctuate pattern. All images are at x 1000 magnification.

were stained in their cell membranes (Figure 2.11 A and B). ORF59 (DNA processivity factor) showed nuclear stain. These results together showed that lytic reactivation from latently infected cells harboring KSHV occurred during the development of tumors.

## DISCUSSION

BCBL-1 cell lines harboring patient-derived KSHV have been demonstrated to be the most consistent model for investigating the structure and function of KSHV genes in both lytic and latent replication. Furthermore, virtually all PEL cells express the viral latency-associated nuclear antigen LANA, v-Cyclin, and v-FLIP indicating that KSHV is required for tumorigenesis (Dupin et al., 1999; Fakhari and Dittmer, 2002; Sarid et al., 1998).

RNA interference has been used as a powerful tool for silencing the function of specific genes (Schweinitz et. al., 2004, Arens et. al., 2005, D'Alessio et. al., 2004). Although conventional antisense technologies are sequence selective and provide very good alternatives to conventional gene deletion technologies, it is common for anti-sense RNA to only transiently and partially suppress the expression of the genes of interest (Gondi et. al., 2003, Arens et. al., 2005, Miyagishi et. al., 2003). siRNA provides a new and effective strategy not only for the examination of gene function but also for the development of gene-specific therapeutic candidates (Gondi et al., 2003; Jiang, Rubbi, and Milner, 2004; Miyagishi and Taira, 2003).

The cloning of HHV-8 genome into bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC) allowed the rapid generation of KSHV mutant viruses (Gao, 2003; Zhou, 2002, Zhu 2006). Mutated KSHV viruses have been constructed to investigate the function of KSHV genes essential for growth and replication in tissue culture. However, these viral genomes, in most cases, could not lead to robust infection and production of relatively large numbers of infectious virions effectively limiting their use in investigating the structure and function of individual viral proteins.

In this study, anti-gB siRNAs were used to inhibit gB synthesis in BCBL-1 cells that produce large amounts of infectious virions upon the induction of lytic replication. Cotransfection of BCBL-1 cells with anti-gB siRNAs and the codon-optimized gB, which is not susceptible to siRNA inhibition, effectively increased gB mRNA levels and gB expression. In these experiments, the siRNAs were cloned in tandem with the codon-optimized gB to ensure the co-expression into the same transfected 293 and BCBL-1 cells. gB mRNA expression and gB proteins was reduced by approximately 40-60% in the experiments of transient expression of either si18 or si22 in both 293 and BCBL-1 cells. Therefore, a disproportionate number of BCBL-1 cells may be both transfected and reactivated if the transfection rate of BCBL-1 cells is not associated with lytic gene expression. Recently, BCBL-1 cells in the S phase were shown to be more likely to undergo reactivation and display a smoother surface topology compared to those in G0/G1 phase (Whitman et al., 2007).

Studies have shown that gB may serve both conserved and different functions in gBmediated cell fusion, virion assembly, egress and infectivity among different herpesviruses. KSHV gB is essential for KSHV egress from 293 cells. These results were obtained using a KSHV gB-null mutant obtained by insertion inactivation of the KSHV gB using a cloned KSHV genome as a bacterial artificial chromosome (Bac) plasmid (Krishnan et al., 2005) . In this study, we showed that siRNA inhibition of gB synthesis led to drastic reduction in virion egress and infectivity in agreement with previous results indicating that gB is essential for virion egress and infectivity. However, the cytoplasmic terminus of gB from amino acid residues 761 to 787 is not essential for either virion egress or infectivity since gB truncations carrying this deletion did not affect virion egress and infectivity. Therefore, these results suggest that KSHV gB domains other than the cytoplasmic domain are involved in virion egress and infectivity. Lack of gB caused the inhibition of virion egress while complementation of transient gB expression rescued KSHV virion egress from 293 cells. It is possible that either or both the intramembrane and extra-cytoplasmic domains of gB directly or indirectly interact with some membrane bound proteins and glycoproteins associated with virion egress in the cytoplasm.

Our results demonstrated that anti-gB siRNAs quite effectively down-regulated the expression of KSHV gB mRNA as well as protein levels. In order to gain a better understanding of the role of KSHV gB in tumorigenesis, we successfully established a mouse model using anti-gB siRNAs-mediated silencing of gB system. In nude mice subcutaneously injected with BCBL-1 cells transiently transfected with anti-gB siRNAs, we found significant smaller tumors compared with mock- or only codon-optimized gB transfected cells. Tumors growing from mock BCBL-1 in the presence of Matrigel were slightly smaller than those developed in codon-optimized gB transiently transfected BCBL-1 cells supported by Matrigel. This might be due to optimized codon usage that enhances KSHV gB gene expression.

In summary, KSHV glycoprotein B can enhance virus egress from infected cells. There is a slight difference of cell proliferation between transfected and non-transfected BCBL-1 cells in the Matrigel. Statistical analysis of tumor volumes showed that tumors in nude mice injected with siRNAs-transfected BCBL-1 cells were significantly smaller compared to the tumors formed in the mice injected with siRNAs-IRES-codon-optimized gB, negative vector and mock cells. Histological examination demonstrated multiple islands and periphery tumor masses, a number of blood vessels and spindle formation in the tumors with Matrigel. However, differences of neither pathobiological morphologies nor angiogenesis in tumors among different experimental groups were observed. Surprisingly, both latent and lytic genes were detected in tumors by immunofluorescence indicating that KSHV lytic infection may be important in PELs.

What is the reason that tumors were reduced in siRNA-transfected BCBL-1 cells injected nude mice? One possibility is that the production of infectious virus enhances tumorigenesis, possibly by direct infection of adjacent cells including endothelial cells that could enhance angiogenesis and other tumor-assisting functions. Clinical studies show that KSHV lytic replication is critical for KS pathogenesis. In order to expand a tumor mass, latently infected BCBL-1 cells injected into nude mice die and must be replaced by new latently infected cells. To provide such cells, endothelial cells infected with viruses produced by lytic replication become very important. Another possible explanation is that lytic KSHV infected cells may produce some paracrine signaling molecules that lead to promotion in both the inflammation and angiogenesis of PEL tumors. KSHV genome encodes a number of viral genes that produce signaling molecules homologous to cellular cytokines or chemokines. Most of these genes are lytic genes, including viral CC chemokines vMIP, vIL-6, vGPCR (Aoki et al., 2001; Luttichau et al., 2000; Nador et al., 2001). This study may provide new insights into the mechanisms of KSHV tumorigenesis.

Angiogenesis is characterized by the formation of new blood vessels from pre-existing ones. Angiogenesis is a prerequisite for the growth and metastasis of many solid tumors. Angiogenesis is predominantly regulated by vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and basic fibroblast growth factor (b-FCG) released by tumor and/or stromal cells. Angiogenesis plays important roles in pathogenesis of hematological malignancies. It was shown that KSHVinfected cells secrete VEGF and induce *in vitro* angiogenesis. KSHV gB has been reported to facilitate KSHV infection and transformation via its interaction with VEGF receptor-3 (Zhang et al., 2005). We also found that anti-gB inhibited the expression of VEGF in BCBL-1 cells transfected by anti-gB siRNAs *in vitro* (Subramanian, personal communication). This may suggest that anti-gB siRNAs inhibit the interaction between gB and VEGF resulting in the reduction of tumor size in nude mice injected with BCBL-1 cells transiently transfected plasmids coding for anti-gB siRNAs. However, more experiments are needed in order to really understand gB functions.

## REFERENCES

- Akula, S. M., Pramod, N. P., Wang, F. Z., and Chandran, B. (2001). Human herpesvirus 8 envelope-associated glycoprotein B interacts with heparan sulfate-like moieties. Virology 284(2), 235-49.
- Antman, K., and Chang, Y. (2000). Kaposi's sarcoma. N Engl J Med 342(14), 1027-38.
- Aoki, Y., Narazaki, M., Kishimoto, T., and Tosato, G. (2001). Receptor engagement by viral interleukin-6 encoded by Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. Blood 98(10), 3042-9.
- Arens, N., Gandhari, M., Bleyl, U., and Hildenbrand, R. (2005). In vitro suppression of urokinase plasminogen activator in breast cancer cells--a comparison of two antisense strategies. Int J Oncol 26(1), 113-9.
- Baghian, A., Luftig, M., Black, J. B., Meng, Y. X., Pau, C. P., Voss, T., Pellett, P. E., and Kousoulas, K. G. (2000). Glycoprotein B of human herpesvirus 8 is a component of the virion in a cleaved form composed of amino- and carboxyl-terminal fragments. Virology 269(1), 18-25.
- Ballestas, M. E., Chatis, P. A., and Kaye, K. M. (1999). Efficient persistence of extrachromosomal KSHV DNA mediated by latency-associated nuclear antigen. Science 284(5414), 641-4.
- Birkmann, A., Mahr, K., Ensser, A., Yaguboglu, S., Titgemeyer, F., Fleckenstein, B., and Neipel, F. (2001). Cell surface heparan sulfate is a receptor for human herpesvirus 8 and interacts with envelope glycoprotein K8.1. J Virol 75(23), 11583-93.
- Bradel-Tretheway, B. G., Zhen, Z., and Dewhurst, S. (2003). Effects of codon-optimization on protein expression by the human herpesvirus 6 and 7 U51 open reading frame. J Virol Methods 111(2), 145-56.
- D'Alessio, S., Margheri, F., Pucci, M., Del Rosso, A., Monia, B. P., Bologna, M., Leonetti, C., Scarsella, M., Zupi, G., Fibbi, G., and Del Rosso, M. (2004). Antisense oligodeoxynucleotides for urokinase-plasminogen activator receptor have anti-invasive and anti-proliferative effects in vitro and inhibit spontaneous metastases of human melanoma in mice. Int J Cancer 110(1), 125-33.

- Dittmer, D., Stoddart, C., Renne, R., Linquist-Stepps, V., Moreno, M. E., Bare, C., McCune, J. M., and Ganem, D. (1999). Experimental transmission of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV/HHV-8) to SCID-hu Thy/Liv mice. J Exp Med 190(12), 1857-68.
- Dupin, N., Fisher, C., Kellam, P., Ariad, S., Tulliez, M., Franck, N., van Marck, E., Salmon, D., Gorin, I., Escande, J. P., Weiss, R. A., Alitalo, K., and Boshoff, C. (1999). Distribution of human herpesvirus-8 latently infected cells in Kaposi's sarcoma, multicentric Castleman's disease, and primary effusion lymphoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96(8), 4546-51.
- Fakhari, F. D., and Dittmer, D. P. (2002). Charting latency transcripts in Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus by whole-genome real-time quantitative PCR. J Virol 76(12), 6213-23.
- Foreman, K. E., Friborg, J., Chandran, B., Katano, H., Sata, T., Mercader, M., Nabel, G. J., and Nickoloff, B. J. (2001). Injection of human herpesvirus-8 in human skin engrafted on SCID mice induces Kaposi's sarcoma-like lesions. J Dermatol Sci 26(3), 182-93.
- Ganem, D. (1998). Human herpesvirus 8 and its role in the genesis of Kaposi's sarcoma. Curr Clin Top Infect Dis 18, 237-51.
- Gondi, C. S., Lakka, S. S., Yanamandra, N., Siddique, K., Dinh, D. H., Olivero, W. C., Gujrati, M., and Rao, J. S. (2003). Expression of antisense uPAR and antisense uPA from a bicistronic adenoviral construct inhibits glioma cell invasion, tumor growth, and angiogenesis. Oncogene 22(38), 5967-75.
- Grisotto, M. G., Garin, A., Martin, A. P., Jensen, K. K., Chan, P., Sealfon, S. C., and Lira, S. A. (2006). The human herpesvirus 8 chemokine receptor vGPCR triggers autonomous proliferation of endothelial cells. J Clin Invest 116(5), 1264-73.
- Jiang, M., Rubbi, C. P., and Milner, J. (2004). Gel-based application of siRNA to human epithelial cancer cells induces RNAi-dependent apoptosis. Oligonucleotides 14(4), 239-48.
- Komanduri, K. V., Luce, J. A., McGrath, M. S., Herndier, B. G., and Ng, V. L. (1996). The natural history and molecular heterogeneity of HIV-associated primary malignant lymphomatous effusions. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 13(3), 215-26.
- Luna, R. E., Zhou, F., Baghian, A., Chouljenko, V., Forghani, B., Gao, S. J., and Kousoulas, K. G. (2004). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus glycoprotein K8.1 is dispensable for virus entry. J Virol 78(12), 6389-98.
- Luttichau, H. R., Stine, J., Boesen, T. P., Johnsen, A. H., Chantry, D., Gerstoft, J., and Schwartz, T. W. (2000). A highly selective CC chemokine receptor (CCR)8 antagonist encoded by the poxvirus molluscum contagiosum. J Exp Med 191(1), 171-80.

- Miyagishi, M., and Taira, K. (2003). Strategies for generation of an siRNA expression library directed against the human genome. Oligonucleotides 13(5), 325-33.
- Nador, R. G., Milligan, L. L., Flore, O., Wang, X., Arvanitakis, L., Knowles, D. M., and Cesarman, E. (2001). Expression of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus G proteincoupled receptor monocistronic and bicistronic transcripts in primary effusion lymphomas. Virology 287(1), 62-70.
- Neipel, F., Albrecht, J. C., Ensser, A., Huang, Y. Q., Li, J. J., Friedman-Kien, A. E., and Fleckenstein, B. (1997). Human herpesvirus 8 encodes a homolog of interleukin-6. J Virol 71(1), 839-42.
- Pertel, P. E. (2002). Human herpesvirus 8 glycoprotein B (gB), gH, and gL can mediate cell fusion. J Virol 76(9), 4390-400.
- Picchio, G. R., Sabbe, R. E., Gulizia, R. J., McGrath, M., Herndier, B. G., and Mosier, D. E. (1997). The KSHV/HHV8-infected BCBL-1 lymphoma line causes tumors in SCID mice but fails to transmit virus to a human peripheral blood mononuclear cell graft. Virology 238(1), 22-9.
- Russo, J. J., Bohenzky, R. A., Chien, M. C., Chen, J., Yan, M., Maddalena, D., Parry, J. P., Peruzzi, D., Edelman, I. S., Chang, Y., and Moore, P. S. (1996). Nucleotide sequence of the Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (HHV8). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93(25), 14862-7.
- Salahuddin, S. Z., and Markham, P. D. (1988). Retroviruses: new viral infections in man. Pediatr Infect Dis J 7(5 Suppl), S107-19.
- Sarid, R., Flore, O., Bohenzky, R. A., Chang, Y., and Moore, P. S. (1998). Transcription mapping of the Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (human herpesvirus 8) genome in a body cavity-based lymphoma cell line (BC-1). J Virol 72(2), 1005-12.
- Schulz, T. F. (1998). Future trends in Kaposi's sarcoma and lymphoma. Int J STD AIDS 9 Suppl 1, 32-4.
- Schulz, T. F., Sheldon, J., and Greensill, J. (2002). Kaposi's sarcoma associated herpesvirus (KSHV) or human herpesvirus 8 (HHV8). Virus Res 82(1-2), 115-26.
- Schweinitz, A., Steinmetzer, T., Banke, I. J., Arlt, M. J., Sturzebecher, A., Schuster, O., Geissler, A., Giersiefen, H., Zeslawska, E., Jacob, U., Kruger, A., and Sturzebecher, J. (2004). Design of novel and selective inhibitors of urokinase-type plasminogen activator with improved pharmacokinetic properties for use as antimetastatic agents. J Biol Chem 279(32), 33613-22.

- Sharma-Walia, N., Naranatt, P. P., Krishnan, H. H., Zeng, L., and Chandran, B. (2004). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus/human herpesvirus 8 envelope glycoprotein gB induces the integrin-dependent focal adhesion kinase-Src-phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-rho GTPase signal pathways and cytoskeletal rearrangements. J Virol 78(8), 4207-23.
- Staudt, M. R., Kanan, Y., Jeong, J. H., Papin, J. F., Hines-Boykin, R., and Dittmer, D. P. (2004). The tumor microenvironment controls primary effusion lymphoma growth in vivo. Cancer Res 64(14), 4790-9.
- Villalobos, A., Ness, J. E., Gustafsson, C., Minshull, J., and Govindarajan, S. (2006). Gene Designer: a synthetic biology tool for constructing artificial DNA segments. BMC Bioinformatics 7, 285.
- Wang, F. Z., Akula, S. M., Sharma-Walia, N., Zeng, L., and Chandran, B. (2003). Human herpesvirus 8 envelope glycoprotein B mediates cell adhesion via its RGD sequence. J Virol 77(5), 3131-47.
- Whitman, A. G., Dyson, O. F., Lambert, P. J., Oxendine, T. L., Ford, P. W., and Akula, S. M. (2007). Changes occurring on the cell surface during KSHV reactivation. J Electron Microsc (Tokyo) 56(1), 27-36.
- Wu, W., Rochford, R., Toomey, L., Harrington, W., Jr., and Feuer, G. (2005). Inhibition of HHV-8/KSHV infected primary effusion lymphomas in NOD/SCID mice by azidothymidine and interferon-alpha. Leuk Res 29(5), 545-55.
- Zenger, E., Abbey, N. W., Weinstein, M. D., Kapp, L., Reis, J., Gofman, I., Millward, C., Gascon, R., Elbaggari, A., Herndier, B. G., and McGrath, M. S. (2002). Injection of human primary effusion lymphoma cells or associated macrophages into severe combined immunodeficient mice causes murine lymphomas. Cancer Res 62(19), 5536-42.
- Zhang, X., Wang, J. F., Chandran, B., Persaud, K., Pytowski, B., Fingeroth, J., and Groopman, J. E. (2005). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus activation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 3 alters endothelial function and enhances infection. J Biol Chem 280(28), 26216-24.

## **CHAPTER III**

# **CONLUDING REMARKS**

#### **FUTURE CHALLENGES**

KSHV gB is essential for virion egress in 293 cells (Krishnan et al., 2005). Interestingly, we found that the carboxyl terminus of KSHV gB is not essential for virion egress and infectivity (Subramanian et al., 2008). This work suggested that the intramembrane and/or extramembrane of gB may be important for virion egress. Interestingly, HSV-1 gB is known to interact with at least two other viral glycoproteins, gH and gD and these interactions are important for HSV-1 entry into cells and virus-induced cell fusion. Therefore, it is possible that gB interacts with other KSHV viral membrane proteins and glycoproteins that are important in virion egress. Determining the potential role of other KSHV viral glycoproteins and membrane proteins, as well as investigating potential interactions of gB with other viral proteins may shed more light into the regulation of virion egress from infected cells.

Kaposi's sarcoma is thought to be generated after KSHV infection of endothelial cells. Therefore, it is particularly important to investigate KSHV infection of endothelial cells. These studies are very difficult because KSHV does not efficiently infect endothelial cells. In contrast, BCBL-1 cells and other PEL cells produce large amounts of KSHV infectious virus and these cells can form tumors in immunocompromised mice. Using Matrigel to enhance tumor development, anti-gB siRNAs transfected BCBL-1 cells inhibited tumor development in nude mice in comparison to codon-optimized gB, empty vector transfected BCBL-1 cells or alone. This result revealed that KSHV gB is important in the development of tumors. BCBL-1 cells are latently infected and do not normally produce infectious KSHV unless they are stimulated by phorbol esters or other chemicals in cell culture. It is possible that a low level of KSHV-infected

BCBL-1 cells undergoes spontaneous lytic gene expression in vitro and in vivo, but this virus shedding a priori must not be required for tumor formation. Therefore, it was surprising to find that BCBL-1 tumors implanted in nude mice appeared to efficiently activate KSHV's lytic replication as evidenced by the expression of the lytic genes ORF59 and K8.1. Thus, it appears that some level of lytic replication may be important in tumor growth. Additional experiments are needed to clarify this issue.

In our study, we successfully developed a siRNA-induced conditionally silencing system. This system allowed us to investigate the role of the carboxyl terminal region of KSHV gB in virion egress and infectivity and the role of gB in tumorigenicity. However, transient transfection of siRNA in BCBL-1 and 293 cells in our previous studies provided only 10-15% transfection efficiency. Moreover, transient expression cannot be maintained in dividing progeny cells. Lentiviral RNAi mediated gene silencing system is one of the possible ways to promote transfection and transduction efficiency in vitro and in vivo. Therefore, the next logical step of this line of investigation is to produce gB-null BCBL-1 cells by permanent expression of anti-gB siRNAs. Establishment of these cells will be instrumental in dissecting the structure and function of KSHV gB in cell culture as well as in vivo animal model systems aimed at assessing potential functions of gB in virally-induced angiogenesis and tumorigenesis. Currently, we are working on the establishment of the lentiviral RNAi system in BCBL-1 cells (Appendix).

It is generally believed that tumor progression is highly dependent on angiogenesis. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is currently thought to be one of the most important angiogenic factors involved in inducing the degradation of the vessel basement membrane, which in turn allows cells to invade the surrounding matrix. It was shown that KSHV-infected cells secrete VEGF and induce in vitro angiogenesis. KSHV gB facilitates virus infection and transformation via its interaction with VEGFR-3 (Zhang, Groopman, and Wang, 2005; Zhang et al., 2005). KSHV infected B cells can attach to extracellular matrix proteins via gB and cellular integrin in the presence of Matrigel (Dyson et al., 2008). However, the pathways leading to the angiogenic factor secretion by PEL cells is not fully understood. A number of previous studies showed that different factors may be responsible for the VEGF induction and its angiogenic effect. vIL-6 was shown to promote stimulation of VEGF in vitro and in vivo (Aoki et al., 1999; Liu et al., 2001). Raf was indicated to regulate the expression of a variety of growth factors including VEGF (Hamden et al., 2005). KSHV K1 glycoprotein was also shown to up-regulate the expression by activating the VEGF promoter (Wang et al., 2004). Very recently, VEGF and b-FGF secreted by PEL cells were found in the ascetic fluid of NOD/SCID mice (Haddad et al., 2008). Interestingly, preliminary studies in our laboratory have shown decreased expression levels of VEGF molecules in BCBL-1 cells transfected with anti-gB siRNAs (Subramanian, personal communication). It would be important to determine the molecular basis of this phenomenon.

### SUMMARY

KSHV glycoprotein B (gB) is one of the most conserved herpesvirus glycoproteins. It is an essential virion component for members of alpha- and beta- herpesvirus subfamilies. Envelope-associated KSHV gB is important for viral attachment to cell-surface and virion entry via binding of the gB RGD to integrins. Previous studies have shown that KSHV gB is essential for virion egress from 293 cells. KSHV virus lacking gB was unable to egress from 293 cells. In contrast, virion egress was detected in cells containing exogenously provided gB.

I was fortunate to assist Dr. Ramesh Subramanian in delineating the role of the cytoplasmic terminus of gB in virion egress and infectivity. This work showed that the carboxyl

terminus of gB is not important for either virion infectivity or egress from BCBL-1 cells (Subramanian et al., 2008). I was able to show that BCBL-1 cells inhibited by anti-gB siRNAs were unable to develop continuously growing tumors in nude mice. This is an important result that has to be further investigated in the immediate future. It is highly probable that gB is directly involved in angiogenesis, since preliminary results in the laboratory appear to indicate that gB-inhibition down-regulates VGEF secretion from BCBL-1 cells (Subramanian, personal communication). This result has to be confirmed in vitro and in vivo by following specific markers for angiogenesis.

The production of BCBL-1 cells permanently transduced with siRNA cassettes through the use of the lentiviral vectors that have been already constructed will greatly facilitate future studies along the lines discussed above. It is also possible that multiple KSHV genes can be simultaneously silenced to determine the combined effect of multiple glycoproteins and other viral genes that may be involved in tumorigenicity. In this regard, the siRNA system may be proven to be a highly versatile system for the conditional silencing of multiple genes.

Similar work with the BCBL-1 cells can be also performed to study Kaposi's sarcoma (KS). In this line of investigation KSHV infection of microvascular endothelial cells can be used in conjunction with nude or SCID mice to address the role of gB and other viral genes in Kaposi's sarcoma induction.

#### REFERENCES

- Aoki, Y., Jaffe, E. S., Chang, Y., Jones, K., Teruya-Feldstein, J., Moore, P. S., and Tosato, G. (1999). Angiogenesis and hematopoiesis induced by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus-encoded interleukin-6. *Blood* 93(12), 4034-43.
- Dyson, O. F., Oxendine, T. L., Hamden, K. E., Ford, P. W., and Akula, S. M. (2008). Differential regulation of the attachment of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV)-infected human B cells to extracellular matrix by KSHV-encoded gB and cellular alphaV integrins. *Cell Microbiol*.

- Haddad, L., El Hajj, H., Abou-Merhi, R., Kfoury, Y., Mahieux, R., El-Sabban, M., and Bazarbachi, A. (2008). KSHV-transformed primary effusion lymphoma cells induce a VEGF-dependent angiogenesis and establish functional gap junctions with endothelial cells. *Leukemia* 22(4), 826-34.
- Hamden, K. E., Whitman, A. G., Ford, P. W., Shelton, J. G., McCubrey, J. A., and Akula, S. M. (2005). Raf and VEGF: emerging therapeutic targets in Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus infection and angiogenesis in hematopoietic and nonhematopoietic tumors. *Leukemia* 19(1), 18-26.
- Krishnan, H. H., Sharma-Walia, N., Zeng, L., Gao, S. J., and Chandran, B. (2005). Envelope glycoprotein gB of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus is essential for egress from infected cells. *J Virol* 79(17), 10952-67.
- Liu, C., Okruzhnov, Y., Li, H., and Nicholas, J. (2001). Human herpesvirus 8 (HHV-8)-encoded cytokines induce expression of and autocrine signaling by vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in HHV-8-infected primary-effusion lymphoma cell lines and mediate VEGF-independent antiapoptotic effects. *J Virol* 75(22), 10933-40.
- Luna, R. E., Zhou, F., Baghian, A., Chouljenko, V., Forghani, B., Gao, S. J., and Kousoulas, K. G. (2004). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus glycoprotein K8.1 is dispensable for virus entry. *J Virol* 78(12), 6389-98.
- Subramanian, R., D'Auvergne, O., Kong, H., and Kousoulas, K. G. (2008). The Cytoplasmic Terminus of Kaposi's Sarcoma Associated Herpesvirus Glycoprotein B (gB) is not Essential for Virion Egress and Infectivity. *J Virol*.
- Wang, L., Wakisaka, N., Tomlinson, C. C., DeWire, S. M., Krall, S., Pagano, J. S., and Damania,
  B. (2004). The Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV/HHV-8) K1 protein induces expression of angiogenic and invasion factors. *Cancer Res* 64(8), 2774-81.
- Zhang, X., Wang, J. F., Chandran, B., Persaud, K., Pytowski, B., Fingeroth, J., and Groopman, J. E. (2005). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus activation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 3 alters endothelial function and enhances infection. *J Biol Chem* 280(28), 26216-24.

## APPENDIX

# **GENERATION OF STABLE KSHV GB-NULL CELL LINES**

Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV) or the Human Herpesvirus-8 was first identified in 1994 (Chang et al., 1994). KSHV is a member of the gamma-2-herpesvirus family of Rhadinovirus (Neipel, Albrecht, and Fleckenstein, 1997; Russo et al., 1996). KSHV is etiologically associated with Kaposi's sarcoma, primary effusion or body cavity-based lymphoma and multicentric Castleman's disease (Antman and Chang, 2000; Ganem, 1998; Schulz, Sheldon, and Greensill, 2002). In 1996, the KSHV genome derived from the BC-1 cell line was fully sequenced (Moore et al., 1996).

KSHV encodes numerous glycoproteins during its lifecycle. Many of these viral glycoproteins are crucial for virus entry and cell-to-cell spread (Knipe and and Straus, 2001). Glycoprotein B (gB) is conserved among all herpesvirus and it is thought to directly function in virion attachment, the fusion of viral envelope with cellular membranes and virus-induced cell fusion during virus entry into permissive cells (Cai, Gu, and Person, 1988; Cranage et al., 1986; Pereira, 1994). Virus-induced cell fusion further allows for the spread of herpesvirus to neighboring cells (Baghian et al., 1993; Foster, Melancon, and Kousoulas, 2001). KSHV gB is a structural component of the virion and is thought to mediate virus attachment to cell integrins on cell surfaces via a gB RGD amino acid motif. One of the striking features of KSHV gB is that carboxyl terminal mutations can enhance virus-induced cell fusion (Baghian et al., 1993; Foster, Melancon, and Kousoulas, 2001; Pertel, 2002). Also, KSHV gB is involved in virion egress in 293T cells, since a gB-null virus was unable to egress from 293T cells, while complementation by exogenous gB restored virion egress (Krishnan et al., 2005). These observations suggest that KSHV gB is important for both virion egress and infectivity.

Mutagenesis of viral genomes has been extensively used to assess the structure and function of individual viral proteins. However, in the case of KSHV, recombinant viruses that carry deletions and other mutations are very difficult to construct largely due to difficulties associated with recovering substantial amounts of infectious virions after mutagenesis and transfection of viral DNA into susceptible cells.

The RNA interference (RNAi) pathway is active in mammals and RNAi has emerged as a highly efficient and powerful tool for investigating mammalian gene function. Compared to knockout genetics, RNAi-based silencing is rapid, cost effective, and can be easily adapted to study homologous gene function in a wide variety of organisms. RNAi depends on the formation of double-strand RNA (dsRNA), which has its antisense strand complementary to the transcript of a targeted gene. The dsRNA silences the targeted gene by either inducing a sequence-specific degradation of complementary mRNA, or by inhibiting translation (Mittal, 2004). Two distinct steps are involved (Hutvagner and Zamore, 2002b; McManus and Sharp, 2002). First, the enzyme Dicer cleaves long dsRNA into short interfering RNA (siRNA) molecules of 21-23 bp in length. Second, a multicomponent RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) uses siRNA to guide the sequence-specific cleavage of the RNA transcripts of the target gene. Gene silencing by this mechanism has been accomplished by transfection of chemically synthesized siRNA into host cells, by-passing the "dicing" step, to silence or knockdown gene expression (McManus and Sharp, 2002). Chemically synthesized 21-22 nucleotides (nt) siRNAs were shown to degrade mRNA via the RNAi mechanism evading the interferon response (Elbashir, Lendeckel, and Tuschl, 2001).

Effective gene silencing primarily depends on three factors: target sequence selection, optimal delivery of siRNA to cells and persistence of siRNA expression. Several recently

developed vector-based systems that contain stem-loop construct hairpin RNAs are able to induce intracellular generation of siRNA-like species (Brummelkamp, Bernards, and Agami, 2002; McCaffrey et al., 2002; Paddison, Caudy, and Hannon, 2002; Paul et al., 2002; Sui et al., 2002; Xia et al., 2002; Yu, DeRuiter, and Turner, 2002). Dicer cleavage of hairpin RNA can generate small dsRNAs that silence expression of target genes whose transcripts are complementary to one of the two strands of the hairpin RNA (Hutvagner and Zamore, 2002b). However, most vector-based hairpin expression systems can only transiently inhibit gene expression. Until recently, long-term knockdown of specific genes was achieved using retroviral vector constructs that express hairpin RNAs in cell cultures (Barton and Medzhitov, 2002; Brummelkamp, Bernards, and Agami, 2002; Devroe and Silver, 2002; Paddison and Hannon, 2002). The system for retrovirus delivery of RNAi-based gene silencing can also be adapted to use in lentiviral systems (Stewart et al., 2003b).

Lentiviruses have the unique ability among retroviruses of being able to infect nondividing cells and expand the usefulness of the RNAi-based gene silencing system (Gropp and Reubinoff, 2007; Harper and Gonzalez-Alegre, 2008; Klinghoffer et al., 2008; Ren et al., 2007; Sumimoto and Kawakami, 2007). As the particles are often pseudotyped with the envelope of the vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV), the vector can serve to introduce genes into a broad range of tissues and can be used *in vivo*. Furthermore, it has been demonstrated to be an excellent *in vivo* expression system achieving gene expression for several months without detectable pathology.

RNAi-mediated inhibition of KSHV gene expression has been previously utilized to ascertain the function of specific viral genes. siRNA-mediated silencing of KSHV K13 expression in PEL cell lines substantially inhibited NF- $\kappa$ B production and apoptosis (Godfrey et

al., 2005; Guasparri, Keller, and Cesarman, 2004). Recently, we utilized siRNA to conditionally knockdown the expression of KSHV glycoprotein B in 293T and BCBL-1 cells. KSHV gB was then rescued by codon-optimized gB DNA, which could not be inhibited by the siRNA due to its altered sequence. To achieve a stable and efficient siRNA-mediated knockdown of gB, we have used a lentivirus-based expression system. The overall goal of this line of experimentation is to develop a durable lentiviral–RNAi based system that can effectively and permanently inhibit KSHV gB expression in BCBL-1 cells at much higher levels that the ones achieved with transient expression of siRNAs. BCBL-1 cells incapable of expressing gB can then be used to delineate the functional domains of KSHV gB involved in virion egress, infectivity and tumorigenicity, by supplying in trans modified gBs that are not subject to siRNA inhibition.

## **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### **Cloning and Preparation of Lentiviral Vectors**

The construction of recombinant lentivirus expressing anti-gB siRNAs was accomplished by using the plenti6/V5-D-TOPO cloning system (Invitrogen). The pLenti6/V5-D-TOPO vector is designed for use with the ViraPower Lentiviral Expression System (Invitrogen). siRNAs were designed targeting the 5' region of KSHV gB expression sequence using the AMBION's online siRNA target finder. The siRNA 18 was located from the nucleotide 403 after the ATG codon, while siRNA22 located starting at 484 bases from the ATG codon. Two siRNAs were generated as follows: siRNA 18 sense strand (5'-CACCCAAGTATGAACTCCCGAGATTCAAGAGAT CTCGGGAGTTCATACTTGTT-3') and anti-sense strand (5'-AACAAGTATGAACTCCCAG ATCTCTTGAATCTCGGGAGTTCAAGAGATACCCCGTTGACATTTACCTT-3') and anti-sense strand (5'-AAGGTAAATGTCAAGAGATACCCCGTTGACATTTACCTT-3') and anti-sense strand (5'-AAGGTAAATGTCAACGGGGTATTCAACGGGGTATCTCTTGAATACCCCGTTGACATTTACCT3').

The siRNAs contained the sequence CACC at the 5' ends of sense strands respectively for cloning purposes. The siRNA 18 and siRNA 22 were denatured at 94 °C for 5 minutes and cooled down slowly to room temperature to allow annealing of the two strands. To produce lentiviral-siRNA expression clones, each annealed siRNA was TOPO-cloned into the pLenti6/V5-D-TOPO vector. After TOPO cloning, One Shot Stb13 chemically competent *E. coli* cells (Invitrogen) were transformed with DNA according to the manufacturer's protocol and spread on LB agar plate containing 100  $\mu$ g/ml ampicillin. All constructs containing siRNAs were verified by BamHI/XhoI restriction enzymes digestion and sequenced to confirm their structure.

## Transfection

The 293FT lentiviral packaging cell line was obtained from the ViraPower Lentiviral Expression Kit (Invitrogen). 293FT cell lines were cultured according to the manufacturer's instructions. 293FT cells were cultured in a six-well plate in 2ml of antibiotic-free DMEM/10% heat inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) medium. Transfection was done until 293FT cells replicated to 80% confluence. 293FT cells were transfected with 1µg pLenti6/V5-D-TOPO vector and 3µg ViraPower packaging mix (Invitrogen) using 12µl LipofectAMINE 2000 (Invitrogen) in 1ml OptiMEM transfection medium without serum (Invitrogen). After overnight, media was removed and 3ml of antibiotic-free DMEM/10% FBS was supplied. The 293FT cells were allowed to produce lentivirus for 72h post-infection. Media containing live lentivirus was harvested and spun-down to remove cell debris before storage at -80 °C.

#### **Infectivity of Lentiviruses in BCBL-1 Cells**

BCBL-1 cells were allowed to grow to 60% confluence in T75 flasks. Cells were spun-down and suspended in 0.5ml cell culture media per well of 12-well plate. Cells were infected with

0.5ml lentivirus and polybrene (hexadimethrine bromide) at a final concentration of  $8\mu g/ml$ . Cells were infected for 12h before replacement of another 1 ml cell culture media. BCBL-1 cells were incubated for 72h before the aspiration of cell culture media. To select stable cell line, blasticidin (Invitrogen) was used at a final concentration of 5-7.5 $\mu g/ml$ . Cells were cultured in the presence of blasticidin for 20 day to ensure stable cell line selection.

## REFERENCES

- Barton, G. M., and Medzhitov, R. (2002). Retroviral delivery of small interfering RNA into primary cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 99(23), 14943-5.
- Brummelkamp, T. R., Bernards, R., and Agami, R. (2002). A system for stable expression of short interfering RNAs in mammalian cells. *Science* 296(5567), 550-3.
- Devroe, E., and Silver, P. A. (2002). Retrovirus-delivered siRNA. BMC Biotechnol 2, 15.
- Godfrey, A., Anderson, J., Papanastasiou, A., Takeuchi, Y., and Boshoff, C. (2005). Inhibiting primary effusion lymphoma by lentiviral vectors encoding short hairpin RNA. *Blood* 105(6), 2510-8.
- Gropp, M., and Reubinoff, B. E. (2007). Lentiviral-RNA-interference system mediating homogenous and monitored level of gene silencing in human embryonic stem cells. *Cloning Stem Cells* 9(3), 339-45.
- Guasparri, I., Keller, S. A., and Cesarman, E. (2004). KSHV vFLIP is essential for the survival of infected lymphoma cells. *J Exp Med* 199(7), 993-1003.
- Harper, S. Q., and Gonzalez-Alegre, P. (2008). Lentivirus-mediated RNA interference in mammalian neurons. *Methods Mol Biol* 442, 95-112.
- Hutvagner, G., and Zamore, P. D. (2002). A microRNA in a multiple-turnover RNAi enzyme complex. *Science* 297(5589), 2056-60.
- Klinghoffer, R. A., Roberts, B., Annis, J., Frazier, J., Lewis, P., Linsley, P. S., and Cleary, M. A. (2008). An optimized lentivirus-mediated RNAi screen reveals kinase modulators of kinesin-5 inhibitor sensitivity. *Assay Drug Dev Technol* 6(1), 105-19.
- McCaffrey, A. P., Meuse, L., Pham, T. T., Conklin, D. S., Hannon, G. J., and Kay, M. A. (2002). RNA interference in adult mice. *Nature* 418(6893), 38-9.
- Paddison, P. J., Caudy, A. A., and Hannon, G. J. (2002). Stable suppression of gene expression by RNAi in mammalian cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 99(3), 1443-8.
- Paul, C. P., Good, P. D., Winer, I., and Engelke, D. R. (2002). Effective expression of small interfering RNA in human cells. *Nat Biotechnol* 20(5), 505-8.

- Ren, G., Li, T., Lan, J. Q., Wilz, A., Simon, R. P., and Boison, D. (2007). Lentiviral RNAiinduced downregulation of adenosine kinase in human mesenchymal stem cell grafts: a novel perspective for seizure control. *Exp Neurol* 208(1), 26-37.
- Stewart, G. S., Wang, B., Bignell, C. R., Taylor, A. M., and Elledge, S. J. (2003). MDC1 is a mediator of the mammalian DNA damage checkpoint. *Nature* 421(6926), 961-6.
- Sumimoto, H., and Kawakami, Y. (2007). Lentiviral vector-mediated RNAi and its use for cancer research. *Future Oncol* 3(6), 655-64.

Haixia Kong was born in January, 1982, to Youlan Wu and Ronggui Kong in Zhenjiang, China. Instantly, she and her three-year-old big sister became lifelong friends; her sister Haiyan Kong was born in 1979. In 2000, Haixia graduated with special veterinary-track honors from Dagang High School, and she participated in the Olympics of Chemistry. Haixia graduated from the College of Veterinary Medicine at Nanjing Agricultural University in 2004 earning many scholarships and honors. After graduation, Haixia was awarded a special honor to pursue advanced research in Preventive Veterinary Medicine at Zhejiang Unviersity for two years. In 2006, Haixia came to the United States and joined the laboratory of Dr. Kousoulas pursuing a Masters of Science (MS) degree working on the molecular biology of Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus glycoproteins. After graduation, Haixia will pursue her veterinary license to practice veterinary medicine in the USA. She hopes to broaden her understanding of veterinary medicine and molecular biology in an attempt to improve herself, her discipline and her community.